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MR. AGUILAR: Judge ,  w e  d o n ' t  have a  copy of 

y e s t e r d a y ' s  t r a n s c r i p t .  

THE COURT: N e i t h e r  do I .  

MR. TABAK: I have an e x t r a  one. 

THE COURT: W i l l  you g i v e  it t o  d e f e n s e  counse l .  

MR. TABAK: L i n e  9. 

Q (Cont inu ing)  " I  do n o t  have t h e  p r i v i l e g e  

o r  t h e  honor of b e i n g  Omar, and n e i t h e r  do I know who i s  

Omar. " 

So i s  it f a i r  t o  s ay  t h a t  you c o n s i d e r  t h a t  

whoever i s  Omar would b e  proud and honored about  b e i n g  

Omar, t h e  l e a d e r  o f  Omega 7? 

A Abso lu te ly .  

Q So i f  you w e r e  Omar, you would b e  proud t o  

admi t  t h a t , > w o u l d n 1 t  you? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I am going t o  o b j e c t  

t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT : I t  i s  argumentat ive .  Sus t a ined .  

Q Now, do  you a g r e e  w i t h  Omar t h a t  t h e  murder of 

F e l i x  Ga rc i a  was a  good t h i n g ?  

A I d o n ' t  know i f  Omega 7  i s  r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  t h a t  

execu t ion .  

Q Do you t h i n k  t h a t  execu t ion  was a  good t h i n g ?  

A I f  he  i s  a  Communist, a cco rd ing  t o  my way of 

t h i n k i n g ,  it is  r i g h t  t h a t  h e  was executed.  
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8 And t h a t  i s  t r u e ,  even though i g  was i n  t h e  

Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  and w e  have l aws  a g a i n s t  it i n  t h e  Uni ted  

S t a t e s ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I a m  g o i n g  t o  o b j e c t  

t o  t h a t .  

THE COURT: S u s t a i n e d .  I t  i s  a r g u m e n t a t i v e .  

Q M r .  Arocena,  d o  you t h i n k  t h a t  t h e  murder of 

J o s e  Negr in  was a  good t h i n g ?  

A M r .  Negr in  i s  under  t h e  same c i r c u m s t a n c e s .  

Up u n t i l  now, noobody knows who a s s a s s i n a t e d  him. The 

Government h a s  blamed t h e  g roup  of  Omega 7, b u t  a c c o r d i n g  

t o  t h e  c a s e  of Negr in ,  Negr in  i s  nowin Cuba, and  h e  i s  

honored by t h e  Cuban Government o f  F i d e l .  

Q And of c o u r s e ,  h i s  i n s t r u c t i o n s  were t h a t  h e  

wanted t o  b u r i e d  i n  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  and h i s  i n s t r u c -  

t i o n s  were o v e r r i d e n ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I w i l l  o b j e c t  a g a i n .  

THE COURT: W e l l ,  i n  view of t h e  answer I w i l l  

a s k  i f  t h e  w i t n e s s  knows t h a t .  

The r e p o r t e r  w i l l  r ead  t h e  q u e s t i o n ,  and t h e  

w i t n e s s  may answer i t ,  i f  h e  knows t h a t .  

The o b j e c t i o n  is o v e r r u l e d .  

( Q u e s t i o n  r e a d . )  

THE COURT: Do you know t h a t ?  

THE WITNESS: No. 
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Q You a r e  no t  aware t h a t  h i s  body was exhumed 

a f t e r  it was bu r i ed?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I o b j e c t .  He h a s  

answered t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: He i s  a sk ing  ano the r  one,  abou t  

t h e  knowledge of t h e  w i t n e s s .  

A I d o n ' t  know i f  h i s  body was exhumed. I do 

know t h a t  he  i s  honored i n  Cuba, t h a t  a  street was named 

a f t e r  him and he  i s  cons idered  a  mar ty r  of Cuba. 

Q There fo re  you t h i n k  it was a  good t h i n g  t h a t  

he was murdered i n  f r o n t  of a  13-year-old boy? 

MR. AGUILAR: I w i l l  o b j e c t  aga in .  

THE COURT: I t  i s  argumentat ive .  However, I 

t h i n k  t h e  q u e s t i o n  can be asked i n  a  manner t h a t  i s  no t  

o b j e c t i o n a b l e .  

Q Do you approve of t h e  way he  was murdered? 

A I d o n ' t  t h i n k  t h a t  i t  should  be  c a r r i e d  o u t  

t h a t  way, b u t  I do t h i n k  t h a t  i f  he was a  Communist he 

should  have been executed anyway. 

Q Is it your t es t imony t h a t  anybody t h a t  you 

t h i n k  i s  a  Communist should  be  muedered i n  t h e  United 

S t a t e s ?  

MR. AGUILAR: I am going t o  o b j e c t  t o  t h a t  

q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: Sus ta ined .  I t  is  argumentat ive .  
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Q Now, because  you swore t o  t e l l  t h e  t r u t h  h e r e ,  

you would t e l l  t h e  j u ry  i f  you were Omar, wouldn ' t  you? 

A Y e s .  

Q And you would be  proud; you would want you r  

f a m i l y  t o  h e a r  it i f  you were i n  f a c t  Omar, wouldn ' t  you? 

A Abso lu t e ly .  

Q But of c o u r s e  you a r e  n o t  Omar? 

A A s  I s t a t e d  b e f o r e ,  u n f o r t u n a t e l y  I am n o t  Omar. 

Q You have neve r  been Omar? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I w i l l  o b j e c t  a g a i n .  

The man answered t h e  q u e s t i o n  abou t  f o u r  t i m e s  a l r e a d y .  

THE COURT: No, i t  was asked i n  a  d i f f e r e n t  way. 

I w i l l  a l l o w  i t .  

A I have never  been Omar. 

Q When Agent Mawn t e s t i f i e d  under  o a t h  t h a t  

you s a i d  you w e r e  Omar, Agent Mawn i s  l y i n g ;  i s  t h a t  

r i g h t ?  

A H e  and a l l  t h e  o t h e r s ,  ye s .  

Q And Agent Menapace a l s o  l i e d  under  o a t h ;  

A Y e s .  

Q And Agent Lyons a l s o  l i e d  under o a t h ?  

A Y e s .  

Q And Agent Wack a l s o  l i e d  under o a t h ;  i s  t h a t  

c o r r e c t ?  
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A H e  more t h a n  anyone else. 

Q And D e t e c t i v e  Brandt  a l s o  l i e d  under  o a t h ;  

i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A 

Q 

c o r r e c t ?  

A 

Q 

A 

t h e  c a s e .  

Q 

A 

Q 

Y e s .  H e  i s  a  g r e a t  buddy of h i s .  

Agent Cannon a l s o  l i e d  under  o a t h ;  i s  t h a t  

Y e s ,  s i r .  

And Agent K i s z y n s k i  a l s o  l i e d  under  o a t h ?  

Y e s ,  s i r .  They a r e  a l l  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  c l o s i n g  

And Agent Walzer a l s o  l i e d  under  o a t h ?  

Y e s .  

And when M r .  Necuze t e s t i f i e d  under  o a t h  t h a t  

you were t h e  head of Omega 7 ,  he  was a l s o  l y i n g ;  i s  t h a t  

c o r r e c t ?  

A Y e s .  God knows what t h e y  have  done t o  him. 

Q And when J u s t o  Rodriguez t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  you 

were t h e  head of Omega 7 ,  he  was a l s o  l y i n g ;  i s  t h a t  

c o r r e c t ?  

A I have  n e v e r  s e e n  a  p e r s o n  i n  my whole l i f e  

a s  s c a r e d  a s  M r .  J u s t o  Rodriguez.  Y e s ,  h e  was l y i n g .  

Q And when Manny Fernandez  t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  you 

were t h e  head of Omega 7 ,  h e  was a l s o  l y i n g ;  i s  t h a t  

c o r r e c t ?  

A Y e s .  H e  more t h a n  anyone,  because  h e  had a 
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l o t  t o  g a i n  i n  t h i s  and ve ry  l i t t l e  t o  l o s e .  

Q What d i d  he  have t o  g a i n  o u t  of t e s t i f y i n g ?  

A H e  cou ld  g e t  o u t  f r e e  and n o t  pay f o r  a l l  

of t h e  crimes t h a t  h e  has  done i n v o l v i n g  d rugs  and a l l  

of t h e  r o t t e n  t h i n g s  h e  has  done, b u t  seems l i k e  it i s  

imposs ib l e  t o  b e l i e v e  t h a t  a  coun t ry  which p e r s e c u t e s  

peop l e  f o r  d rugs  would u se  such t y p e s  of i n d i v i d u a l s  and 

would make agreements w i th  such t y p e s  of i n d i v i d u a l s  

f o r  them t o  come i n  h e r e  and pu t  on such  a  f a r c e .  

I can  see t h a t  a s  f a r  a s  a  F e d e r a l  agen t  goes ,  

I can  see t h a t  a s  f a r  a s  J u s t o  Rodriguez o r  Necuze goes ,  

b u t  a  con fe s sed  c r i m i n a l ,  a  man who has  a  r eco rd  s o  long  

it  wou ldn ' t  even f i t  i n  h e r e ,  a  man who has  m i l l i o n s  

and m i l l i o n s  of d o l l a r s  s t a s h e d  away, an  i n d i v i d u a l  you 

y o u r s e l f  know t h e  connec t i ons  he h a s ,  and you d o n ' t  h e s i t a t e  

a t  a l l  i n  o r d e r  t o  c l o s e  t h i s  c a s e ,  n o t  on ly  a g a i n s t  

Eduardo Arocena, b u t  a l l  of  t h e  peop le  who a r e  i n  j a i l ,  

and t h a t  shou ld  make you s i c k .  I t  d o e s n ' t  make m e  s i c k ,  

because  t h e  only  t h i n g  you can do t o  m e  i s  t a k e  away my 

freedom. 

You a r e  t h e  ones  i n  t h e  long run  who a r e  

going t o  l o s e .  I am n o t  going t o  l o s e .  So you can  go 

on w i t h  t h i s  f a r c e .  

Q I n  0 t h e r  words, t h i s  t r i a l  is  a  f a r c e ?  

A Concerning t h e s e ,  yes .  With a l l  r e s p e c t  f o r  
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t h e  Judge and t h e  j u r y ,  what you have done f o r  t e n  y e a r s  

i n  o r d e r  t o  t r y  t o  cove r  up what you have n o t  been a b l e  

t o  do -- t h a t  i s  t h e  f a r c e  t h a t  e x i s t s  he re .  

Q Now, who from t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  Government 

f o r c e d  M r .  Fernandez becomeyour f r i e n d ?  

A Government agenc i e s .  

Q I see. And what Government agency caused  

you t o  l e t  M r .  Fernandez i n t o  your  house  t o  make t h o s e  

phone c a l l s  t h a t  day? 

A I had exp l a ined  c l e a r l y  how t h a t  happened, 

and t h e  r e c o r d  shows c l e a r l y  t h a t  it was on ly  one s i n g l e  

t e l e p h o n e  c a l l ,  and t h e  man used t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y ,  a p a r t  

from -- a s i d e  from my w i l l .  While I was conve r s ing  

w i t h  my w i f e  i n  t h e  room, w i t h o u t  my knowledge, he made 

t h e  phone c a l l ,  phone c a l l s  which l a t e r  on you took a 

ve ry  conven i en t  advantage o f ,  w i th  a series of  s i t u a t i o n s  

t h a t  happened l a t e r  . 
Gentlemen, you have had a l o t  of t i m e  t o  

p r e p a r e  a l l  t h i s .  You can s u r p r i s e  anybody e lse ,  b u t  

you can ' t s u r p r i s e  m e .  I know what your  game is.  

I know what t h e  whole purpose  of a l l  t h i s .  

Q Why d o n ' t  you t e l l  u s  what t h e  purpose  i s ?  

A The purpose of  a l l  of t h i s ?  To set Eduardo 

Arocena up a s  a c o r n e r s t o n e  and a s  a scapegoa t ,  t o  c a u s e  

t h e  d e s t r u c t i o n  of t h e  Cuban f i g h t e r s  i n  e x i l e .  Then 
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l i t t l e  by l i t t l e  knock t h e  heads o f f  of a l l  of t h o s e  who 

a r e  i n  e x i l e ,  t h e  way t h e y ' v e  been do ing  f o r  t h e  p a s t  

t e n  y e a r s ,  where o u r  b e s t  men a r e  now i n  p r i s o n ,  and 

because  you - %.----* need . t h a t  a l l  of  t h e  Cuban v" , f i g h t e r s  b e  

can g u a r a n t e e  t 
. , .  , 

r a n t  a  f r e e  

tes. 

Tha t  i s  t h e  p a c t  t h a t  you s i gned  w i t h  Cuba. 

Tha t  i s  what t h i s  game's a l l  abou t ,  t a  p u t  a l l  of t h o s e  

Cubans who want  freedom, t o  d e s t r o y  u s  i n  one way o r  

a n o t h e r ,  t o  a r r e s t  U S ,  t o  d e s t r o y  U S ,  no  m a t t e r  how, s o  

t h a t  you g u a r a n t e e  F i d e l  an  e n t r a n c e  i n t o  t h i s  coun t ry  

and t o  p r e p a r e  c o n d i t i o n s  f o r  go ing  back t o  a  d i a l o g u e  

w i t h  him and open f u t u r e  r e l a t i o n s  w i t h  F i d e l  Cas t ro .  
. . 

But remember t h a t  you a r e  d i g g i n g  you r  own 

grave .  

Q And who i s  l e a d i n g  t h i s  o p e r a t i o n ?  

P r e s i d e n t  Reagan? 

A You know v e r y  w e l l  t h a t  P r e s i d e n t  Reagan 

h a s  n o t h i n g  t o  do  w i t h  i t ,  t h a t  t h i s  coun t ry  d i v i d e d  

i n t o  two powerful  f o r c e s ,  c o n s e r v a t i v e  and t h e  l e f t ,  and 

u n f o r t u n a t e l y  t h e  l e f t  i s  t h e  one t h a t ' s  g o t  t h e  power- 

They a r e  c a l l e d  l i b e r a l s .  They j u s t  h i d e  behind t h a t  

name. They a r e  working f o r  t h e  d e s t r u c t i o n  of t h i s  

c o u n t r y ,  and t h e y  a r e  n o t  t h o s e  l i b e r a l s  t h a t  work 

d i f f e r e n t  s t r a t a .  They a r e  con fe s sed  Communists. They 
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a r e  simply working f o r  t h e  d e s t r u c t i o n  of t h e  United 

S t a t e s  and f o r  t h e  d e s t r u c t i o n  of t h e  f r e e  world ,  SO 

t h a t  communism w i l l  r e i g n  i n  t h e  world ,  and you know 

t h a t .  

And t h a t  i s  t h e  reason  w e  have always been 

t r y i n g  t o  f i n d  o u t  who you a r e ,  whether you a r e  Pro- 

Communist on t h e  l e f t  o r  whether you a r e  p ro-conserva t ive  

on t h e  r i g h t ,  i n  o t h e r  words, who i s  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  

p r e s e r v i n g  t h e  democracy i n  t h e  world and who a r e  f i g h t -  

i n g  a g a i n s t  it. 

So t h e r e  i s  a  l i n e  which i s  s e t  t h e r e ,  and 

everyone who r e a l i z e s  w i l l  r e a l i z e  who i s  on which s i d e .  

I d o n ' t  have t o  s i g n  myself .  Do you? 

Q Why d o n ' t  you t e l l  t h e  ju ry  who t h e  Communists 

a r e  who a r e  i n  charge  of o r d e r i n g  t h i s  o p e r a t i o n  a g a i n s t  

you? 

A Which o p e r a t i o n  a r e  you r e f e r r i n g  t o ?  

Q What you have j u s t  t e s t i f i e d  about .  

A I am n o t  au tho r i zed  t o  g i v e  such an e x a c t  

d e s c r i p t i o n ,  b u t  d o n ' t  ho ld  t h e  r e i n s  power t h i s  

coun t ry ,  and i f  you w e r e  t o  a s k  m e  t o  c i t e  names, you 

would b r i n g  F i d e l  C a s t r o  here .  You would b r i n g  t h e  

l e a d e r s  of t h e  S o v i e t  Union. You would b r i n g  h e r e  t h e  

l e a d e r s  of Nicaragua,  and you would b r i n g  t h e  Aya to l l a  

he re .  You would b r i n g  Kadafi  he re .  You would b r i n g  
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A r a f a t  h e r e .  

Those a r e  your  enemies ,  and t h e y  a r e  t h e  

enemies  of t h i s  c o u n t r y .  Those a r e  t h e  ones  who a r e  

p l o t t i n g  f o r  t h e  d e s t r u c t i o n  of t h i s  c o u n t r y  and of t h e  

f r e e  wor ld .  

Do you want any more names? I c a n n o t  go 

i n t o  naming i n t e r n a l  t h i n g s  of  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s .  

I d o n ' t  have  t h a t  a b i l i t y .  Nor do  I have t o  men t ion  

t h a t .  If i t  were l i k e  t h a t ,  I w o u l d n ' t  have  t o  be 

s i t t i n g  h e r e .  

Remember t h a t  I am v i c t i m  and t h a t  I d o  n o t  

speak  E n g l i s h  w e l l .  I d o n ' t  have  a  c e n t ,  and  I d o n ' t  

even have  a  p l a c e  t o  d r o p  dead.  

I have been s a c r i f i c i n g  my f a m i l y  f o r  twenty-  

f i v e  y e a r s  j u s t  f o r  b e i n g  s imply  and p l a i n l y  a l l i e d  t o  

t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s  and a l l i e d  t o  democracy and b e c a u s e  I 

swore t h a t  l o y a l t y  t o  t h e  s t r u g g l e  a g a i n s t  communism 

and t o  t h e  f reedeom of my c o u n t r y ,  which p r e c i s e l y  i s  

u n d e r  t h e  yoke of communism, and it h a s  been invaded  by 

t h e  S o v i e t  Union, t h e  same o n e s  t h a t  have i n v a d e d  

A f g h a n i s t a n ,  t h e  same t e r r o r i s t s  who blew up t h e  Korean 

a i r l i n e r ,  t h e  p a r t  of t h e  same g roup  o f  t e r r o r i s t s  who 

k i l l e d  y o u r  men i n  B e y r u t ,  t h e  same o n e s  who k i l l e d  t h e  

men i n  t h e  compound i n  B e y r u t ,  and t h e  same ones  who 

have  b e e n  k i l l i n g  y o u r  ambassadors  a l l  a round t h e  wor ld .  
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But  you d d o n ' t  p e r s e c u r e  t h e s e  p e o p l e ,  no, 

b e c a u s e  you a r e  a f r a i d  of them. You a r e  n o t  g o i n g  t o  

a s k  F i d e l  t o  r e n d e r  a c c o u n t s .  You a r e  n o t  go ing  t o  a s k  

t h e  S o v i e t  Union t o  r e n d e r  a c c o u n t s .  You a r e  g o i n g  t o  

a s k  Omega 7 ,  and you have  t h e  n e r v e  t o  go o u t  and f a l l  on 

them, no m a t t e r  where t h e y  a r e ,  and you have t h e  f o r c e  

of h i t t i n g  them, even when t h e y  have  been  t a k i n g  c a r e  of 

you ,  w i t h o u t  a s k i n g  you f o r  any h e l p  whatsoever .  A 1  1 

khey have  been d o i n g  i s  doing t h e i r  d u t y  and b e i n g  

c o n s i d e r e d  enemies o f  t h i s  c o u n t r y  and enemies of o u r  

c o u n t r y .  

And I want  you t o  know something,  and t h e y  

w i l l  go  on b e i n g  enemies and go on f i g h t i n g  no m a t t e r  

where t h e y  a r e ,  and w i t h o u t  my b e i n g  Omar, w i t h o u t  my b e i n g  

a member of Omega 7 ,  I can  g u a r a n t e e  you,  t h e y  w i l l  s t i l l  

go on hav ing  communism where it r e a l l y  h u r t s  them. 

N e i t h e r  you n o r  anyone c a n  a v o i d  t h a t ,  because  

t h e  s t r u g g l e  w i l l  c o n t i n u e .  I t  d o e s n ' t  m a t t e r  who f a l l s .  

The s t r u g g l e  w i l l  c o n t i n u e ,  and my c o u n t r y  w i l l  be free,  

b e c a u s e  w e  have  a n  agreement  -- t h e r e  a r e  n i n e  m i l l i o n  

b r o t h e r s  who a r e  i n  p r i s o n  i n  Cuba, s o  t h a t ,  a s  you can  

see, I am nobody. I n  o t h e r  words,  i f  you t h i n k  t h a t  f o r  

your  j u s t i f i c a t i o n  I am wor th  something,  f i n i s h  w i t h  t h i s ,  

b u t  I ' v e  g o t  a  c l e a r  consc ience .  I have f u l f i l l e d  my 

d u t y  up t o  t h i s  p o i n t .  I have done n o t h i n g  wich h u r t s  m e ,  
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a n d  my c o n s c i e n c e  i s  c l e a r .  I owe o n l y  t o  my c h i l d r e n .  

They a r e  t h e  o n l y  o n e s  t h a t  I have  s a c r i f i e d  and  my good 

w i f e ,  and  I h a v e  k e p t  h e r  t h r o u g h  a  v e r y  v i o l e n t  s i t u -  
m 

a t i o n  a p a r t  f rom a l l  t h i s ,  b u t  s h e  h a s  had  t o  u n d e r s t a ~ d  

t h a t  t h a t  i s  t h e  way t h i n g s  a r e ,  and  i f  I have  t o  g o  down 

I w i l l  g o  down. T h a t  i s  t h e  s a c r i f i c e  I have  t o  make, 

now and  a l w a y s  . 

(Con t inued  on t h e  n e x t  page .  ) 
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Q S i n c e  you have  n o  c o n n e c t i o n  w i t h  Omega 7 ,  

how a r e  you a b l e  t o  g u a r a n t e e  us  t h a t  Omega 7 i s  g o i n g  

t o  c o n t i n u e ?  

A Knowing a s  I d o  how t h e  s y s t e m  o f  c o m p a t r i o t s  

i n  e x i l e  f u n c t i o n s ,  knowing a h a t  t h e i r  i d e a s  and t h e i r  

i n t e r e s t e d a n d  t h e i r  i d e a l s  a r e ,  I am s u r e  t h a t  t h e y  w i l l  go 

o n  w i t h  t h e  s t r u g g l e ,  a t  any r a t e ,  t h e y  and a l l  o f  t h e  

o t h e r  g roups .  I am j u s t  o b s e r v i n g  t h e  s i t u a t i o n  t h a t  

e x i s t s  and you w i l l  b e  s u r p r i s e d  a t  what  i s  happen ing ,  

b e c a u s e  i n d e e d  t h e y ,  l i k e  a l l  o f  t h e  o t h e r s  o f  u s  t h a t  

a r e i n  Cuban e x i l e ,  w e  a r e  s u r p r i s e d  t h a t  under  Reagan's  

A d m i n i s t r a t i o n ,  w e  t h o u g h t  t h a t  t h e  l i n e  was g o i n g  t o  b e  

a  l i t t l e  b i t  more v i o l e n t  a g a i n s t  Communism. U n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  

i t  h a s  b e e n  j u s t  t h e  o p p o s i t e ,  and I am r e f e r r i n g  t o  t h e  

anti-Communist Cubans. Maybe i n  o t h e r  a s p e c t s  it is  

d i f f e r e n t ,  b u t  i n  t h i s  a s p e c t  w e  have  q u i t e  a  l o t  o f  

examples .  

U n f o r t u n h t e l y ,  it i s  t r u e .  Nothing i s  

f u r t h e r  from my mind t h a n  t o  a t t a c k  t h i s  a d m i n i s t r a t i o n ,  

which  I a d m i r e ,  b e c a u s e  I do admire P r e s i d e n t  Reagan. H e  

i s  a g r e a t  P r e s i d e n t .  U n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  h e  i s  a l o n e .  

Q S i n c e  you s a y  you have  no c o n n e c t i a . w i t h  

Omega 7 ,  c a n  you e x p l a i n  t o  t h e  j u r y  why t h e r e  have  b e e n  

n o  Omega 7 bombings s i n c e  you have  been a r r e s t e d ?  

MR. AGUILAR: O b j e c t i o n .  I move t o  s t r i k e  it 
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and move f o r  a  m i s t r i a l ,  your Honor. 

THE COURT: Overruled.  Do you know whether  

o r  n o t  t h e r e  have been  any i n c i d e n t s  c r e d i t e d  t o  Omega 7 ,  

such as bombings, s i n c e  you were a r r e s t e d ?  

A W e l l ,  l e t  m e  e x p l a i n  something t o  you. 

S i n c e  I have been  i n  p r i s o n ,  i n  t h e  h o l e ,  I do n o t  have any 

a c c e s s  t o  t h e  o u t s i d e .  One o f  t h e  punishments t o  which 

I am submi t t ed  i s  t h a t  o f  n o t  hav ing  a c c e s s  t o  t h e  p r e s s .  

I a m  ve ry  l i m i t e d  i n  t h a t  a s p e c t .  I have hea rd  rumors t h a t  

t h e r e  have been t h i n g s  on t h e  o u t s i d e ,  b u t  I a m  n o t  s u r e  

abou t  it. 

A s  I s a i d  b e f o r e  -- b u t  I a m  s u r e  t h e  groups 

are o b s e r v i n g  what is  happening,  and I d o n ' t  blame them. 

I d o n ' t  blame Omega 7 o r  any o f  t h e  o t h e r  c l a n d e s t i n e  

g roups ,  because  w i t h  t h e  tac t ics  o f  d i v i s i o n  which t h e  

Uni ted  S t a t e s  i s  deve lop ing ,  it h a s  been terr ible ,  t h e  

d i v i s i o n  which i s  c r e a t e d  on the o u t s i d e ,  and I am s u r e  

t h a t  each  group i s  ana lyz ing  t h e  s e c u r i t y  of i t s  members 

and l ook ing  i n t o  t h e  t r u t h  of what e x i s t s  and l ook ing  t o  

see what k i n d  o f  a r o l e  t h i s  Admin i s t r a t i on  i s  going t o  

t a k e  . 
Q You j u s t  t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  your  access t o  the 

p r e s s  h a s  been limited. 

A Y e s  ,sir. 

Q I s n ' t  it a fact  t h a t  a t  your  r e q u e s t  you have 
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beeninkerviewed by numerous TV s t a t i o n s  and newspapers 

w h i l e  you have been i n  p r i s o n ?  

A I t  has  been l i m i t e d  i n  t h i s  a s p e c t ,  t h a t  

t h e y  have come t o  ask  m e ,  and one must remember t h a t  

i t  was only  on one occas ion ,  and they  came t o  a sk  

q u e s t i o n s ,  n o t  t o  g i v e  ! m e  i n fo rma t ion .  On t h e  c o n t r a r y ,  

some of them w e r e  s e n t  by t h e  government and many of  

t h o s e  s ta tementswere  d i s t o r t e d ,  accord ing  t o  what  I 

h e a r d ,  a c c o r d i n g ~ t t o  what was t o l d  t o  m e  l a te r  on.  

Then t h e r e  s t i l l  exists t h e  f a c t  t h a t  I do n o t  

have any a c c e s s  t o  t h e  o u t s i d e ,  s o  much s o  t h a t  t h e  

Admin i s t r a t i on  d o e s n ' t  even a l low m e  t o  r e c e i v e  newspapers 

and when my fami ly  h a s  s e n t  books t o  m e ,  t h e  Adminis t ra t ion  

h a s  h e l d  them back f o r  more than  two months from m e ,  

and I have c o p i e s  o f  where t h e r e  i s  an o r d e r  a t  t h e  MCC 

where a l l  o f  my m a i l  i s  b e i n g  s u p e r v i s e d ,  it i s  b e i n g  

checked and i t  i s  b e i n g  analyzed.  

Once t h a t  happens,  a f t e r  a r a t h e r  l ong  p e r i o d  

o f  t i m e  h a s  pas sed ,  i f  t hey  c o n s i d e r  t h a t  it i s  a l l  r i g h t ,  

t l ~ e y q a s s  - - it i n  t o  me. 
- - - - - -  - - - - - -  - - - - - -  - - - - - -  - - - - 

My w i f e  i s  h e r e  and she  h a s  s e n t  me  a  group of  

magazines,  s h e  s e n t  m e  T i m e ,  Newsweek, a l o t  o f  magazines 

and newspapers from Miami. I never  r ece ived  any of them. 

My mother i s  h e r e ,  s h e  s e n t  t h e  same t h i n g  t o  me and I 

have nebe r  r ece ived  them. 
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The o n l y  t h i n g  I have  r e c e i v e d  have  been  

c l i p s  from newspapers  and t h r e e - f o u r t h s  o f  them are 

u n f a v o r a b l e  t o  m e ,  b u t  I have  l e t  my f a m i l y  know t h a t  

a n y t h i n g  t h a t  comes o u t  a b o u t  m e  r e g a r d i n g  my case, I wan t  

them t o  s e n d  t o  m e ,  b e c a u s e  I need it i n  o r d e r  t o  

a n a l y z e  i t ,  t o  know what  t he  s i t u a t i o n  is  on t h e  o u t s i d e  

r e g a r d i n g  m e ,  s i n c e  a t  t h e  p r e s e n t  t i m e  I am away from 

e v e r y t h i n g .  

The o t h e r  day h e r e  t h e y  d e c i d e d  t h e y  were 

g o i n g  t o  f i x  t h e  t e l e p h o n e  and t o  t h i s  ve ry  day I a m  s t i l l  

n o t  able t o  t a l k  on t h e  phone. Why a r e  w e  go ing  t o  go 

i n t o  t h a t ?  

Q M r .  Arocena,  i n  what  l anguage  d i d  you speak 

t o  Agent Wack? 

A A t  t h a t  t i m e ,  i n  my poor  E n g l i s h .  

Q That  o f  c o u r s e  i s  y o u r  v o i c e  on a l l  t h e  t a p e s  

t h a t  were p l a y e d  t o  t h e  j u r y ,  w i t h  M r .  Wack, i s  t h a t  

r i g h t ?  

A Those t a p e s  have  been  tampered w i t h  by t h e  

government.  

Q I n  which p a r t  o f  t h o s e  t a p e s  are you 

a c t u a l l y  t a l k i n g  t o  M r .  Wack? 

A L e t  m e  t e l l  you t h a t  I have  o n l y  h e a r d  t h o s e  

tapes o n  two o c c a s i o n s ,  b e c a u s e  when I w a s  a t  t h e  MCC, 

I demanded t h a t  t h e  government t u r n  my p a p e r s  o v e r  t o  m e  

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS. US.  COURTHOUSE 
FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



2283 

rmjah 5 Arocena-cross  

and f o r  them t o  t u r n  o v e r  t h e  t a p e s  o f  mine t h a t  

were mine,  and I h a d  t o  a p p e a l  t o  t h e  judge s o  t h a t  t h e y  

would b e  handed o v e r  t o  m e .  A f t e r  a l o t  o f  t r o u b l e ,  t h e y  

f i n a l l y  t u r n e d  them o v e r  t o  m e ,  b u t  i t  had t o  b e  under  

a c o n s e n t ,  t h e y  would g i v e  m e  a c e r t a i n  amount o f  t a p e s  

and t h e n  I had  t o  r e t u r n  them immedia te ly .  

I n  a few words ,  I d i d n ' t  have  t i m e  t o  

check them. When t h e y  t u r n e d  o v e r  t h e s e  famous i n t e r v i e w  

t a p e s  t o  m e ,  I was a b l e  t o  h e a r  them jlust one t i m e  and 

t h e  l a d y  t h a t  was i n  cha rge  o f  t h a t  was immedia te ly  a s k i n g  

m e  t o  g i v e  them back t o  h e r .  I t  i s  a l s o  good t o  remember 

t h a t  a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  a f t e r  h a v i n g  been i n  j a i l  f o r  t e n  

months,  t h e  government b r o u g h t  m e  e v e r y t h i n g ,  o r  a t  

l e a s t  p a r t  of  i t ,  a n  enormous amount, a b o u t  t h i s  s i z e  

( i n d i c a t i n g )  -- 
MR. TABAK: May t h e  r e c o r d  r e f l e d t i  t h a t  h e  

i n d i c a t e d  a b o u t  f o u r  f e e t  o f f  t h e  ground? 

THE COURT: Y e s .  

A ( -Cont inuing)  And two months b e f o r e  t h e  

t r i a l ,  w i t h  t h e  good i n t e n t i o n  o f  f i l l i n g  my h e a d ,  

s o  t h a t  I would spend 2 4  h o u r s  a day j u s t  s o a k i n g  up a l l  

t h a t  m a t e r i a l  -- i n  o t h e r  words ,  t h e y  wanted t o  d r i v e  me  

c r a z y ,  which i s  what  t h e y  have been  d o i n g  a l l  t h i s  t i m e .  

Q I s n ' t  i t  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  t h o s e  c o n v e r s a t i o n s  . 

o c c u r r e d  e x a c t l y  a s  t h e y  were p l a y e d  t o  this j u r y ?  
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A No, s i r ,  and I deny t h o s e  c o n v e r s a t i o n s .  

Which p a r t s  o f  t h o s e  c o n v e r s a t i o n s  o c c u r r e d  

a s  t h e y  were p l a y e d  t o  t h e  j u r y ?  

A I don ' t know, b e c a u s e  many o f  t h e  

c o n v e r s a t i o n s  I had  w i t h  M r .  Wack a r e  miss ing .  I d o n ' t  

remember h e a r i n g  on t h e  t a p e  when I a s k e d  him why h e  was 

s o  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  p e r s e c u t i n g  anti-Communists and why 

h e  w a s n ' t  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  t h e  Communist t e r r o r i s t s  i n  t h e  

U n i t e d  S t a t e s ,  n o r  a b o u t  p e o p l e  who-were.  n e g o t i a t i n g  -wi th  

d r u g s  from Cuba, and t h e y  have q u i t e  a b i t  o f  

knowledge a b o u t  t h a t .  

None o f  t h a t  a p p e a r s  t h e r e ,  n o r  does  t h e r e  

a p p e a r  t h e r e  when I t o l d  M r . / J  ack a b o u t  s t o p p i n g  
# 

b o t h e r i n g  my f a m i l y  and f o r  him t o  s t o p  b o t h e r i n g  m e  and 

t o  s t o p  g o i n g  t o  v i s i t  my f r i e n d s  t o  t r y  t o  g e t  m e  t o  

g i v e  myself  t e l l i n g  them t h a t  I was c o o p e r a t i n g  

w i t h  t h e  government ,  which was n o t  t r u e .  3 u t  t h a t  was 

p a r t  o f  t h e i r  game, t h a t  and many o t h e r  t h i n g s  which e s c a p e  

my mind a t  t h i s  moment. 

THE COURT: M r .  Arocena,  i s  the v o i c e  t h a t  

you h e a r d  on the t a p e s  o f  t h e  man who was t a l k i n g  w i t h  

Agent Wack y o u r  v o i c e ?  

THE WITNESS : Your Honor, a t  t i m e s  i t  seems 

l i k e  my v o i c e .  I canno t  a s s u r e  you. I t  seems t o  b e  my 

v o i c e ,  b u t  I c a n n o t  be s u r e .  
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Q I s n ' t  it t h e  f a c t  t h a t  you t o l d  Agent Wack 

a b o u t  Manny Fernandez? 

A I t h i n k  t h a t  M r .  Wack l e a r n e d  from Manny 

Fernandez and n o t  from Eduardo Arocena -- h e  knows t h a t  

h e  l e a r n e d  from M r .  Fernandez through o t h e r  a g e n t s  

from Miami -- 
Q I s n ' t  it t h e  f a c t  t h a t  -- 

MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t  t o  t h i s  t o n e  o f  vo i ce  

he  i s  u s i n g  r i g h t  now. 

THE COURT: Counsel ,  p l e a s e  b e  s e a t e d .  

L e t  m e  s u g g e s t ,  M r .  Tabak, you s t a r t  your  

q u e s t i o n s  a g a i n  i n  a normal t o n e  o f  vo i ce .  

Q I s n ' t  it t h e  f a c t  t h a t  you spoke w i t h  

Agent Wack about  Manny Fernandez? 

THE COURT: Y e s  o r  no. 

A I n  p a r t ,  y e s .  

Q And t h e  t a p e s  t h a t  w e r e  p layed  t o  t h e  j u r y  

w e r e  an  a c c u r a t e  r ep roduc t i on  o f  your  d i s c u s s i o n  w i t h  

M r .  Wack, w e r e n ' t  t hey?  

Q What w a s  i n a c c u r a t e  about  them? 

A I would have t o  h e a r  them aga in .  

Q What do you remember t e l l i n g  Agent Wack abou t  

Manny Fernandez? 
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A S i r ,  I migh t  have a ve ry  f r e s h  memory i f  I 

had  n o t  been submi t t ed  t o  t h e  abuse which you have h e l d  

m e  under  f o r  t h e  l a s t  1 4  months. Don ' t  f o r g e t ,  under  
-----*---. *, .. --a*" - . 

My mind i s  b e i n g  d e s t r o y e d .  They a r e  t r y i n g  t o  e r a s e  from m~ 
. *%?.," / C 1 I * 

many t h i n g s ,  because  you d o n ' t  want  m e  t o  t e l l  t h i n g s  h e r e  

t h e  way t h e y  a r e .  I have t r i e d  t o  go a l o n g  w i t h  t h i n g s  

t h e  way t h e y  a r e .  Unfor tuna te ly . ,  I do n o t  remember e x a c t l y  

c e r t a i n  t h i n g s ,  and I t h i n k  t h a t  you a r e  even t a p i n g  

a l l  o f  t h e  c o n v e r s a t i o n s  t h a t  I have w i t h  my f ami ly  a t  t h e  

MCC, and you know when my daugh t e r  s a y s  t o  m e ,  "What d i d  

you e a t ,  daddy?" and I had j u s t  e a t e n  two moments ago ,  

I d o n ' t  remember what  I a t e .  

You know what  you a r e  do ing  w i t h  m e .  Don ' t  

ask  m e ,  t h e n ,  t o  t r y  t o  remember t h i n g s ,  because  I don ' t 

know e x a c t l y .  I remember what  I see, b u t  you know 

ve ry  w e l l  what  you a r e  do ing  w i t h  m e .  

Q Now, you remember -- 
A .  Look f o r  t h e  t a p e s  y o u r s e l f .  I d o n ' t  have 

t o  l i e  t o  you. I d o n ' t  c a r e  what you do t o  m e .  I am 

f i n i s h e d .  You c a n ' t  make m e  do anythingmore.  

Q You remember ve ry  c l e a r l y  e v e n t s  t h a t  happened 

20 y e a r s  ago i n  Cuba, c o r r e c t ?  

A I t h i n k  t h a t  you h a e o b s e r v e d  t h i n g s  c l e a r l y  

and you w i l l  n o t i c e  many h e s i t a t i o n s  i n  my c o n v e r s a t i o n s .  
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U n f o r t u n a t e l y ,  my memory i s  f a i l i n g  m e  a l o t .  And I 

am q u i t e  young f o r  my memory t o  b e  f a i l i n g  m e .  There  are 

v e r y  exact t h i n g s  t h a t  sometimes remain i n  t h e  mind. 

It i s  a s i m p l e  s t a t e ,  w i t h o u t  h a v i n g  t o  go i n t o  it v e r y  

d e e p l y ,  b u t  i f  you go i n t o  d e t a i l s  o f  o t h e r  s i t u a t i o n s ,  

s o m e t i ~ n e s  i t  i s  more d i f f i c u l t  . 
Q M r .  Arocena ,  d u r i n g  t h e  14 months t h a t  you 

h a v e  been  up , h e r e  i n  New York , a p p r o x i m a t e l y  how many 

t i m e s  have  you been  b r o u g h t  b e f o r e  one  o r  a n o t h e r  f e d e r a l  

judge  h e r e ?  

A The same judge  o r  d i f f e r e n t  judges?  

Q A l t o g e t h e r ,  a l l  t h e  judges .  

A I t h i n k  t h r e e  o r  f o u r  judges .  

Q How many t i m e s  a l t o g e t h e r  have  you a p p e a r e d  

b e f o r e  a f e d e r a l  judge i n  New York i n  t h e  l a s t  y e a r ?  

THE C0URT:Up t o  t h e  b e g i n n i n g  o f  h i s  t r i a l ?  

MR. TABAK: Y e s .  

A W e l l ,  when t h e y  b r o u g h t  me  from Miami up  

h e r e  i n  o r d e r  t o  t a k e  m e  t o  O t i s v i l l e ,  when t h e  b a i l ,  

when I h a d  t h e  o t h e r  judge ,  who w a s  b e f o r e  Judge  Ward. 

I don '  t remember e x a c t l y .  

Q And ym-have  a p p e a r e d  b e f o r e  Judge  Ward on 

numerous o c c a s i o n s  b e f o r e  t h e  t r i a l  s t a r t d d ,  x o r r e c t ?  

A I t h i n k  t h a t  w a s  when t h e  b a i l  -- 
THE COURT : No. H e  a sked  you i f  you have  
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appeared b e f o r e  m e  on many occas ions  b e f o r e  t h e  beg inn ing  

o f  t h e  t r i a l ,  f o r  b a i l ,  t o  t a l k  w i th  your  l awyers ,  a l l  

t h o s e  t h i n g s .  

A Y e s ,  I have spoken t o  your  Honor be£ o r e .  

Q And you have come t o  t h e  c o u r t  b e f o r e  one 

judge o r  a n o t h e r  on many occas ions  b e f o r e  t h i s  t r i a l  

s t a r t e d ,  c o r r e c t ?  

A Y e s ,  p r e v i o u s l y  I have.  

Q And you have complained abou t  t h i n g s  l i k e  t h e  

phone b e i n g  o u t  of  o r d e r  f o r  you t o  make c a l l s  from t h e  

j a i l ?  

A L e t  m e  s a y  something t o  you -- 

Q I would j u s t  ask  you t o  answer yes  o r  no  t o  

t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: You have t o  answer h i s  q u e s t i o n .  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

MR. AGUILAR: I t h i n k  h e  should  be a l lowed 

t o  f i n i s h ,  i f  he  h a s  n o t  f i n i s h e d ,  your  Honor. 

THE COURT: H e  asked i f  M r .  Arocena had complain1 

abou t  t h e  phone b e i n g  o u t  of  o r d e r ,  and he  d i d ,  r i g h t ?  

MR. AGUILAR: But maybe t h a t  was n o t  h i s  on ly  

compla in t s  be£ o r e  the.::cowtrt. 

THE COURT: But h e  d idn '  t ask t h a t .  I f  you 

want  t o ,  o r  M r .  Fernandez,  on r e d i r e c t ,  you may. 

MR. AGUILAR: Thank you, your  Honor. 
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Q Would you . m e x p l a i n  why d u r i n g  a l l  t h e s e  

s e s s i o n s  you n e v e r  complained b e f o r e  t o d a y  t h a t  you were - -*--*--"--"-""-. * . % .  . ". 

b e i n g  drugged? 
.- .-- - -*.. * ". 

A I n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e ,  t h e  o n l y  judge t h a t  I have  

complained t o  a b o u t  my c o n d i t i o n  and t h e  o n l y  judge t o  

whom I b r o u g h t  a l l  my problems,  i s  Judge Ward. H e  h a s  

b e e n  t h e  o n l y  one t h a t  I have  t o  t h a n k ,  because  h e  s i g n e d  

a n  o r d e r  s o  t h a t  t h e y  would p e r m i t  m e  t o  see"my . f a m i l y  and 

s o  t h a t  I c o u l d  speak t o  my lawyer ,  b e c a u s e  you w e l l  know 

t h a t  when I was i n  O t i s v i l l e ,  you gave t h e  o r d e r  s o  t h a t  

I would b e  a b l e  t o  speak  t o  my f a m i l y  o n l y  once a month, 

and t w i c e  a month w i t h  my l a w y e r ,  d e s i g n e d  by you. 

I was d e p r i v e d  o f  a l l  t h a t  and you know t h a t  

up t h e r e  I was s u b m i t t e d  t o  t h i s  d rug  t r e a t m e n t  and you 

know t h a t  I was s t u c k  i n  a h o l e  up t h e r e  and you know 

t h a t  you had m e  incommunicado up t h e r e  and you know .. tha t  

you w e r e  m a n i p u l a t i n g  my s i t u a t i o n  on t h e  o u t s i d e  and t h a t  

you a r e  s e e i n g  everybody,  making everybody b e l i e v e  t h a t  

I was c o o p e r a t i n g ,  making them b e l i e v e  t h a t  I was one o f -  

y o u r s  s o  t h a t  you c o u l d  g e t  c o n f e s s i o n s  o u t  o f  o t h e r  

companions, and t h a t  i s  t h e  r e a s o n  you never  a l lowed  t h e  

p r e s s  t o  go up t h e r e  and v i s i t  m e  and you know t h a t  t h e r e  

w e r e  many t i m e s  t h a t  I asked  t o  see t h e  p r e s s  s o  t h a t  I 

would b e  a b l e  t o  speak t o  them, t o  t e l l  them a b o u t  a l l  

t h e  abuse  you were commit t ing  a g a i n s t  m e  and a l l  t h e  

SOUTiIERN DISTRICT REPORTERS. U.S. COURTHOUSE 

FOLEY SQUARE. N E W  YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



rmjah 12 Arocena-cross 2290 

v i o l a t i o n s  you were do ing  a g a i n s t  m e ,  and why I had 

t o  w a i t  f o r  f i v e  monkhs b e f o r e  I w a s  even charged and 

why you were s u b m i t t i n g  my fami ly  t o  t h e  abuses  you w e r e  

s u b m i t t i n g  them t o ,  t h a t  I was dep r ived  o f  their v i s i t  and 

e v e r y  t i m e  t h a t  t h e y  went t o  v i s i t  m e ,  you k e p t  them w a i t i n g  

two o r  t h r e e  hou r s  j u s t  because  you wanted t o ,  where you 

p u t  them th rough  about  20 d i f f e r e n t  abuses .  

$hen I came from t h e  p r i s o n  t o  t h e  o u t s i d e  

and it was c o l d  and it was snowing, t h e y  would t a k e  m e  

o u t  w i t h  handcu f f s  on ,  w i t h o u t  a c o a t  and w i t h  t e n n i s  

s h o e s ,  w h i l e  t h e  o f f i c i a l s  w e r e  wear ing  t h e i r  b o o t s  and 

t h e i r  heavy j a c k e t s  and t h e i r  good g loves .  

I never  complained. Why? d e c a u s e  one o f  them 

s a i d ,  "You are tough ,  you r e a l l y  d o n ' t  have t o  complain."  

I s a i d ,  ''I am n o t  complaining,"  and I j u s t  b i t  down and 

I k e p t  on going,  because  I know you wanted t o  b r eak  m e  and 

I was r e a l l y  g i v i n g  it t o  you and you know a l l  o f :  t h e  

t h i n g s  you d i d  t o  m e  i n  this i n s t i t u t i o n ,  where a l l  o f  

t h e s e  rumors s t a r t e d  go ing  around t h a t  I was coope ra t i ng  

w i t h  you,  where t h e y  p u t  t h e  name ''John Smith" on m e ,  

when t h e y  p u t  it on t h e  door  and where t h e y  looked f o r  

gua rds  t o  s t a r t  p o i n t i n g  t h e i r  f i n g e r  a t  m e ,  and whenever 

t h e y  moved m e  t h e y  had t o  h i d e  everybody,  b u t  always 

someone saw t h i n g s .  You always made it s o  t h a t  somebody 

was always t h e r e  t o  see m e  s o  t h a t  they  would s a y ,  "There 
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goes t h e  s n i t c h .  H e ' s  t h e  r a t .  H e ' s  t h e  one t h a t  i s  

t e s t i f y : i n g , ' "  s o  t h a t  I would be  a f r a i d .  But you made a 

m i s t a k e ,  because  I cha l l enge  you. I am a man and I am 

n o t  a f r a i d  of  any man and i f  I d i d n ' t  show it then, .  Iam 

showing it now, y e s ,  s ir .  I b rough t  a l l  t h o s e  problems 

h e r e ,  b u t  no one e v e r  l i s t e n e d  t o  m e .  You were always 

t r y i n g  t o  keep t h i n g s  hidden.  You, M r .  District  At to rney ,  

have a g r e a t  d e a l  o f  power and you have used t h a t  g r e a t  

power o f  you r s ,  You even went t o  see f r i e n d s  of mine -- 
n o t  you p e r s o n a l l y ,  b u t  you s e n t  your  people  and you sowed 

f e a r  among my people  and you sowed t e r r o r  among my family  

because  you wanted t o  f i n i s h  t h i s  c a s e ,  because  t h a t  i s  

your  c a r e e r ,  a s  i t  is  t h e  c a r e e r  o f  a  l o t  of  o t h e r s ,  

and i t  i s  t h e  j u s t i f i c a t i o n  f o r  your s a l a r y ,  and t h e i r  

s a l a r y  a s  w e l l ,  and indeed ,  remember t h e  day they  went 

t h e r e  t o  p r e s e n t  t h e  b a i l ,  t h e  f i r s t  day t h a t  Lyons came i n  

t o  t e s t i f y ,  and when you t o l d  m e  e i t h e r  I t e s t i f i e d  i n  

f a v o r  o f  you o r  you were going t o  pub l i sh  openly t h a t  I 

had he lped  you,  t h a t  I would appear  a s  a government 

w i t n e s s ,  tha t  I had t a l k e d  t o  t h e  government, t h a t -  I had 

s g u e a l e d o n  everybody.  - - - - - -  E i t h e r  I cooperated w i t h  you 
- - - - -  - - - - - - - - - -  

- - - - -  

o r  you were going t o  pub l i sh  i t ,  a l l  o f  it, and I t o l d  

you through Walpin, who was my lawyer a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  t o  

g o  ahead,  t h a t  I was ready t o  h e a r  eve ry th ing ,  t h a t  I 

was n o t  a f r a i d ,  and on the fo l lowing  occas ion ,  Walpin 
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c a l l e d  m e  a t  t h e  j a i l  and h e  s a i d  t h a t  h e  had a  message 

from you and t h a t  i t  was t h e  l a s t  message you w e r e  g o i n g  
- .. .-, - 

t o  g i v e  m e  and my l a s t  chance  and t h a t  if I d i d n ' t  c o o p e r a t e  

w i t h  t h e  government ,  t h a t  you were g o i n g  t o  t a k e  o f f  t h i s  
-. . .""* I* I I, 

h a l o  o f  r e v o l u t i o n a r y  t h a t  I h a d ,  and I t o l d  him t o  t a k e  

t h a t  h a l o  and you c o u l d  ( i n d i c a t i n g )  . 
Q You made a  g e s t u r e  w i t h  y o u r  hand i n s t e a d  

o f  f i n i s h i n g  t h e  answer ,  i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A For  you t o  shove it  wherever  it migh t  fit. 

THE COURT: W e  w i l l  t a k e  o u r  luncheon recess 

a t  t h i s  t i m e ,  l a d i e s  and gentlemen.  

P l e a s e  do n o t  d i s c u s s  t h e  case among y o u r s e l v e s  

and c o n t i n u e  t o  keep  an open mind. 

I would a s k  t h e  a u d i e n c e  p l e a s e  n o t  t o  d i s c u s s  

t h e  c a s e  i n  t h e  c o r r i d o r ,  s i n c e  t h e  j u r o r s  w i l l  b e  l e a v i n g  

f o r  l u n c h .  Enjoy y o u r  lunch .  One h o u r ,  2 : 15. 

CLuncheon r e c e s s )  
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( I n  t h e  absence of t h e  j u r y : )  

THE COURT: W e  a r e  a w i t i n g  t h e  a r r i v a l  of one 

a d d i t i o n a l  j u r o r .  

During t h e  c o u r s e  of  t h e  c ross -examina t ion  

t h e r e  was a  q u e s t i o n  asked by M r .  Tabak and a  motion f o r  

a  m i s t r i a l  was made by M r .  Agui la r .  

The q u e s t i o n  was never  answered,  inasmuch a s  

t h e  Cour t  deemed t h e  q u e s t i o n  improper and posed a  

d i f f e r e n t  q u e s t i o n ,  which t hen  r e s u l t e d  i n  a  response  

by M r .  Arocena. 

Is t h e r e  any th ing  t h a t  counse l  wishes  t o  n o t e  

a t  t h i s  t i m e  w i t h  r ega rd  t o  t h a t  m a t t e r ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, t h e  o n l y  t h i n g  I 

would a s k  i s  t h a t  M r .  Tabak should  r e f r a i n  from i n t r o d u c i n g  

t h i n g s  t h a t  have n o t  come up,  and t o  a s k ,  w e l l ,  t h e r e  have 

been no bombings i n  N e w  York C i t y  s i n c e  you have been i n  

j a i l  -- it i s  h i g h l y  p r e j u d i c i a l  and t e n d s  t o  c r e a t e  t h e  

impress ion  t h a t  because  t h i s  man i s  i n  j a i l  Omega 7 ha s  

s topped  opesc4 ing.  

THE COURT: L e t  m e  p u t  it t o  you t h i s  way: 

The q u e s t i o n  was r ep l aced  by ano the r  q u e s t i o n ,  

which r e s u l t e d  i n  an  answer t h a t  t h e  w i t n e s s  d i d n ' t  have 
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a c c e s s  t o  t h e  media,  and he  d i d n '  t know a b o u t  t h e  m a t t e r .  

So t h e r e  i s n ' t  any th ing  i n  t h e  r eco rd  which i s  p r e j u d i c i a l ,  

s i n c e  a  q u e s t i o n  which i s  n o t  t h e r e a f t e r  answered does  

n o t  c o n s t i t u t e  ev idence .  

I f  you wish ,  I w i l l  t e l l  t h a t  t o  t h e  ju ry .  

MR. AGUILAR: Y e s ,  your Honor. W e  would 

a p p r e c i a t e  it i f  he would do t h a t .  

THE COURT: M r .  Tabak, i f  you wish t o  respond 

t o  M r .  A g u i l a r ' s  s t a t e m e n t ,  t h a t  your q u e s t i o n  d i d  n o t  

have any suppo r t  i n  t h i s  c a s e ,  you may do so .  

MR. TABAK: Your Honor, I am no t  aware of any 

r u l e  which s a y s  t h a t  i f  t h e r e  i s  a  good- fa i th  b a s i s  f o r  a  

q u e s t i o n ,  t h e  m a t t e r  ha s  t o  be  a l r e a d y  i n  ev idence .  

My r e c o l l e c t i o n  i s  t h a t  M r .  Necuze t e s t i f i e d  

t h a t  Omega 7  was d e s t r o y e d ,  and M r .  Rodriguez t e s t i f i e d  

t h a t  t h e  l a s t  Omega 7  a c t i o n  was i n  January  of 1973, ' 

s h o r t l y  b e f o r e  he c a l l e d  up Agent Wack and t o l d  him h e  

had done it. 

However, having heard  t h e  C o u r t ' s  v iews on t h e  

s u b j e c t ,  I w i l l  n o t  e x p l o r e  t h a t  a r e a  any f u r t h e r .  

THE COURT: When t h e  jury  comes i n ,  I w i l l  

i n s t r u c t  them b r i e f l y  t h a t  q u e s t i o n s  t h a t  are n o t  answered 

do n o t  c o n s t i t u t e  i n  themselves  evidence.  

( J u r y  p r e s e n t .  ) 

THE COURT: Good a f t e r n o o n ,  l a d i e s  and gentlemen 
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L a d i e s  and gent lemen,  j u s t  o n  matter t h a t  I 

want t o  ment ion  t o  you i n  t h e  f o r  of an i n s t r u c t i o n .  

From t i m e  t o  t i m e  d u r i n g  t h e  t r i a l  q u e s t i o n s  

a r e  a s k e d  and no answer i s  g iven .  I t  may b e  t h a t  t h e  

q u e s t i o n  i s  n o t  pursued  o r  t h e r e  is  no answer o r  t h e r e  i s  

a n  o b j e c t i o n  which i s  s u s t a i n e d .  

1 would i n s t r u c t  you t h a t  you are n o t  t o  draw 

any i n f e r e n c e  from an  unanswered q u e s t i o n .  J u s t  p u t  it 

o u t  of y o u r  mind and c o n c e n t r a t e  o n t  h e  q u e s t i o n s  which 

a r e  a s k e d  t o  which t h e r e  i s  no o b j e c t i o n  o r  t h e  o b j e c t i o n  

i s  o v e r r u l e d  and t h e  q u e s t i o n  is responded t o .  

W e  w i l l  now resume w i t h  t h e  c ross -examina t ion  

of  M r .  Arocena.  

E D U A R D O  V I C T O R  A R O C E N A  P E R E Z ,  

resumed. 

CROSS EXAMINATION (Cont inu ing)  

BY MR. TABAK: 

Q M r .  Arocena,  i s  i t  a f a c t  t h a t  t h e  r e a s o n  you 

n e v e r  b e f o r e  t o d a y  mentioned t o  t h e  Judge  a b o u t  b e i n g  

drugged o r  k idnaped i s  t h a t  you j u s t  made it up? 

t h a t  your  phone was n o t  working;  r i g h t ?  

A I a l s o  communicated t h e  f a c t  of a l l  t h e  problems 
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t h a t  I had i n  f o l l o w i n g  t h e  r eco rd .  

Q But t h e  f a c t  t h a t  you were drugged was n o t  

s u f f i c i e n t l y  impor t an t  t o  r a i s e  w i t h  t h e  Cour t?  

A I t  a lways  was impor t an t  f o r  m e ,  because  it 

h a s  a f f e c t e d  my l i f e .  I t  a f f e c t e d  e v e r y t h i n g  around 

m e ,  and e s p e c i a l l y  i t  a f f e c t e d  my c a s e .  

Q But t h e  f a c t  i s  t h a t  u n t i l  today you never  

mentioned it t o  any Judge i n  New York; i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A No one h a s  e v e r  g iven  m e  t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y  t o  

l i s t e n  t o  m e  u n t i l  today.  

Q Judge Ward never  asked  you i f  you had any o t h e r  

comp la in t s  t o  make abou t  your  t r e a t m e n t ?  

A On t h e  c o n t r a r y .  Judge Ward ha s  a lways  been 

v e r y  concerned abou t  my c o n d i t i o n s ,  and he i s  a w i t n e s s  

t o  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  I have b rought  h e r e  a  series of  problems 

and compla in t s ,  and,  a s  I e a i d  b e f o r e ,  h e  took  i t  i n t o  

h i s  own hands t o  r e s o l v e  t h e  f a c t  of g i v i n g  an o r d e r  s o  

t h a t  I cou ld  speak  t o  my lawyers ,  and t h a t  f i n a l l y  my 

c o n d i t i o n s  improved. 

Unfo r tuna t e ly ,  one t h i n g  i s  h e r e  and a n o t h e r  

t h i n g  i s  t h e r e ,  where you c o n t r o l  t h i n g s .  

I f  you want t o  go on l i s t e n i n g  upon t h a t  m a t t e r ,  

f i n e  w i t h  m e *  

Q I t  i s  c o r r e c t ,  however, t h a t  you have never  

mentioned t o  Judge  Ward t h a t  you have been drugged i n  
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p r i s o n ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I o b j e c t .  The 

q u e s t i o n  h a s  been asked  t h r e e  t imes .  

THE COURT: I t  has  been asked.  I am n o t  s u r e  

i t  has  been answered. 

Read t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

( Q u e s t i o n  r e a d . )  

A I f  I remember c o r r e c t l y ,  when I was f i r s t  

a r r e s t e d ,  when I was t r a n s f e r r e d  t o  New York, my lawyer ,  

D r .  C a r n e s o l t a ,  when s h e  came h e r e  t o  N e w  York t o  see m e ,  

s h e  n o t i c e d  t h e  s t a t e  o r  t h e  c o n d i t i o n  i n  which I was, and 

s h e  p u t  o u t  a  s t a t e m e n t  r e g a r d i n g  t h e  c o n d i t i o n  I was i n .  

She d i d  it p u b l i c l y ,  and she  gave proof of i t ,  and my 

lawyer  h a s  a  t a p e  r e g a r d i n g  t h a t .  Do you want t o  h e a r  i t ?  

Q I would p r e f e r  t h a t  you answer t h e  q u e s t i o n  I 

a sked ,  which is :  

Did you e v e r  inform Judge Ward t h a t  you have 

been drugged a t  t h e  MCC? 

A I t  is  p robab l e  t h a t  I t o l d  t h e  Judge b e f o r e  

a b o u t  t h e  c o n d i t i o n s  i n  which I found myse l f ,  c o n d i t i o n s  

a b o u t  which I was n o t  e x a c t l y  aware of  what t h e y  were 

do ing  t o  m e ,  c o n d i t i o n s  which it was d i f f i c u l t  f o r  m e  t o  

r e a l i z e  what t h e y  were do ing  u n t i l  I Eea l i z ed  what t h e  

t ac t i cs  were and I t r i e d  t o  avo id  i t  t h e  b e s t  I cou ld .  

Tha t  is t h e  r ea son  I a m  h e r e ,  because  I have  
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s een  t h o s e  t h a t  you have d r i v e n  c r a z y ,  t h a t  you have 

d e s t r o y e d ,  and I m e t  them a t  ~ t i s v i l l e ,  and I saw them 

h e r e  i n  t h e  MCC a  few weeks ago,  where t hey  were com- 

p l e t e l y  o u t  of  t h e i r  minds,  and t hey  were even under  

t r e a t m e n t  a s  though t hey  were c r azy .  

You know t h a t  t h o s e  a r e  t h e  t a c t i c s  t h a t  you 

u s e  i n  p r i s o n  when you want t o  h u r t  a  pe r son ,  when you 

want t o  b r eak  a  pe rson .  I t  i s  t r u e  t h a t  I complained on 

d i f f e r e n t  o c c a s i o n s  abou t  my s i t u a t i o n ,  b u t  s i n c e  s o  many 

v i o l a t i o n s  were p i l i n g  up one on t h e  o t h e r  I imagine t h a t  

t h e y  were j u s t  n o t  n o t i c e d .  

Of c o u r s e ,  you have t r i e d  t o  avo id  o r  you 

have avo ided  t h a t  e v e r y t h i n g  might  be known h e r e  p u b l i c l y .  

Remember, you a r e  t h e  one t h a t  had t h e  c o n t r o l  over  m e .  

You a r e  t h e  one t h a t  gave t h e  o r d e r s ,  no one else,  s o  

what a r e  you complain ing abou t?  

Q M r .  Arocena, b e f o r e  today  d i d  you e v e r  t e l l  

Judge  Ward t h a t  you were be ing  drugged by t h e  Government? 

A I don ' t  remember. 

- - - - a - - - I s n ' t  - - - - i t  - - a - - f a c t  - - you remember v e r y  w e l l  t h a t  
- - - - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - 

you neve r  d i d  t e l l  him b e f o r e  today?  

A I would have t o  look i n  t h e  r e c o r d  t o  see. 

Q I s n ' t  i t  a  f a c t  t h a t  t h e  on ly  r ea son  you are 

g i v i n g  t h i s  s t o r y  i s  t h a t  you want t o  make it imposs ib l e  

f o r  you t o  e v e r  be a  Government w i t n e s s  a g a i n s t  anybody 
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e l s e ?  

A I n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e ,  I d o n ' t  have t o  make up 

any s t o r i e s .  You t r y  t o  do i t  f o r  m e .  1 h a v e n ' t  

i n v e n t e d  any th ing .  You know t h a t  i s  t r u e .  

You a re  t h e  t h e  ones  t h a t ' s  t r y i n g  t o  s a v e  

y o u r s e l f ,  n o t  I .  

Q Now, s i r ,  you have t e s t i f i e d  you have been 

h e l d  i n  a  h o l e .  W i l l  you t e l l  t h e  j q ry  how deep t h a t  

h o l e  i s ?  

A The h o l e  i s  t h e  name f o r  t h e  c e l l  i n  which I 

was h e l d .  I t  i s  a b o u t  e i g h t  o r  t e n  f e e t  l ong ,  abou t  

t h r e e  -- f i v e  f e e t  wide ,  w i t h  b a r s ,  and t h e  window which 

l o o k s  o u t  i n t o  a  d a r k  a r e a ,  and I am locked  i n . t h e r e  

twen ty - t h r ee  hours  a  day. Many t i m e s  I am i n  t h e r e  

twenty-four  hou r s  a  day. 

When I was i n  O t i s v i l l e ,  t hey  would t a k e  m e  

o u t  o r  t r y  t o  t a k e  m e  o u t  once a  day when it was snowing, 

and t h e y  would a s k  m e  i f  I wanted t o  go o u t s i d e .  I f  it 

was r a i n i n g ,  t h e y  would a s k  m e  i f  I wanted t o  go o u t s i d e .  

When t h e  t empe ra tu r e  was t o o  low, below ze ro ,  and I d i d n ' t  

have  a  c o a t  o r  shoes  and t h e y  t o l d  m e  t h a t  I cou ld  have 

my r e c r e a t i o n  o u t s i d e ,  and I asked  them i f  t h e y  wanted 

m e  t o  g e t  s i c k .  They s a i d  no. And i f  I r e f u s e d ,  t h a t  

I perhaps  wouldn ' t  g e t  o u t  of  t h e  h o l e .  

The h o l e  i s  a p l a c e  from which you canno t  g e t  
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o u t  when you want t o .  You depend on t h e  guards .  

I f  you need any th ing  from them you have t o  k i c k  on t h e  

door  f o r  a l ong  t i m e  s o  t h a t  t h e y  w i l l  come and a t t e n d  

t o  you. I n  my c a s e ,  no one e v e r  came, and when t h e y  

d i d  come t h e y  d i d n ' t  pay any a t t e n t i o n  t o  m e ,  and f o r  t h a t  

r e a son  I was a f o r g o t t e n  p r i s o n e r .  

Would you l i k e  t o  know something more abou t  

t h e  i n t e r n a l  c o n d i t i o n s ?  
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Q W e l l ,  when you s a y  nobody came, i n  o t h e r  words 

you were s t a r v e d ,  you were n e v e r  g i v e n  any m e a l s ,  i s  t h a t  

c o r r e c t ?  

A Now t h a t  you a r e  s p e a k i n g  a b o u t  s t a r v i n g  m e ,  

y e s ,  t h e y  a r e  k i l l i n g  m e .  A t  t h a t  t i m e 1  w i t h  my medica l  . .  " . . 

p a p e r s  i n  t h e  c l i n i c ,  t h e  o n e s  t h a t  you g i v e  o u t ,  you knew - -  . *.,"I . . 

a b o u t  my c o n d i t i o n  r e g a r d i n g  d i a b e t e s ,  and my s u g a r .  - 

I t  was a  s l i g h t  c a s e ,  b u t  you n e v e r  took t h a t  i n t o  

c o n s i d e r a t i o n  and t h e y  k e p t  on g i v i n g  m e  t h e  food from 
," 

t h e r e ,  w i t h  a  l o t  o f  s u g a r  and a l o t  o f  f a t ,  and t h e y  

n e v e r  took  i n t o  c o n s i d e r a t i o n  check ing  m e  o u t .  - %. 

I was t h e r e  a b o u t  a  y e a r ,  a l m o s t  11 months -- 

e x c u s e  m e ,  1 3  months, I mean -- s o  t h a t  t h e y  would remove 

a t o o t h ,  t h a t  I g o t  p u l l e d  r e c e n t l y .  From t h e  moment I 

a r r i v e d  a t  O t i s v i  l l e  , t h e  same t h i n g  happened w i t h  

my e y e  examina t ion .  I have  b e e n  f o r  an  examina t ion  f o r  

7 o r  8 months.  

Going back t o  t h e  d i e t  which w e  were supposed 

t o  g e t ,  t h e y  n e v e r  d i d  any k i n d  o f  b l o o d  exams onl  ;me 

u n t i l  I came h e r e  t o  the c o u r t  and began t o  s t a r t  

compla in ing ,  and  I made a compla in t  o v e r  t h e r e  and one o f  

t h e  d o c t o r s  beaame i n t e r e s t e d  i n  my c a s e  and when I 

s t a r t e d  t o  f a i n t  i n  t h e i r  p r e s e n c e ,  t h e n  t h e y  g o t  s c a r e d ,  

you g o t  s c a r e d ,  b e c a u s e  you were a f r a i d  I w a s  g o i n g  t o  d i e  

a n d  t h e n  you d i d n ' t  have  anybody t o  blame f o r  a l l  t h i s  
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and a l l  of  your  c a s e  w a s  j u s t  going t o  f a l l  down. 

What happened then?  They s t a r t e d  g i v i n g  m e  

a d i e t ,  a d i e t  t h a t  i s  n o t  even worth t a l k i n g  abou t ,  

because  t h e  f a c t  i s  t h a t  r a t h e r  t h a n  b r i n g i t  down, i t  

s t a r t e d  t o  g o  up, and I have always been a h e a l t h y  

t y p e  person ,  never  had any t y p e  of  v i c e s ,  I have never  

smoked o r  d rank ,  I have never  t aken  drugs .  I have always 

had very  s t r o n g  h e a l t h  and my c l i n i c a l  r eco rd  i s  a t  

my job and I always had p e r f e c t  h e a l t h  and never  had 

any medical  problem. 

What happened? Thank t o  you, my h e a l t h  i s  

n o t  worth two c e n t s .  Not long ago I had problems w i t h  

b lood  p r e s s u r e  and I d o n ' t  know how i t  i s .  The problem 

w i t h  hhe s u g a r ,  I dont  t even know how t h a t  is. Have 

you e v e r  bo the red  t o  do  any k i n d  of  a n a l y s i s  on me? 

Every day they  ask  m e ,  "How are you?" And I 

s a y ,  "I am f i n e .  When are you going t o  do t h e  tests on 

me?" They s a y ,  "One of t h e s e  days  w e  w i l l  do them."" 

You a r e  v e r y ,  v e r y  w o r r i e d  about  my h e a l t h .  I am s t i l l  

. . -Wal&lng, - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
- - - - - -  - - - - -  

Q Your answer is  y e s ,  youhave g o t t e n  t h r e e  meals 

a day. and you r  medical  s i t u a t i o n  h a s  been  looked a f t e r  t o  

some e x t e n t  by one o f  t h e  d o c t o r s  i n  t h e  j a i l ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Objec t ion .  That  is  n o t  h i s  

answer. 
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THE COURT: H e  can  a s y  it i s  n o t  h i s  answer ,  

if it i s n ' t  h i s  answer.  I w i l l  a l l o w  t h e  questicbn. 

A I f  you c a l l  t h a t  r e c e i v i n g  m e d i c a l  a t t e n t i o n  

and  r e c e i v i n g  f o o d ,  w e l l  t h e n  I r e c e i v e d  it. 

Q You t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  you were subpoenaed 

t o  t h e  g rand  j u r y  i n  September ,  1982 and you t e s t i f i e d  

t h a t  you were t h e r e b y  f o r c e d  t o  go  t o  t h e  g r a n d  j u r y .  

Now, o f  c o u r s e ,  you remember t h a t  you were n o t  

f o r c e d  t o  answer any q u e s t i o n s ,  c o r r e c t ?  

A rJ e l l ,  I had t o  answer t h e  q u e s t i o n s  t h a t  t h e y  

a s k e d  m e .  

Q I s n ' t  i t  a f a c t ,  s i r ,  t h a t  a s  the t e s t i m o n y  

i n  t h e  g r a n d  j u r y  was r e a d  i n  t h i s  t r i a 1 , t h a t  you were 

f u l l y  a d v i s e d  o f  y o u r  F i f t h  Ameridment r i g h t s  t o  r e f u s e  

t o  answer  q u e s t i o n s  and t o  s t o p  answer ing  a t  any t i m e ,  i f  

you wished  t o ?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q So,  i n  o t h e r  words ,  you were n o t  f o r c e d  t o  

answer  any q u e s t i o n s  i n  t h e  grand j u r y ?  

A N o ,  I j u s t  answered t h e  q u e s t i o n s  t h a t  you 

a s k e d  m e .  

Q And you knew v e r y  w e l l  t h a t  Pedro  Remon and t h e  

. o t h e r  p e o p l e  were a l l  t a k i n g  t h e  F i f t h  Amendment and 

r e f u s i n g  t o  answer q u e s t i o n s ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I w i l l  o b j e c t  t o  t h a t  
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q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT : I f  you know. 

A I d i d n ' t  know a n y t h i n g  a b o u t  t h a t .  

Q I s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  

i n  advance ,  and  w i t h  Ramon Sanchez i n  p a r t i c u l a r ?  
----.---.--.-"A- - * -l.( "X,I1 ,"".. " .- - P M . x - . - - m ? .  

A They wanted  t o  know what  I was g o i n g  t o  do. 
' . .  

Q And i n  f a c t  t h e y  t o l d  y o u t h a t  - . - -  w e . .  t h e y  were a l l  

g o i n g  t o  t a k e  t h e  F i f t h ,  d i d n ' t  t h e y ?  - 
.- ... - 

MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t  t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  a l l o w  t h e  answer.  

O v e r r u l e d .  

A 

Q 

you decided 

A 

Q 

I d o n ' t  remember t h a t .  

But o f  c o u r s e  you h a d  n o t h i n g  t o  h i d e ,  s o  

t o  answer  t h e  q u e s t i o n s ?  

Y e s .  

And you t o o k  a s i m i l a r  o a t h  t h e r e  t o  t h e  one 

t h a t  you have  t a k e n  h e r e  t o d a y ?  

A Y e s  ,sir .  

Q And y a w e r e  a d v i s e d  s e v e r a l  t i m e s  i n  t h e  

g r a n d  j u r y  o f  t h e  consequences  t h a t  were p o s s i b l e  i f  

you d i d  n o t  answer t r u t h f u l l y ?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q S i r ,  if t e l l i n g  a f a l s e h o o d  would h e l p  t h e  

a n t i - C a s t r o  c a u s e ,  would a p e r s o n  be m o r a l l y  j u s t i f i e d  i n  

t e l l i n g  a f a l s e h o o d ?  
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MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I am go ing  t o  

o b j e c t  a s  t o  -- 
THE COURT: S u s t a i n e d ,  a b o u t  a  p e r s o n ,  a t  

l e a s t .  You may wish  t o  r e p h r a s e  i t  t o  make i t  more 

d i r e c t .  

Q M r .  Arocena, i f  you f e l t  t h a t  by t e l l i n g  a  

f a l s e h o o d  t h a t  you cou ld  h e l p  t h e  a n t i - C r a t r o  c a u s e ,  would 

you f e e l  mora l l y  j u s t i f i e d  i n  t e l l i n g  t h e  f a l s ehood?  

A I would always t e l l  t h e  t r u t h .  

Q Even i f  i t  would h u r t  t h e  a n t i - C a s t r o  cause?  

A Y e s .  

Q So t h e r e f o r e  you t o l d  t h e  whole t r u t h  i n  t h e  

g rand  j u ry  ? 

A What I cons ide r ed  a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  yes .  

Q J u s t  as you a r e  t e l l i n g  t h e  whole t r u t h  h e r e  

t oday  and y e s t e r d a y ?  

A Y e s ,  sir.  Yes, s ir .  

Q You t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  when you were 

asked  i n  t h e  g rand  j u r y  w i t h  A l e j and ro  Medina t h a t  you 

d i d  not f u l l y  _unders tand _ _ _ t h e  _ _ q u e s t i o n ,  _ _ you a l s o  s a i d  
- - - - - - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

- _ _ _ 

t h a t  you r e a l i z e d  a t  luncht ime t h a t  you might  have  g iven  

an  i n c o r r e c t  answer b u t  t h a t  you had no  o p p o r t u n i t y  t o  

c o r r e c t  you r  t e s t imony  when you r e t u r n e d  t o  t h e  grand 

j u r y  a f t e r  lunch .  Is t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A Y e s ,  sir. 
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Q I am go ing  t o  r e a d  t o  you l i n e s  15 and 1 6  from 

t h e  morning s e s s i o n s  o f  t h e  grand j u r y ,  page 4 1  o f  

E x h i b i t  10-A, Government 's E x h i b i t  10-A: 

It Q Have you e v e r  used t h e  name 'A. Medina' ? 

"A NO. I' 

fl o u l d  you t e l l  t h e  j u r y  what  was con fus ing  

abou t  t h a t  q u e s t i o n ?  

A A t  t h a t  t ime?  

Q Yes. 

A I t r i e d  t o  p r o t e c t  t h e  i d e n t i t y  o f  t h e  

document . 
Q So,  t h e r e f o r e l s i n c e  you f e l t  t h a t  t e l l i n g  

t h e  t r u t h  would h u r t  t h e  a n t i - C a s t r o  c a u s e ,  you d i d n ' t  

t e l l  t h e  t r u t h ?  

A On t h e  c o n t r a r y ,  what  I d i d  n o t  want t o  do 

was t o  h u r t  t h e  American Government. That  was t h e  r ea son  

why you d i d  n o t  a l low me t o  r e c t i f y .  Perhaps i f  you had 

l i s t e n e d  t o  m e ,  you wou ldn ' t  have gone on w i t h  t h e  

q u e s t i o n s  and you would have l e a r n e d  what Ale jandro  Medina 

wanted t o  s a y  and t h e  meaning o f  t h i s  p a r t i c u l a r  

document. 

Q SO you d i d  n o t  t e l l  t h e  t r u t h  that day and you 

knew you were n o t  t e l l i n g  t h e  t r u t h ,  c o r r e c t ?  

A You p r a c t i c a l l y  co rne r ed  m e  w i t h  that 

q u e s t i o n ,  and when I t r i e d  t o  go back t o  it, you rcu t  m e  o f f  
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r i g h t  away and you k e p t  on go ing ,  as i f  t o  s a y ,  "Now 

w e  go t  you,"  and I s i n c e r e l y  d i d n ' t  t h i n k  t h a t  I would 

have t h a t  k ind  of problem. 

Q And of  cou r se  a f t e r  lunah  you d i d n ' t  have a 

chance t o  c o r r e c t  your  answer? 

A No. W e  a r e  speak ing  about  a f t e r  lunch .  

Q I j u s t  r e ad  you t h e  q u e s t i o n  b e f o r e  lunch .  

A N O ,  b u t  when t h e  q u e s t i o n  w a s  asked of  m e  

b e f o r e  l unch ,  I d i d  n o t  r e a l i z e  t h e  dep th  o f  t h e  words. 

Q But you have t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  a f t e r  l unch ,  even 

though you r e a l i z e d  you had a problem t h a t  you were n o t  

g iven  an oppor tumity  t o  c o r r e c t  your  t es t imony?  

A Afterwards  , no. 

Q I am n o t  going t o  r e a d  t o  you from 

Government's Exhxbft 1 0 - B ,  which i s  t h e  a f t e rnoon  t r a n s c r i p t  

i n . : t h e  grand j u r y  on September 2 ,  1982. I am going t o  

start  a t  page 1 7 ,  t h e  l a s t  l i n e :  

" Q  N o w ,  you w i l l  r e c a l l  t h i s  morning I asked 

you whe ther  you had e v e r  used a name 'A.  Medina.' 

" A Y e s .  

Q And do you r e c a l l  a t  t h a t  t i m e  you s a i d  you 

had  never  used t h a t  name? 

A Y e s . "  Then t h e  t r a n s c r i p t  goes on,  

M r .  Tabak s ay ing :  "I am going t o  a sk  t h e  c o u r t  r e p o r t e r  

t o  mark as E x h i b i t  7 a photocopy o f  an Eas t e rn  A i r l i n e s  
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t i c k e t ,  No. 007447984922 as Grand J u r y  E x h i b i t  7. 

" Q Now, I am g o i n g  t o  show you t h i s  e x h i b i t ,  

which i s  a copy o f  an  E a s t e r n  A i r l i n e s  t i c k e t  f rom a 

f l i g h t  from New York-Newark t o  M i a m i ,  F l o r i d a ,  i n  t h e  

name o f  M r .  A. Medina. I am g o i n g  t o  ask  you i f  you 

used  t h a t  t i c k e t .  

'I A N o .  

" Q Did you buy t h a t  t i c k e t ?  

" A No. 

" Q Did you e v e r  t r a v e l  u s i n g  t h e  name A. Medina 

f o r  a t i c k e t  t h a t  you were buy ing  a t  any t ime?  

"A No. !' 

Was t h a t  t r u t h f u l  t e s t i m o n y ?  

A Y e s  ,sir .  

Q I n  o t h e r  words ,  Agent Menapace and t h e  o t h e r  

a g e n t s  were l y i n g  a b o u t  you h a v i n g  bough t  t h a t  t i c k e t ?  

A I am n o t  s u r e  a b o u t  t h a t .  

Q L e t  m e  a l s o  r e a d  t o  you from t h e  same 

t r a n s c r i p t ,  page  31, s t a r t i n g  a t  l i n e  5 : 

" Q Now, I want  to  make sure t h a t  you d o n ' t  have  
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - - - - -  

any doub t  a b o u t  one  o f  t h e  q u e s t i o n s  l h % i e a s K e ~  youpa- - 

c o u p l e  o f  times and I remind you a g a i n  t h a t  i f  you t e s t i f y  

false b e f o r e  t h e  g rand  j u r y ,  t h a t  t h a t  couJ!d be a c r i m i n a l  

o f f e n s e  f o r  which you c o u l d  b e  p r o s e c u t e d .  Did you e v e r  

p u r c h a s e  a t i c k e t  under  t h e  name 'Medina' o r  t r a v e l  under  
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t h e  name ' ~ e d i n d  ? 

" A Not t h a t  I r e c a l l .  

" Q A r e  you s a y i n g  t h a t  it i s  p o s s i b l e  t h a t  you 

d i d  i t ?  

'I A I d o n ' t  t h i n k  s o .  

'I Q I a m  showing you a g a i n  E x h i b i t  7 ,  which i s  t h e  

a i r l i n e  t i c k e t ,  'A.  Medina, '  which i s  from abou t  one  y e a r  

ago.  Did you use  t h a t  t i c k e t  o r  pu rchase  t h a t  t i c k e t ?  

I' A I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  e v e r  u s i n g  t h a t  name o r  u s i n g  

t h a t  t i c k e t .  I have a lways  used my name. I have always 

used  my credi t  c a r d s .  

'I Q You have always used your  own name? 

"A Y e s ,  a lways.  

"Q SO , t h e r e f o r e  ,you never  used t h e  name Medina 

when you t r a v e l e d ?  

A No. 

I" Q And, i n  p a r t i c u l a r ,  you d i d  n o t  buy and you 

d i d  n o t  u s e  t h a t  t i c k e t ?  

A No. 

correct t h a t  your  t e s t imony  i s  t h a t  you d i d  n o t  buy and 

you d i d  n o t  u s e  t h a t  t i c k e t ?  

A Y e s ,  t h a t  ' s c o r r e c t .  

"Q And you have no doub t  about  t h a t ?  

I' A I have no  doub ts . "  
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Now, M r .  Arocena, i s n ' t  it a  f a c t  t h a t  

you had p l e n t y  of  o p p o r t u n i t y  t o  c o r r e c t  t h a t  t e s t imony  

i n  t h e  g rand  j u ry?  

A When one l ooks  a t  it from your  p o i n t  o f  view, 

ye s .  

Q Is t h e r e  any o t h e r  p o i n t  o f  view? 

A Try ing  t o  p r o t e c t  t h e  i d e n t i t y  o f  t h e  

government,  no. 

Q So,  i n  o t h e r  words ,you d i d  n o t  t e l l  t h e  t r u t h  

i n  t h e  g rand  j u r y  even though you were under  o a t h ?  

A Ho nes t l y ,  i n  t h a t  c a s e ,  no. 

Q Was t h a t  t h e  o n l y  ca se?  

A Apparen t ly ,  y e s .  

Q O f  cou r se  your  t e s t imony  b e f o r e  t h i s  j u r y  a t  

t h i s  t r i a l  h a s  been complete ly  t r u t h f u l ?  

A Y e s .  

Q Yesterday you t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  i n  t h e  l a t e  

1960 t s you went  t o  Miami f o r  two months f o r  t r a i n i n g .  

Do you r e c a l l  t h a t  t e s t imony?  

A Y e s ,  I know you a r e  r e f e r r i n g  t o  the f a c t  

t h a t  I was a l s o  t r a i n e d  i n  d e m o l i t i o n  and e t  c e t e r a .  

Q And you t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  you w e r e  

i n s t r u c t e d  i n  e x p l o s i v e s  and i n  how t o  make bombs? 

A That  was p a r t  of t h e  t r a i n i n g .  

Q And you a l s o  t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  you w e r e  
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i n s t r u c t e d  i n  how t o  make Molotov c o c k t a i l s ?  

A Every th ing  r e g a r d i n g  w a r f a r e .  

Q And you a l s o  t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  you w e r e  

i n s t r u c t e d  i n  how t o  u s e  and assemble modern weapons, l i k e  

1 MAC l o ' s ?  

A Not t o  p u t  t o g e t h e r  and c o n s t r u c t ,  b u t  t h e  

h a n d l i n g  o f  t h e  weapons. 

Q And you a l s o t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  you w e r e  

i n s t r u c t e d  i n  underwater  demol i t ion?  

A Y e s ,  sir. 

Q And you remember a l l  t h i s  i n s t r u c t i o n  because  

i t  was impor t an t  t o  you,  r i g h t ?  

A For  t h e  s i t u a t i o n ,  ye s .  

Q I a m  going t o  read  from t h e  grand j u r y  

t e s t i m o n y ,  E x h i b i t  10% , page 22 : 

" Q Now, have you e v e r  been t r a i n e d  i n  e x p l o s i v e s  

o r  u se  o f  e x p l o s i v e s ?  

" A No. 

" Q Have you e v e r  been t r a i n e d  i n  underwater  

" A No. 

" Q Have you e v e r  been t r a i n e d  i n  weaponry? 

NOW, i s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  t h a t  t h o s e  w e r e  n o t  

t r u t h f u l  answers t h a t  you gave t o  the grand j u ry?  
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A Y e s .  

Q 3 u t  you a r e  t e s t i f y i n g  t r u t h f u l l y  h e r e  

t oday  ? 

A Yes, s ir .  

Q M r .  Arocena, t h i s  morning you t e s t i f i e d  

a b o u t  a  M r .  S a r a t i n i  and a  M r .  Gard. They a r e  from 

Argen t i na  , c o r r e c t ?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q And you remember ve ry  w e l l  t h a t  you m e t  

them i n  1981 o r  1982, c o r r e c t ?  

A P o s s i b l y .  

Q I b e l i e v e  you t e s t i f i e d  you d i d  i n t e l l i g e n c e  

work f o r  them? 

A A l i t t l e  b i t  l a t e r ,  y e s .  

Q 3- u t  t h a t  was b e f o r e  you went  t o  t h e  grand 

j u r y  i n  1982 t h a t  you m e t  them? 

A More o r  less. 

Q I am going t o  r e a d  from t h e  grand j u r y  

t e s t i m o n y ,  E x h i b i t  10-B,  a t  page 2 3 :  

'I Q Have you e v e r  m e t  w i t h  anybody from Argen t ina"  

-- t h e n  t h e  i n t e r p r e t e r  a sked ,  "Anybody from Argentina? ' '  

And I s a i d ,  "Right ."  

A Yes, I d i d  meet somebody from Argen t ina ,  

Q And who i s  t h a t ?  

A Gui l lermo Lemons, 
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Q When d i d  you m e e t  w i t h  him? 

A W e  h a v e n ' t  m e t  p e r s o n a l l y .  I have had 

s e v e r a l  phone conversakions  r e l a t i n g  t o  t h e  b u s i n e s s  o f  

t h e  c o r p o r a t i o n ,  my c o r p o r a t i o n .  

Q So you have neve r  m e t  him p e r s o n a l l y ?  

A No. 

Q Have you e v e r  m e t  p e r s o n a l l y  anybody else 

from Argen t ina?  

A I c a n ' t  recal l  anyone else a t  t h i s  moment." 

Now, t h a t  a l s o  w a s  n o t  a t r u t h f u l  answer,  was 

i t ?  

A P o s s i b l y  y e s ,  p o s s i b l y  no. 

Q I n  o t h e r  words ,  you might  have f o r g o t t e n  j u s t  a  

few months a f t e r  you had done i n t e l l i g e n c e  work f o r  t h e s e  

peop l e  t h a t  you had e v e r  m e t  them? 

A The- i n t e l l i g e n c e  work d i d  n o t  i nvo lve  p r e c i s e l y  

tho=  people .  They invo lved  t h e  governments of t h o s e  

c o u n t r i e s  and o f  o t h e r  c o u n t r i e s ,  and because  of  a sk ing  

about  t h o s e  peop le ,  d o e s n ' t  mean t h a t  i t  w a s  j u s t  t hose  

peop l e  t h a t  I had c o n t a c t  w i t h .  So d o n ' t  t r y  t o  g e t  

t h i n g s  a l l  b a l l e d  up. 

Q So t h e r e  were even more peop le  from Argen t ina  

t h a t  you d i d n ' t  t e l l  t h e  grand j u ry  about?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q You t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  i n  1968 o r  1969, you w e ~ e  
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g iven  t h e  i d e n t i t y  "Ale j andro  Medina" and you t e s t i f i e d  

t h a t  you were g iven  a  d r i v e r ' s  l i c e n s e  and o t h e r  i d e n t i f i c a -  

t i o n  pape r s  i n  1968 o r  1969. 3 u t  i s n ' t  it i n  f a c t  a s  

Government 's E x h i b i t  1 c l e a r l y  showed you d i d  n o t  app ly  

f o r  a n  A l e j a n d r o  Medina d r i v e r ' s  l i c e n s e  u n t i l  1981? 

A That  i s  a n o t h e r  one .  

(- Continued on n e x t  page) 
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Q Now, you t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  you never  

s t opped  b e i n g  an  a n t i - C a s t r o  f i g h t e r .  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q And you a l s o  t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  when your  c u r r e n t  

w i f e ,  Miriam, was e i g h t  months p r egnan t  you l e f t  h e r  

because  i n  your  words when o n e ' s  f a t h e r l a n d  c a l l s ,  one 

h a s  t o  l e a v e  e v e r y t h i n g .  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q Now, d u r i n g  your  e i g h t e e n  y e a r s  i n  t h e  Uni ted  

S t a t e s ,  what  have  you done t o  f i g h t  Cas t ro?  

A A r e  you go ing  t o  g i v e  t h i s  i n fo rma t ion  t o  

C a s t r o ?  

Q I am j u s t  a s k i n g  you a  q u e s t i o n .  

A I have he lped  w i t h i n  my p o s s i b i l i t i e s .  

Q And indeed  you have made bombs; i s  t h a t  r i g h t ?  

A No, s ir .  They a r e  a l l  l e g a l  a c t i o n s .  

Q Now, M r .  J u s t o  Rodr iguez  and M r .  Necuze were 

l y i n g ?  

A They know what t hey  a r e  do ing .  

Q Were t h e y  l y i n g  when t h e y  t e s t i f i e d ?  

A They s u r e l y  were. 

Q Now, can  you e x p l a i n  t o  t h e j u r y  why i f  you 

have  never  made a  bomb i n  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  a l l  t h o s e  

bomb components were found i n  your  apar tment?  

A Because you a l l  p u t  them t h e r e ,  because  you 
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have t h e  key t o  t h e  p l a c e ,  because  Necuze worked f o r  you,  . w 

because  Necuze knew where I was, because  he  t o l d  you where 

I was, and you had more t han  enough t i m e  t o  g e t  t o  t h a t  

p l a c e  and p u t  t h e  t h i n g s  t h e r e ,  because  t h e  Government 

s a y s  t h a t  t h e y  caugh t  m e  t h e  n i g h t  b e f o r e ,  b u t  t h a t  was a 

l i e ,  because  t h e y  had been s u r v e i l l i n g  f o r  more t h a n  a 

month, and you know t h a t  i s  t h e  way i t  was, and you knew 
La...- 

t h a t  t h e  min i  warehouse belonged t o  Necuze and he gave  

e v e r y t h i n g  t o  you, and t h e y  blame m e  f o r  e v e r t h i n g .  

H e  i s  t h e  one who is  working f o r  you. 

I d o n ' t  blame Necuze. That  crumb d i d  t he  b e s t  h e  cou ld  

t o  t r y  t o  s ave  h i s  own neck. 

Q So i n  o t h e r  words,  h e  ha s  t e n  y e a r s  f o r  s a v i n g  

h i s  own neck? 

A Do you f o r g e t  t h a t  you o f f e r e d  t h e  same t h i n g  

t o  m e  on many occa s ions  and I t o l d  you no a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  

up u n t i l  a few weeks ago,  and my answer was a lways  no. 

Q I s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  t h a t  you were never  o f f e r e d  

a n y t h i n g  remote ly  approaching t e n  y e a r s '  exposure?  

o f f e r e d  m e  immunity. 

THE INTERPRETER: I am s o r r y .  I a m  go ing  

t o  have t o  go back o v e r  t h a t .  

A (Cont inuing)  You have a paper  where you were 

s u r e  t h a t  I was go ing  t o  c o o p e r a t e  w i t h  you, and you w e r e  
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g o i n g  t o  o f f e r  m e  immunity s o  I would t e s t i f y ,  where I 

was n o t  g o i n g  t o  b e  a c c u s e d  of  a n y t h i n g ,  t h e  same t h i n g  

you o f f e r e d  m e ,  and i f  my l awyer  l o o k s  h e  w i l l  f i n d  i t .  

Q I s n ' t  it a f a c t  t h a t  t h e  best d e a l  you w e r e  

o f f e r e d  i f  you would c o o p e r a t e  was t h e  whole i n d i c t m e n t  

e x c e p t  you w o u l d n ' t  have  t o  t a k e  t h e  d r u g  c o u n t  and t h e  

f i r s t  d e g r e e  murder  c o u n t ?  

A No. I t ' s  n o t  t h a t  way, and i t ' s  n o t  t r u e .  

THE WITNESS: Why d o e s n ' t  h e  a l l o w  m e  t o  t a l k  

t o  my l a w y e r  f o r  a  moment, and w e  w i l l  l o o k  f o r  t h a t  docu- 

ment? 

MR. TABAK: I have no o b j e c t i o n  t o  t h a t .  

THE COURT : C e r t a i n l y .  

W e  w i l l  t a k e  a b r i e f  recess. 

L a d i e s  and gent lemen,  p l e a s e  keep  an  open mind, 
, 

and do  n o t  d i s c u s s  t h e  c a s e .  

(Recess. ) 

(Continued on t h e  n e x t  page . )  
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( J u r y  p r e s e n t )  

THE COURT: M r .  Arocena. 

You-may p roceed ,  M r .  Tabak. 

MR. TABAK: Thank you,  you r  Honor. 

3 Y M R .  TABAK: 

Q Did you f i n d  t h e  document you w e r e  l o o k i n g  f o r ?  

A Y e s ,  I .,Zound shere a  copy o f  t h e  document. 

Q T h i s  i s  a document marked 3502-S. 

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q .---- And t h i s  .... - .. document was . - - A  produced . . -.-, t o  you - by * p the 

government -- - d u r i n g  t h e  ld iscovery  i n  t h i s  c a s e ,  is  t h a t  - * .  . - - A ' -  . - 

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q I see s i g n a t u r e s  o f  J a n e t  Reno, S t a t e  At to rney  

from F l o r i d a ,  on one  l e t t e r ,  and F r e d e r i c k  Mann, 
<-.=*....--.* .."" - > .  .. " *-au-*-..+- -. - * 

A s s i s t a n t  Uni ted  S t a t e s  At to rney  i n  F l o r i d a ,  on t h e  o t h e r  

l e t t e r ?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q DO you see my s i g n a t u r e  anywhere? 

A No, s i r .  

Q I mentioned anywhere  i n  t h e r e ?  
- - - - - - - - 

A Your name? No. 3 u t  t h e  c a s e ,  yes .  

Q Is either o f  t h o s e  le t ters  on t h e  l e t t e r h e a d  

o f  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  A t t o r n e y ' s  o f f i c e  f o r  t h e  Sou thern  

D i s t r i c t  o f  New York? 
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A No, b u t  it does ment ion t h e  peop l e  who a r e  

t e t i f y i n g  a g a i n s t  me .  

Q Now, of  c o u r s e ,  t h e  agreements r e g a r d i n g  

M r .  Necuse, M r .  Gonzalez and M r .  Rodriguez a l l  were on 

t h e  ~ & & t t e r h e a d  of  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  A t t o r n e y ' s  o f f  ice 

f o r  t h e  Southern  Di s t r i c t  o f  New York? 

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q -. You t e s t i f i e d  j u s t  b e f o r e  t h e  b r eak  t h a t  

M r .  Necuze had l e d  t h e  FBI t o  you? 

A Y e s ,  b u t  I have n o t  f i n i s h e d  w i t h  t h i s  document. 

I would l i k e  t o  go back t o  t h i s  document. 

Q I t h i n k  when your  a t t o r n e y  q u e s t i o n s  you on 

r e d i r e c t ,  h e  can go i n t o  t h a t .  

Of cou r se  M r .  Necuze d i d  n o t  t e s t i f y  t h a t  

h e  had been c o o p e r a t i n g  w i t h  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  Government 

b e f o r e  you were a r r e s t e d .  

A Could you r e p e a t  t h e  q u e s t i o n ,  p l e a s e ?  

Q Of c o u r s e ,  M r .  Necuse d i d  n o t  t e s t i f y  t h a t  h e  

coopekated w i t h  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  Government b e f o r e  you 

w e r e  a r r e s t e d ?  

A I d o n ' t  have any s u r e t y  about  t h a t .  I know 

t h a t  h e  was coope ra t i ng  w i t h  them b e f o r e  t h a t .  

Q And how do you know t h a t ,  s i r ?  

A d e c a u s e  I have been t o l d  t h a t  t h e y  had  r e l a t i o n s  

wi'th ' the  o f f i c i a l s  i n  Miami, t h a t  h e  went o u t  t o  lunch w i t h  
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t h e  a g e n t s  o f  t h e  FBI i n  Miami and t h a t  h e  w a s  on q u i t e  

i n t i m a t e  terms w i t h  them, and a t  t h a t  t i m e  h e  s t a r t e d  - - - - + - - A - - . p .  . 

t u r n i n g  ove r  documents, mv document$, t o  t h e  FBI. . . 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

h e  is .  

Q 

A 

Q 

f u g i t i v e ?  

A 

Q 

. * , .+. . - & 

And where d i d  you l e a r n  t h a t ,  s i r ?  

I n  M i a m i .  

; J h o  t o l d  you t h a t ?  

Gonzalez t o l d  i t  t o  m e .  

When d i d  M r .  Gonzalez t e l l  you t h a t ?  

;J hen I was f l e e i n g .  

And where i s  M r .  Gonzalez today?  

H e  i s  o u t s i d e  o f  h e r e .  I d o n ' t  know where 

Do you know what h i s  l e g a l  s t a t u s  i s ?  

W e  c a l l  it underground s t a t u s .  

I s n ' t  it a  f a c t  t h a t  t h e  l a w  c a l l s  it b e i n g  a  

I t  seems so .  

I s n ' t  i t  a  f a c t  t h a t  M r ,  Gonzalez p u b l i c z y  

p leaded  g u i l t y  i n  Miami t o  15  y e a r s 1  exposure  t o  Omega 7 

crimes b e f o r e  he  took o f f ?  

THE COURT: P l e a s e  r e a d  t h e  q u e s t i o n  back i n  

p h r a s e s  t o  t h e  i n t e r p r e t e r .  

C Ques t i o n  r ead )  

A H e  a l s o  s e n t  le t ters  t o  t h e  newspaper 

e x p l a i n i n g  what t h e  s i t u a t i o n  was a t  t h a t  t i m e .  
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Q And o f  cou r se  t h a t  i s  because  h e  wasn't prepared  

t o  admit  t h e  t r u t h  of  what h e  had a l r e a d y  done? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I o b j e c t  t o  t h a t .  

THE COURT: I f  you know* 

A No. The f a c t  i s  t h a t  h e  had t h e  shamelessness  

of  accus ing  them i n  n o t  f a l l i n g  i n t o  your hands.  That  

i s  what he  d i d ,  because  h e  i s  a g r e a t  man. 

Q I s n ' t  i t  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  you a r e  very  w e l l  

aware o f  what h e  t e s t i f i e d  i n  t h e  grand ju ry?  

A I d o n ' t  know what h e  t e s t i f i e d  i n  f r o n t  of  t h e  

grand ju ry .  

Q I s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  t h a t  you have been g iven  a copy 

o f  h i s  tes t imony? 

A They have given m e  s o  many cop ie s  t h a t  I 

d o n ' t  know what copy I have i n  my hand now a t  t h i s  p o i n t .  

I f  you w i l l  g i v e  m e  a copy, I cou ld  r ead  it. 

MR. TABAK: Do you have a copy? 

MR. FERNANDEZ: Not h e r e .  

MR. TABAK: I am prepared  t o  ask someone t o  

go t o  my o f f i c e  to - .p ick  up a copy, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Le t  m e  see i f  w e  s t i l l  have i t  

h e r e .  

(. Pause) 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, may w e  have a s i d e  

b a r  a t  t h i s  t ime? 
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THE COURT: L e t ' s  see what h e  i s  g o i n g  t o  do.  

I hand you a document f i l e d  on  September 4 ,  

1984,  M r .  Tabak. I f  t h a t  i s  what  you have  i n  mind, you 

may have  it. 

MR. TABAK : Thank you,  y o u r  Honor. 

THE COURT: I a m  s u r e  you w i l l  b e  mindfu l  o f  

t h e  l i m i t e d  u s e  you can make o f  t h e  document-. 

MR. TABAK: I a m ,  your  Honor. 

THE COURT: Very w e l l .  Is t h a t  what  you had  

i n  mind? 

MR. TABAK: Y e s ,  i t  i s ,  y o u r  Honor. 

Q M r .  Arocena,  I am g o i n g  t o  show you t h i s  

and a s k  you i f  you had  a chance  t o  r e a d  t h i s  b e f o r e  you 

t e s t i f i e d .  

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

N o ,  I d i d  n o t .  I d o n ' t  remember. 

You migh t  have  r e a d  i t ?  

I d o n ' t  remember. 

Then I w i l l  move on t o  t h e  n e x t  a r e a .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  t a k e  t h a t ,  M r .  Palmer. 

So  y o u r  own knowledge o r  t h e  o n l y  b a s i s  f o r  

y o u r  s a y i n g  t h a t  M r .  Necuze c o o p e r a t e d  b e f o r e  you were 

a r r e s t e d  is from M r .  Gonzalez,  i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A And th rough  o t h e r  s o u r c e s  as w e l l .  

Q And what  are t h e  o t h e r  s o u r c e s ?  

A J u s t  rumors i n  the street .  
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Q And t h a t ' s  i t ?  

A That  was enough f o r  me. 

Q That i s  enough f o r  you t o  s t a t e  p u b l i c l y  i n  

c o u r t  a t  t h i s  t r i a l  t h a t  h e  i s  r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  you b e i n g  

a r r e s t e d ?  

A I f  t h e  person who knew where I was was he and 

1. am a r r e s t e d  and i f  h e  i s  t e s t i f y i n g  f o r  t h e  government 

and i f  he  was mee t ing  w i t h  government people  b e f o r e  

and h e  was g i v i n g  them papers  p r ev ious ly  and i f  h e  was 

t h e  one i n  charge  o f  t h e  famous Mini warehouse and they  

c o n f i s c a t e d  a l l  of  t h a t ,  I have t o  t h i n k ,  I have 

t o  deduce t h a t  Necuze was t h e  person who handed m e  

o v e r ,  and i f  a l l  t h e  t h i n g s  t h a t  appeared i n  t h e  

apar tment  where I was,  I don ' t know how t h e  apar tment  

d i d n ' t  s i n k  w i th  a l l  t h e  t h i n g s  i n  t h e r e .  I d o n ' t  

know a t  what t i m e  t hey  p u t  them i n  t h e r e .  I can guaran tee  

i t  took them a l ong  t i m e .  

Q Since  M r .  Necuzels  tes t imony i s  p r e t t y  much 

t h e  o p p o s i t e  o f  what you have j u s t  s a i d ,  w a s  he  l y i n g  

when h e  t e s t i f i e d  h e r e ?  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q You t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  t h e  reason you d i d n ' t  go 

t o  Cuba w i t h  t h e  Alpha 66 l e a d e r s  i n  M i a m i  i n  1969, 

I b e l i e v e ,  was because  t h e y  would n o t  make any f i n a n c i a l  

p r o v i s i o n  f o r  your w i f e ,  who w a s  e i g h t  months p regnant?  Is 
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t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A I t  i s n ' t  t h a t  i t  was j u s t  i n  my c a s e ,  b u t  

t hey  d i d  n o t  do t h a t  w i t h  anyone and I thought  t h a t  it 

was n o t  normal t h a t  I would have to  go t o  Cuba and 

l e a v e  my f ami ly  i n  t h a t  s i t u a t i o n ,  a l though  I d i d  s ay  

t h a t  i t i p a i n e d  m e  t o  have t o  go back.  I t  p a i n s  m e  t o  

r ecogn ize  t h a t ,  b u t  t h a t  i s  t h e  way it was. 

Q So i n  o t h e r  words,  a l though  your  f a t h e r l a n d  

c a l l e d ,  i f  you c o u l d n ' t  b e  p a i d  a s  a  mercenary,  you 

w o u l d n ' t  go? 

A For  t h e  f a t h e r l a n d ,  one d o e s n ' t  have t o  be  

p a i d ;  one goes f r e e .  That  i s  o n e ' s  du ty .  

Q But you d i d  n o t  go? 

A On t h a t  occas ion ,  I d i d  n o t ,  b u t  it w a s n ' t  

on ly  i n  t h a t  a s p e c t ;  they  a r e  t h e  ones who had t h e  means 

t o  go. I c o u l d n ' t  g e t  on a  l o g  and j u s t  s w i m  ove r .  

I had t o w a i t  f o r  somebody t o  t a k e  m e  and I j u s t  c o u l d n ' t  

w a i t  f o r e v e r  i n  M i a m i .  So I had t o  go back and f a c e  t h e  

n e c e s s i t i e s  t h a t  I had - w i t h  .my faini-ly and t o  p r e p a r e  myself 

f o r  some f u t u r e  d a t e .  

Q Now, you t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  when you l e f t  Cuba 

i n  1965, you l e f t  behind your  w i f e  and f o u r  c h i l d r e n .  

How o l d  were your  c h i l d r e n  a t  t h a t  t ime? 

A One was t h r e e ,  one was f o u r  -- two, t h r e e  and 

f o u r ,  and s h e  was pregnant .  
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Q And you d i d n ' t  a t t e m p t  t o  have them stow away 

w i t h  you,  d i d  you? 

A I t  i s  a  l i t t l e  b i t  d i f f i c u l t  p u t t i n g  a  

f a m i l y  l i k e  t h a t  o n  a  f r e i g h t e r ,  c o n s i d e r i n g  t h a t  t h e  b o a t  

i s  anchored 16 m i l e s  o f f  t h e  s h o r e ,  and i n  o r d e r  t o  g e t  

o u t  t h e r e ,  you have t o  t a k e  a  t u g b o a t ,  which was f i l l e d  

w i t h  a b o u t  30 o r  40 f r i e n d s .  I t h i n k  it was go ing  t o  b e  

a  l i t t l e  b i t  d i f f i c u l t  t o  h i d e  them t h e r e .  

Q How o l d  was y o u r  f i r s t  w i f e  a t  t h a t  t ime?  

A She was a b o u t  17  o r  1 8  y e a r s  o f  age  -- 
a b o u t  18  o r  19.  

Q Now, it was less t h a n  a  y e a r  l a t e r  t h a t  you 

m e t  y o u r  second w i f e  and you f o r g o t  a b o u t  y o u r  f i r s t  w i f e  

and f a m i l y ?  

A No, s ir .  I g o t  m a r r i e d  i n  ' 6 9 .  I f  I 

l e f t  i n  1965 and g o t  m a r r i e d  i n  1969,  t h a t  was n o t  one  y e a r .  

B e s i d e s  t h a t ,  t h e s e  a r e  p r i v a t e  problems o f  mine. 

Q J u t  you d i d  t e s t i f y  t h a t  i n  1966 i s  when you 

m e t  Miriam, y o u r  second w i f e ?  

A She was working i n  t h e  f a c t o r y  where I began 

t o  work a l s o .  

Q T h a t  w a s  t h e  Avery F i s h e r  f a c t o r y ,  i s  t h a t  

r i g h t ?  

A Y e s ,  sir. 

Q 3 u t  you had n o t h i n g  t o  d o  w i t h  b lowing up a 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTER(. U.S. COURTHOUSE 

FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



rmjah 9 Arocena-cross  2 3 2 6  

bomb a t  Avery F i s h e r  H a l l  a few y e a r s  l a t e r ?  

A No, b e c a u s e  F i s h e r  i s  l o u d s p e a k e r s ,  and  I 

d o n ' t  t h i n k  i t  h a s  a n y t h i n g  t o  do  w i t h  t h e  o t h e r  t h i n g  

you a r e  men t ion ing .  3 e s i d e s ,  I d o n ' t  even  know wha t  

happened t h e r e .  I h a d  n o t h i n g  t o  do w i t h  t h a t .  So  you 

a r e  a s s o c i a t i n g  names and t h a t  i s  y o u r  b u s i n e s s .  

Q .Q e l l ,  t h e  f a c t  i s  t h a t  t h e  Avery F i s h e r  

o f  Avery F i s h e r  H a l l  i s  t h e  Avery F i s h e r  o f  t h e  l o u d s p e a k e r  

company, i s n ' t  i t ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I d o n ' t  know what  

t h i s  l i n e  h a s  t o  d o  w i t h  a n y t h i n g .  

THE COURT : I don ' t know t h a t  e i t h e r .  I 

d i d n ' t  u n d e r s t a n d  t h e r e  was any unhapp iness  w i t h  h i s  

employer .  

I f  you know, t e l l  u s .  Do you know i f  t h e  

f o u n d e r  o f  t h e  F i s h e r  Company t h a t  you worked f o r  was 

t h e  p e r s o n  a f t e r  whom t h i s  music  h a l l ,  Avery F i s h e r  H a l l ,  

h a s  been  named? Do you know t h a t ?  

THE 11 ZTNESS : No, I know n o t h i n g  a b o u t  t h a t .  

Q Can you e x p l a i n  t o  t h e  j u r y  why you c o n s i d e r  

Huber Matos t o  b e  a coward and a t r a i t o r ?  

MR. AGUILAR: There  i s  no  t e s t i m o n y  i n  t h e  

r e c o r d  t h a t  t h i s  man e v e r  s a i d  h e  w a s  a coward o r  a 

t r a i t o r .  

MR. TABAK: I w i l l  b e  happy t o  show him some of  
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t h e  documents i n  which h e  s a i d  that.  2 3 2 7  

THE COURT: Le t  him -- 

MR. TABAK: I r e f e r  t o  2033 and 1030-A, 

Government ' s E x h i b i t s .  

THE COURT: W e  w i l l  t a k e  your  ~ e p r e s e n t a t i o n  

and pe rmi t  t h e  w i t n e s s  t o  answer t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

THE INTERPRETER: May I hea rd  t h e  q u e s t i o n ?  

C Ques t i o n  r ead )  

A L e t  m e  t e l l  you t h a t  t h a t  is  a good q u e s t i o n ,  

because  i f  I remember c o r r e c t l y ,  t h r e e  months b e f o r e  t h e  

grand j u r y ,  t h a t  i s ,  on t h e  2nd of November, t h e  F B I  a g e n t s  

who w e r e  a f t e r  m e  -- i f  I remember c o r r e c t l y ,  I t h i n k  

it w a s  d' a l z e r ,  one o f  t h e  s o  many t h a t  were a f t e r  m e ,  t hey  

were a f t e r  J u s t o  Rodriguez a l s o ,  E r n e s t o  Rodriguez and 

Nes tor  Gomez, people  who went around w i t h  m e .  On t h a t  

t h e  f i r s t  , . . q u e s t i o n  -* . t h a t  t h e  F B I  asked ------, them - .  was . t h a t  i f  

t hey  .-- -- i f  - t hey  . . knew whether  Huber Matos was a -- "-_-_I- _I_-..--* 

~ o m m u n i s t ,  and t h e  guys ,  and I r e f e r  t o  t h e s e  people  I 

mentioned be£ orehand,  were s u r p r i s e d  t h a t  t h e  government 
. " -" ...- "*  .- 

Huber Matos w a s  a 
-- 

Communist, t h a t  t h e y  proof  t h a t  

,. t h a t  he  had never  had problems 
" . - *  . . 

i n  Cuba and t h a t  he  had been s e n t  h e r e  t o  t h e  . -*, - - " -"- . . . . 

United S t a t e s  t o  c r e a t e  problems and t o  work w i t h  t h e  
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I n t e r n a t i o n a l  S o c i a l i s t  Movement. I f  I remember 
-.,s-. 

c o r r e c t l y ,  t h e s e  peop l e  answered t h a t  t h e y  d i d n ' t  t h i n k  t h a t  

t h a t  was t r u e ,  t h a t  i t  w a s  t r u e  where Matos was a  

commander o f  C a s t r o ,  b u t  h e  had n o t h i n g  t o  d o  w i t h  t h a t ,  

t h a t  h e  w a s  a c o n t r o v e r s i a l  pe r son  b u t  t h a t  among us  Cubans 

t h e y  would neve r  g e t  t h a t  k i n d  o f  an answer.  

Tha t  i s  t h e  same q u e s t i o n  t h a t  M r .  Wack asked  

m e  when h e  i n t e r v i e w e d  m e  i n  t h e  Newark J e t p o r t ,  t h a t  

h e  was i n t e r e s t e d  i n  Huber Matos. I t h i n k  a t  t h a t  t i m e  

h e  was go ing  t o  g i v e  a lecture i n  N e w  York and t h e y  

s a i d  h e  w a s  going t o  g i v e  a l e c t u r e  abou t  l e f t i s t  a g e n t s  

and a b o u t  t h e  I n t e r n a t i o n a l  S o c i a l i s t  Movement i n  

which M r .  Huber Mabos w a s  a  member; t h a t  as f a r  as t h e  

government was concerned,  e s p e c i a l l y  t h e  FBI, Huber Matos 

was a Communist and h e  s a i d  t o  m e ,  'N h a t  do  you t h i n k  

a b o u t  t h a t ? "  And I s a i d ,  " I  d o n ' t  know any th ing  abou t  

t h a t .  " 

Q I show you Government 's E x h i b i t  1030-A i n  

e v i d e n c e ,  and d i r e c t  your  a t t e n t i o n  t o  t h e  f o u r t h  page.  

Tha t  i s  t h e  back o f  t h e  second page.  p o u l d  you e x p l a i n  t o  
-- -- ---*-_... ----- 1 * "  1 . ,,- . '_., , . 

t h e -  j u r y h o w  you r  - - f i n g e r p r i n t s  were found on t h i s  document, - - - - - - - - - - - -  
- - - - - - - - - - - -  

which i n  t r a n s l a t i o n  s a y s ,  "Huber Matos, a t r a i t o r ,  a  
.-.-.-* 8 , . . . - r , *  * . *  - , . - .  - * 

Communist. H e  s h o u l d  d i e  wh i g h t " ?  

A I can t e l l  you why. 
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Q That  i s ,  of cou r se ,  your handwri t ing on t h e r e ?  

A I d o n ' t  t h i n k  it i s  mine. 

Q You heard Agent Mart in  f r o m t h e  FBI l a b  t e s t i f y  

your  f i n g e r p r i n t s  were on t h e r e ?  

A I have a l s o  heard him say  eve ry th ing  they  

brought  i n  h e r e  was mine. 

Q So Agent Martin was a l s o  l y i n g ?  

k They a l l  form a  p a r t  of t h e  same team. I t ' s  

t h e  same p a t t e r n .  

Q Now, you t e s t i f i e d  yes t e rday  t h a t  you admired 

J u s t o  Rodriguez because he had been a  p o l i t i c a l  p r i s o n e r  

i n  Cuba f o r  s i x t e e n  y e a r s ;  i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A P rev ious ly  when I met him, y e s .  

Q Now, do you r e c a l l  when M r .  Rodriguez t e s t i f i e d  

h e r e  he expla ined  t h e  reason he was f i n a l l y  a b l e  t o  l e a v e  

Cuba i n  1969 was because of t h e  e f f o r t s  of t h e  Committee 

of 75, which i s  t o  say M r .  Negr in ' s  committee? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I am going t o  o b j e c t  

t o  t h e  c h a r a c t e r i z a t i o n  t h a t  t h a t  was M r .  Negr in ' s  

committee. 

THE COURT: A l l  r i g h t .  Le t  u s  t a k e  t h a t  

p a r t  ou t .  You can a rgue  t h a t  i f  you wish,  b u t  it is  my 

r e c o l l e c t i o n  t h a t  he g o t  ou t  i n  p a r t  a t  l e a s t  because of 

t h e  a c t i v i t i e d  of t h e  Committee of 75. 

A I d o n ' t  b e l i e v e  t h a t .  
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Q So M r .  Rodr iguez-was  l y i n g  :about  t h a t ?  

A What I would l i k e  t o  say  i s  a t  t h a t  t i m e  t h e r e  

were o t h e r  f a c t o r s  and t h e r e  were o t h e r  p r e s s u r e s  t h a t  

were  c a u s i n g  p e o p l e  t o  g e t  o u t  of Cuba. 

THE COURT: A s  f a r  a s  you know, was one  of t h e  

p r e s s u r e s  b r o u g h t  a b o u t  by t h e  Committee of 75? 

THE WITNESS: They were one  of t h e  ones  t h a t  

were t r y i n g  t o  c a p i t a l i z e  on t h e  s i t u a t i o n .  T h a t  was 

one  of t h e  s t r a t e g i e s  of  C a s t r o .  T h a t  was one  o f  t h e  

s p e a r h e a d s  t h a t  h e  was p u t t i n g  i n t o  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s .  

I t  was p a r t  of t h e  t r e a t y  t h e y  were making a t  t h a t  p a r t i c -  

u l a  r t i m e  . 
Q And of c o u r s e  you opposed any e s t a b l i s h i n g  o f  

r e l a t i o n s  w i t h  Cuba? 

A Based on t h a t  t r e a s o n ,  y e s .  W e  o n l y  have  

one way o r  go ing  back t o  Cuba: With weapons i n  o u r  hands.  

No one  h a s  a  r i g h t  t o  o u r  d e s t i n y ,  j u s t  o u r s e b v e s  and o u r  

p e o p l e .  You o r  no one h a s  a  r i g h t  t o  t h a t ,  and t h e  

f a c t  t h a t  w e  a r e  h e r e  w e  d o n ' t  h o l d  t h a t  t o  anyone, j u s t  

t h e  c i r c u m s t a n c e s ,  b u t  we c a n n o t  admit  t h a t  you s h o u l d  

d e c i d e  o u r  d e s t i n y  and t o  a l l o w  a g roup  of o p p o r t u n i s t s  

t o  d e c i d e  t h e  d e s t i n y  of o u r  c o u n t r y  n o r  t h e  d e s t i n y  of  

n i n e  m i l l i o n  p e o p l e  t h e r e .  

I t  i s  a s i m p l e  group of  m i s e r a b l e  scum, t h e  

75 ,  and no one  else. 
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Q And of cou r se  you wanted t h e  most p o l i t i c a l  

p r i s o n e r s ,  o the rwi se  t h e r e  would be  no need f o r  what you 

a r e  doing? 

A W e  wanted a l l  t h e  Cuban p r i s o n s  t o  be  opened. 

We wanted t h e r e  t o  be  f r e e  e l e c t i o n s ,  s o  t h a t  t h e  people  

cou ld  choose t h e i r  own government, t h a t  t h e  people  should 

now what l i b e r t y  i s ,  n o t  t h a t  t hose  mi se rab le  scum 

should go down t h e r e  and g e t  a  group. 

There were a  l o t  of people  who came he re  who 

were very  s e l e c t  and very  good people.  

Q I n  c t h e r  words, t h e  good people  should be  

a l lowed t o  r o t  i n  p o l i t i c a l  p r i s o n s ?  

A I t  was a  p re jud iced  d i a logue .  I t  was n o t  a  

d i a logue  a t  a l l .  I t  was j u s t  a  monologue, because 

C a s t r o  was always p u t t i n g  t h e  cond i t i ons .  Those clowns 

of t h e  75 Committee d i d  no t  go t o  Cuba. They were 

no th ing  more than  s e r v a n t s  of Cas t ro ,  s e r v i n g  h i s  i n t e r -  

e s t s .  That  i s  a l l  they were. They never had any th ing  

t o  do w i t h  t h e  i n t e r e s t s  of our  people.  

They never were worr ied about  t h e  pover ty  o r  

t h e  misery of our  people.  They were on ly  i n t e r e s t e d  

i n  t h e  i n t e r e s t s  of t h e  Communist government of Cuba. 

They were only  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  t h e i r  own pocketbook, and 

they  were on ly  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  b r i n g i n g  a  bunch of 

i n d i v i d u a l s  i n t o  t h e  United S t a t e s  t o  f i l t e r  h e r e  and 
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d e s t r o y  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  and t h e y  and t h e y  a r e  d o i n g  

t h a t  w i t h  y o u r  own h e l p ,  and you know t h a t  v e r y  w e l l .  

Q What have I done t o  h e l p  them? 

A You j u s t  p e r s e c u t e d  u s  because  you wanted t o , .  

and you a l lowed  y o u r s e l f  t o  f a l l  i n t o  a l l  t h e s e  infamous 

maneuvers  and t o  p r e p a r e  a l l  of t h e s e  l i e s  a g a i n s t  u s . a n d  

a  m i l l i o n  o t h e r  t h i n g s .  

Q Is it y o u r  u n d e r s t a n d i n g  t h a t  I r u n  t h e  

U n i t e d  S t a t e s  Department  of J u s t i c e ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I am g o i n g  t o  o b j e c t .  

THE COURT : S u s t a i n e d .  

Q Now, you,  of c o u r s e ,  were f a m i l i a r  w i t h  b e i n g  

a  p o l i t i c a l  p r i s o n e r  i n  Cuba, because  you were one  f o r  a  

few d a y s ?  

A I d o n ' t  c o n s i d e r  myself  a  p o l i t i c a l  p r i s o n e r  

a t  t h a t  t i m e .  

Q You were j u s t  a  common p r i s o n e r ?  

A I d i d  n o t  -- t h a t  was n o t  my s t a t u s ,  e i t h e r .  

Q But  i n  any e v e n t ,  it was j u s t  a  few d a y s ,  

wha tever  it was? 

A F o r t u n a t e l y ,  yes .  

Q Now, you have  t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  you n e v e r  t o l d  

Agent Wack a n y t h i n g  a b o u t  t h e  name Omega 7. 

A No, sir .  

Q You were, however, f a m i l i a r  w i t h  t h e  Greek 
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a l p h a b e t ;  r i g h t ?  

A I am n o t  a  Greek. I am a  Cuban. 

Q How d i d  you select t h e  name Be ta  f o r  y o u r  

company? 

A I t ' s  a  name. I t ' s  a name of  a  s t a r t .  Haven ' t  

you e v e r  h e a r d  t h e  name of  a s t a r ?  I t ' s  t h e  name of  a  

s t a r t  i n  a  c o n s t e l l a t i o n .  

Q So you had no i d e a  it was a l s o  a  l e t t e r  o f  t h e  

Greek a l p h a b e t ?  

A I found o u t  from you r i g h t  now. 

Q And you n e v e r  knew t h a t  Omega was a  l e t te r  of 

t h e  Greek a l p h a b e t ,  t h e  l a s t  l e t t e r ?  

A No; I d i d n ' t .  

Q So t h e  p a r t  of t h e  J n e  1 4 ,  1983 t a p e  on which 

you d i s c u s s e d  it w i t h  M r .  Wack, t h a t  i s  a  f a b r i c a t i o n ?  

A Y e s .  

Q Now, how was t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  Government 

a b l e  t o  f a b r i c a t e  s o  much o f  y o u r  v o i c e  i n  E n g l i s h  when 

you speak s o  l i t t l e  E n g l i l s h ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I am go ing  t o  o b j e c t  
- - - -  - - - - -  - - - -  - - - - -  - - - - - - - -  

t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  H e  i s  a s k i n g  t h i s  man how t h e  Uni ted  

S t a t e s  Government f u n c t i o n s .  

THE COURT: H e  seems i n  a  p o s i t i o n  t o  want t o  

respond.  

MR. AGUILAR: I t  i s  beyond h i s  knowledge. 
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THE COURT: I f  you know, I w i l l  a l l o w  t h e  

q u e s t i o n  i n  t h a t  m o d i f i e d  form. 

Read t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

( Q u e s t  i o n  r e a d .  ) 

THE COURT: I f  you know. 

A Based on t h e  t i m e  t h a t  t h e y  have  been 

r e c o r d i n g  my c o n v e r s a t i o n ,  based  on t h e  t i m e  t h a t  t h e y  

have  been i n t e r r o g a t i n g  m e ,  based  on a l l  of t h a t  and based 

on t h e i r  t e c h n o l o g y ,  t h e  b e s t  i n  t h e  wor ld  -- never  doub t  

t h a t  -- i t ' s  been a l l  f a b r i c a t e d  i n  t h a t  way. 

Q Even t h e  t a p e s  t h a t  were s o  d i f f i c u l t  t o  under-  

s t a n d ?  

A I c a n ' t  imagine  how M r .  Wack committed t h e  

e r r o r  of  l e a v i n g  s o  many b l a n k  s p a c e s  and s o  many confused  

t a p e s ,  and e s p e c i a l l y  t h e  p a r t  a b o u t  t h e  c o i n ,  t h e  

t e l e p h o n e  where you p u t  i n  t h e  c o i n ,  because  it i s  n o t  

a t  a l l  d i f f i c u l t .  I c o u l d  say  t h a t  t o  anybody i n  any 

p l a c e ,  and t h e y  c o u l d  j u s t  d r o p  a  c o i n ,  and t h e y  s t a r t  o f f  

r e c o r d i n g  e v e r y t h i n g .  

Y e s ,  you a r e  n o t  f o o l i n g  m e .  You migh t  b e  

f o o l i n g  someone else. I know y o u r  t echno logy .  I have  

s t u d i e d  it a l l .  I s o l d  t h a t  equipment.  I know how you 

work. I know a l l  a b o u t  you,  e x c e p t  t h a t  I t r u s t e d  you 

t o o  much. I t h o u g h t  you were l o y a l .  I t h o u g h t  you 

w e r e  d e c e n t  i n  c e r t a i n a s p e c t s t  and I was t r u s t i n g ,  a n d  

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS. U.S. COURTHOUSE 

FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



mP s Arocena - c r o s s  2335 

t h a t ' s  what h u r t s ,  and a l o t  o f  peop le  a r e  g o i n  t o  g e t  

a bad impre s s ion ,  and f o r  t h a t ,  t h a t  i s  t h e  reason  I am 

h e r e ,  s o  my whole coun t ry  w i l l  know how you work, what 

you r  t a c t i c s  a r e  l i k e  and what you do w i t h  u s  s o  t h a t  no  

one  w i l l  b e  confused  i n  t h e  f u t u r e  and t h a t  t h e y  w i l l  

n e v e r  be  a b l e  t o  se t  t h i s  t r a p  a g a i n ,  and e s p e c i a l l y  what 

you do  w i t h  ou r  f a m i l i e s ,  how you t e r r o r i z e  them, how 

you bug t h e  t e l e p h o n e s ,  how you even g e t  i n t o  o u r  m a i l ,  

how you i n t e r f e r e  w i t h  e v e r y t h i n g ,  how o u r  p r i v a t e  l i f e  

ha s  s topped  e x i s t i n g  f o r  e v e r y t h i n g .  

And many, many o t h e r  t h i n g s  t h a t  I d o n ' t  

have t h e  means t o  mention h e r e ,  b u t  you r e a l l y  have 

d i s a p p o i n t e d  m e ,  a t  l e a s t  i n  a sma l l  amount. 

I want t o  b e  f a i r .  I d o n ' t  want t o  i n v o l v e  

everybody,  and you asked  m e  a wh i l e  ago whether  you 

w e r e  t h e  head of t h e  Department of J u s t i c e .  I d o n ' t  

blame t h e  Department of J u s t i c e  f o r  e v e r y t h i n g ,  b u t  I do 

blame you,  because  you a r e  an amb i t i ous  pe rson ,  because  

you a r e  t r y i n g  t o  go up by s t e p p i n g  on m e  and a t  t h e  

expense  of a group o f  f r i e n d s  and a t  t h e  expense of a 

l o t  of  peop l e  t h a t  a r e  i n  e x i l e ,  accompanied by a sma l l  

group of peop le  who a re  h e l p i n g  you. 

I d o n ' t  wish  you l u c k ,  because  it i s  a t  ou r  

expense.  

Q So i n  o t h e r  words, t h e  r e a son  you are d i s -  
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appo in t ed  and you do n o t  t r u s t  u s  i s  because  w e  have 

r e v e a l e d  t o  t h e  wor ld  what you a c t u a l l y  t o l d  t h e  FBI? 

A No. Because I t hough t  t h a t  you were a  
- -. 

r e p r e s e n t a t i v e o f t h e  law,  a  r e p r e s e n t a t i v e  of t h e  Govern- - ~.. -"&- . .. . 

ment of t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  t h a t  you r e p r e s e n t e d  democracy . .* 

and you p r o t e c t e d  anti-Communists and t h a t  you were 

h e l p i n g  t h e  f o r c e s  t h a t  w e r e  h e l p i n g  t o  p r o t e c t  t h i s  

coun t ry  and t h o s e  who a r e  t r y i n g  t o  d e s t r o y  communism. 

The weapons t h a t  you u s e  t o  confuse  u s ,  t o  

p e n e t r a t e  i n t o  t o  d i v i d e  t o  g e t  a l l  t h a t  i n f  orma- 

t i o n  and t o  send  i t  t o  ou r  enemies,  t o  C a s t r o ,  t o  Rus s i a ,  

t o  God knows how many more enemies of  t h i s  c o u n t r y ,  a l l  

l ook ing  f o r  o u r  d e s t r u c t i o n ,  and a f t e r  i t  i s  a l l  ove r  i t  

w i l l  be  your own d e s t r u c t i o n .  

Q So i n  o t h e r  words you a r e  u p s e t  t h a t  w e  have 

made p u b l i c  what you t o l d  Agent Wack and t h e  o t h e r  a g e n t s ?  

A I n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e ,  I deny a l l  of t h a t .  

I n  t h e  second p l a c e ,  i f  I w e r e  w o r r i e d ,  i f  I had any 

doub t s  abou t  t h a t ,  I would have made a  d e a l  w i t h  you,  and 

no one would have e v e r  found o u t  a b o u t  i t ,  and I would 

I would s i n k  h a l f  t h e  world.  I would b e  w i t h  

my f a m i l y ,  and I wouldn ' t  b e  f o r  a  y e a r  -- I wouldn ' t  

have  been runn ing  f o r  a  y e a r  and w i t h  $20,000 l o s t  and 

going hungry and hav ing  a l l s o r t s  of o t h e r  needs  and going 
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through a l l  of t h o s e  t h i n g s  t h a t  you a r e  making me go 

th rough ,  n o t  on ly  myself b u t  s o  many companions and s o  

many compa t r io t s  of mine. 

I f e l t  I never  had adny doubts .  There  was 

no reason  f o r  me t o  be concerned about  t h a t .  On t h e  

c o n t r a r y .  I wanted t o  b r i n g  t h a t  o u t ,  and h e r e  I am. 

Q Well ,  you knew ve ry  w e l l  b e f o r e  you s t a r t e d  

making your  admiss ions  t o  Agent Wack t h a t  Agent Wack t o l d  

you he was i n v e s t i g a t i n g  bombings and murders i n  t h e  

United S t a t e s ?  

A I a l s o  know t h a t  M r .  Wack has been t r y i n g  t o  

p u t  a  l o t  of people  behind j a i l  f o r  a  long t ime ,  and he 

h a s  n o t  been a b l e  t o  do so .  

I a l s o  know t h a t  you have been t r y i n g  t o  do 

t h e  same t h i n g  f o r  a long t ime ,  and you have n o t  been a b l e  

t o ,  and I know t h a t  you cannot  recover  from t h a t  wound, 

and bas ing  y o u r s e l f  on t h a t  you came back a t  i t ,  and t h e n  

you came a g a i n s t  US ,  and you picked me o u t ,  and you s e l e c t e d  

a whole bunch of crumbs t h a t  had no th ing  t o  do w i th  any- 

t h i n g ,  and they  submi t ted  t o  a series of p r e s s u r e s ,  of 

b l ackma i l ,  and t h e s e  l o u s e s  have had t o  submit t o  t h e s e  

twenty d i f f e r e n t  s i t u a t i o n s .  

These people  w i l l  never  b e  people  aga in ,  

because  you have des t royed  them. They w i l l  never  b e  

decen t  people  o r  looked a t  d e c e n t l y  by our  community. 
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The m a j o r i t y  of them w i l l  have  t o  d i s a p p e a r ,  b e c a u s e  t h e y  

w i l l  n e v e r  b e  a b l e  t o  l o o k  anyone i n  t h e  e y e  a g a i n ,  and  

t h e y  w i l l  have  t o  d i s a p p e a r  from p u b l i c  l i f e  w i t h  a n o t h e r  

i d e n t i t y ,  which i s  e x a c t l y  what you a r e  accustomed t o  do ,  

t o  g i v e  a  new i d e n t i t y  t o  t h e  p e r s o n  who t e s t i f i e s ,  s o  

t h a t  t h e y  w i l l  h e l p  you,  and  when you no  l o n g e r  need  them, 

you t u r n  them o v e r .  

Q Is it y o u r  t e s t i m o n y  t h a t  Agent  Wack i s  n o t  

r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  anybody else b e i n g  i n  j a i l  b u t  you? 

A I d o n ' t  t h i n k  t h a t  M r .  Wack i s  r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  

my b e i n g  i n  j a i l ,  b e c a u s e  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  I am i n  j a i l ,  I 

owe t h a t  t o  you,  b e c a u s e  when my b a i l  was p u t  up  you a s k e d  

them t o  r a i s e  it. 

Q Of c o u r s e ,  t h e  Judge  made t h e  d e c i s i o n .  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I o b j e c t .  H e  s h o u l d  

b e  a l l o w e d  t o  f i n i s h  h i s  answer ,  and  h e  s h o u l d  n o t  b e  

i n t e r r u p t e d  by M r .  Tabak. 

THE COURT: Y e s .  

You my f i n i s h  y o u r  answer .  

A You remember t h a t  when t h e y  se t  my b a i l ,  t h a t  

my community, my f a m i l y ,  my f r i e n d s  p u t  up  t h e i r  p r o p e r t y ,  

t h e  l i t t l e  b i t  o f  money t h a t  t h e y  g o t  t o g e t h e r ,  l i t t l e  by 

l i t t l e .  They managed t o  g e t  t o g e t h e r  a  c e r t a i n  amount 

o f  money, and t h e  day t h a t  t h e y  were t o  p r e s e n t  t h e  b a i l ,  

you a p p e a r e d ,  and t h e y  s a i d ,  no  b a i l .  
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Q And t h e  b a i l  was r e v i s e d  by a  Uni ted  S t a t e s  

D i s t r i c t  Judge;  r i g h t ?  

A Because you came i n  w i t h  a  l e t t e r ,  you remember? 

A l e t t e r  which t h e  Judge read,,'. a  l e t t e r  which was a  

t r a n s l a t i o n  i n  Span ish ,  from Spanish ,  a  l e t t e r  which my 

w i f e  wro t e ,  a  l e t t e r  i n  Span ish ,  which I never  saw, and 

t h a t  l e t t e r  was r ead  i n  t h e  c o u r t ,  and i t  s a i d  t h a t  I 

waived e v e r y t h i n g ,  t h a t  I was a  pe rson  who was go ing  t o  

f i g h t ,  and t h a t  my scene  was t o  t o  t h e  v e r y  end,  t h a t  I 

had a  l o t  of  enemies and a  m i l l i o n  o t h e r  t h i n g s .  

I have never  s een  t h e  copy i n  Span ish .  Where 

i s  i t ?  

Q A r e  you r e f e r r i n g  t o  t h e  l e t te r  where you 

c a l l e d  your  w i f e  a  coward, E x h i b i t  1019? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, may w e  see what 

l e t t e r  M r .  Tabak i s  r e f e r r i n g  t o ?  

MR. TABAK: 1019 i n  evidence.  

THE COURT: H e  i s  r e f e r r i n g  t o  E x h i b i t  1019 

i n  evidence.  

THE WITNESS: May I t a k e  i t  o u t ?  

THE COURT: S u r e l y .  You may t a k e  i t  o u t ,  and 

you may r ead  it. 

(Pause. ) 

Q Now t h a t  you have r ead  t h e  l e t t e r ,  you wro t e  

t h a t  l e t t e r ,  d i d n ' t  you? 
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A No, s i r .  How i s  i t  t h a t  you have it and 

my w i f e  never  r ece ived  i t ?  

Q I t  i s  a copy, a carbon copy. 

A A carbon copy, and it seems t o  have my o r i g i n a l  

s i g n a t u r e  on it. You r e a l l y  d i d  a good job. 

Q That  i s  j u s t  one more a t t emp t  by t h e  Govern- 

ment -- 

A L e t  m e  t e l l  you something, because  I was 

c o n s u l t i n g  w i th  my lawyers .  

I remember, when I was a f u g i t i v e  t h a t  I went 

by t h e  p l a c e  where I had my o f f i c e ,  and I saw t h e  Fede ra l  

o f f i c e r s  of t h e  FBI o u t s i d e  my o f f i c e ,  and I saw them 

going  i n t o  my o f f i c e ,  and i n  my o f f i c e  t h e r e  was a whole 

p i l e  of pape r s ,  and you took t h o s e ,  I wouldn ' t  b e  a t  a l l  

s u r p r i s e d  t o  see a l o t  of my papers  end up t h e r e .  

And they  took my t y p e w r i t e r ,  and they  took 

my p r i v a t e  papers  and a m i l l i o n  o t h e r  t h ings .  

I never  saw t h a t ,  nor  does my family  know 

what happened t o  t h a t .  

You have had a l o t  of t i m e  t o  p r epa re  t h i s ' c r a p .  

One more, what does  t h a t  ma t t e r ?  

But it does s u r p r i s e  m e  t h a t  my wi fe  never  

r ece ived  t h i s  l e t t e r ,  and t h i s  i s  t h e  f i r s t  t ime  t h a t  1 

have seen  i t r  because  t h e  only  t h i n g  t h a t  was i n  my 

hands was a copy i n  Engl i sh ,  never t h i s  one. 
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I t  i s  t r u e  t h a t  t h e  o t h e r  day I r e c e i v e d  a  

copy,  where t h e  FBI had s e n t  something though t h e  m a i l ,  

where my c o r r e s p o n d e n c e  was b e i n g  v i o l a t e d .  I t  i s  

p o s s i b l e  t h a t  something s t r a n g e  happend t h e r e ,  t o o .  

Q A f t e r  y o u r  b a i l  was reset, i s n ' t  it a  f a c t  

thawt  you a p p e a l e d  it t o  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  C o u r t  o f  ~ p p e a l s ?  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q And t h e  th ree - Judge  p a n e l  unanimously l e f t  t h e  

b a i l  where it had been se t  by l h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  D i s t r i c t  

Judge?  

A Y e s .  I do b e l i e v e  it was t h a t  way. 

Q So you d i d  n o t  p e r s o n a l l y  se t  y o u r  b a i l ?  

A You were t h e  one  who made t h e  kecommendation, 

s o  you a r e  t h e  one  who makes a l l  t h e  s t r i n g s  go h e r e ,  you 

and y o u r  o f f i c e .  

Q W e  t e l l  t h e  Judges  what t o  do ,  and t h e  Judges  

d o n ' t  t h i n k  on t h e i r  own? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, he  i s  b e i n g  a rgu-  

m e n t a t i v e  t o  t h e  w i t n e s s .  

Q W i l l  you e x p l a i n  what you meant by y o u r  

s t a t e m e n t ?  

THE COURT: The w i t n e s s  h a s  made a  r e s p o n s e ,  

and  1 w i l l  l e t  it s t a n d .  I do c o n s i d e r  t h e  q u e s t i o n  

argurnenat ive ,  b u t  he  h a s  made t h e  s t a t e m e n t .  

Q W i l l  you e x p l a i n  what you meant  by your  s t a t e -  
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A I am s u r e  w i t h o u t  t h e  Judges  having t o  go 

a long  w i t h  what you s a y ,  and I was q u i t e  c l e a r  t h a t  t h e  

Judges  have t h e i r  own way of doing t h i n g s ,  and I am s u r e  

t h a t  none of you can change t h e  m e n t a l i t y  o f  any Judge,  

because  t h e y  a r e  t h e  ones  who have t h e  r e s p o n s i b i l i t y  of 

doing t h i n g s  c o r r e c t l y ,  thank God, because  i f  n o t ,  woe 

i s  m e .  

I f  it were up t o  you, you would have a l r e a d y  

d e s t r o y e d  m e ,  b u t  t hanks  t o  t h e  Jtidge, who even brought  

my b a i l  down, b u t  what happened, you s a i d  t h a t  i f  I g o t  

o u t  w i t h  t h a t  b a i l  t h e y  would p u t  $10 m i l l i o n  b a i l  on m e  

i n  Miami, and you unders tand  t h a t  I d o n ' t  even have a 

c e n t  t o  pay my lawyers .  Where t h e  d e v i l  am I going t o  

g e t  t h e  money t o  pay my b a i l ?  

Nor am I going t o  submit  a l l  of my people  i n  

e x i l e  t o  t h e  t a c t i c s  t h a t  you have been u s ing  up t o  now, 

f o r c i n g  them t o  p i l l a g e  t h e i r  own pocketbooks and p u t t i n g  

o u r  men i n  p r i s o n ,  i n n o c e n t l y ,  t o  f o r c e  them t o  look f o r  

l awyers  i n  o r d e r  t o  d r a i n  o u r  economy. 

For  t h a t  r eason  I dec ided  n o t  t o  appea l  t h e  

b a i l  any l o n g e r ,  and I t o l d  my fami ly  t o  f o r g e t  a b o u t  t h e  

b a i l ,  t h a t  I was go ing  t o  remain i n  j a i l ,  and I would 

w a i t  u n t i l  t h e  day of t h e  t r i a l ,  because  I was no l o n g e r  

w i l l i n g  t o  go a long  w i t h  t h e  Government's games f o r  them 
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t o  b e  e x p l o i t i n g  t h e  m e n t a l i t y  of t h e  peop le  i n  e x i l e ,  

t h e i r  pocke t s ,  because  it i s  q u i t e  d i f f i c u l t  f o r  them t o  

g e t  t h e  money t h a t  t h e y  do e a r n ,  and t h e  Government does  

n o t  t a k e  t h a t  i n t o  c o n s i d e r a t i o n .  

Cons ider ing  t h a t  a t  t h a t  t i m e  t h e r e  was a 

series of c o m p a t r i o t s  i n  t h e  same c i r cums tances ,  and 

a p p a r e n t l y ,  w i t h  t h e  i n v e s t i g a t i o n  of  t h e  grand ju ry  and 

t h e  Government b r i n g i n g  i n  more peop l e  t o  t h e  grand j u r y ,  

a  p a n i c  was c r e a t e d  i n  t h e  streets,  and people  g o t  

s c a r e d ,  and I r e f u s e d  t o  t a k e  any p a r t  o f  t h a t  s i t u a t i o n ,  

and I dec ided  t o  s t e p  back s o  t h a t  t h e  Defense League 

of Cubans would t a k e  charge  of t h e  o t h e r  companions, and 

I dec ided  t o  w a i t  f o r  my t u r n  i n  my t r i a l ,  which gave 

you t h e  t i m e  t h a t  you wanted t o  p r epa re  t h e  c d s e ,  t o  

r e a l l y  p u t  a  go ld  c l a s p  on t h e  whole t h i n g  and t o  g e t  

h o l d  of Necuze, Gonzalez,  J u s t o  Rodriguez and o t h e r  

peop l e  who l a t e r  on backed o u t ,  and I have knowledge of  

t h a t ,  b u t  I do n o t  i n t e n d  t o  mention t h a t  h e r e ,  and you 

w e l l  know t h a t  you prepared  you r se l f  v e r y  w e l l .  

You remember t h a t  I was f i v e  months ;and a 

it ove r  f i v e  months and t h e n  t h e  a c c u s a t i o n s  w e r e  made 

a g a i n s t  m e .  I d o n ' t  know why t h a t  happened, b u t  I 

unders tand  t h a t  a  person i s  supposed t o  b e  charged i n  

t h e  f i r s t  t e n  days  o r  t h i r t y  days  and t h a t  y o u ' r e  s a y i n g  

t h a t  you d i d n ' t  have any i dea  of my coope ra t i ng  w i t h  you, 
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b u t  you s e n t  me t o  O t i s v i l l e  under  f a l s e  p r e t e n s e s ,  and 

you s e n t  t h e  l awyer ,  Walpe -- 

THE COURT : Walpin. 

A (Cont inu ing)  -- Walpin, t o  c a r r y  messages o r  

t o  b r i n g  a  message t o  have a n  i n t e r v i e w  w i t h  you, and 

i n t e r v i e w  which I r e f u s e d  t o  do. 

You remember t h a t  I accep t ed  aon ly  because  I 

d i d n ' t  have any i n t e n t i o n  of s ay ing  any th ing ,  and I took  

some n o t e s ,  and I checked them, and I have some minu tes  

t h a t  I t ook  down, and I was a n a l y z i n g  more o r  less what 

happened,  and I saw what you o f f e r e d  a t  t h a t  t i m e .  

You o f f e r  m e  and my f a m i l y  a  new i d e n t i t y .  . . 

You o f f e r e d  me p r o t e c t i o n  f o r  me and my fami ly .  You 
, -..-+. 

o f f e r e d  m e  t o  g e t  r i d  of  s e v e r a l  cha rge s .  You p r a c t i c a l l y  - . .  , 

o f f e r e d  t o  p u t  m e  o u t  on t h e  s treet  aga in .  . ---.. - .  
A l l  I had t o  

do was t e s t i f y .  You t o l d  m e  abou t  a l l  t h e  peop l e  who 

were c o o p e r a t i n g  a g a i n s t  m e .  I was shown a n  enormous 

amount of papers  and s t a t e m e n t s  and  t a p e s  of  d i f f e r e n t  

c o m p a t r i o t s  who were t e s t i f y i n g  and who were c o o p e r a t i n g  

w i t h  you and t h a t  it was b e t t e r  f o r  m e  t o  c o o p e r a t e  because  

t h o s e  peop l e  were go ing  t o  do it. 

But many of them were w a i t i n g  f o r  m e ,  s o  I 

would t e s t i f y ,  and a f t e r  s e e i n g  m e  do  i t  they  would a l l  

come. 

For  t h a t  r e a son  I t o l d  you and t o l d  you I 
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d i d n ' t  c a r e  what o t h e r s  were go ing  t o  do b u t  t h a t  I never  

would t e s t i f y  f o r  you,  and t h a t  s i t u a t i o n  took  on t h r e e  

o r  f o u r  d i f f e r e n t  o c c a s i o n s ,  and each  t i m e  you k e p t  t i g h t e n -  

i n g  up more, t i g h t e n i n g  it up. 

(Continued on t h e  n e x t  page . )  
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On a n o t h e r  o c c a s i o n ,  you t h r e a t e n e d  my f a m i l y .  

You s a i d  t h a t  i f  I d i d n ' t  c o o p e r a t e  w i t h  you ,  t h a t  you 
" -,+- . . . a  ."  *. 

would t e l l  t h e  p e o p l e  i n  e x i l e  t h a t  I had  denounced t h e  - + 

whole  group and you remember t h a t  I n e v e r  opened my 

mouth,  t h a t  I was comple te ly  s i l e n t  t h e  whole t i m e ,  and  

you remember t h a t  you t h r e a t e n e d  t o  t e l l  t h e  peop le  who 

were d e a l i n g  w i t h  d r u g s  t h a t  I h a d  g i v e n  t h a t  i n f o r m a t i o n  

t o  t h e  government and t h a t  t h o s e p e o p l e  were i n  j a i l  
- - --....~. -.".. . " * . 

b e c a u s e  o f  t h a t  i n f o r m a t i o n ,  and t h a t  t h o s e  peop le  were 

r e a l l y  b i g  whee l s  i n  t h e  d r u g  i n d u s t r y ,  t h a t  t h e y  were 

v e r y  power fu l  p e o p l e ,  and t h a t  t h o s e  p e o p l e  were t r y i n g  

t o  f i n d  a way t o  h u r t  my f a m i l y  and that i f  I d i d n ' t  

c o o p e r a t e  w i t h  you and w i t h  t h e  government ,  you were 

g o i n g  t o  l e t  t h a t  i n f o r m a t i o n  o u t ,  and I s a i d  n o t h i n g .  

You s a i d  t o  m e  t h a t  I w a s  a coward 

b e c a u s e  I d i d n '  t s a y  a n y t h i n g ,  because  I d i d n ' t  c o o p e r a t e  

w i t h  you and b e c a u s e  I l e t  t h a t  s i t u a t i o n  go on ,  and I 

t o l d  you t h a t  I n e v e r  would t e s t i f y .  Tha t  was a t  t h e  

e n d ,  when I was ready  t o  l eave .  

And t h e n  there was a moment when a l l  o f  t h a t  

ended and I h a d  a n o t h e r  i awyer ,  and t h e n  I had  an 

interview!:with M r .  A g u i l a r  and you and t h e  D i s t r i c t  A t to rney  

f o r  M i a m i ,  t h e  same s i g n a t u r e  which a p p e a r s  h e r e ,  and h e  

o f f e r e d  m e  t h e  same t h i n g ,  and you o f f e r e d  t o  g e t  r i d  

of t h e  charges i n  Miami i f  I coopera ted  and t e s t i f i e d  
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a g a i n s t  a  whole b i g  group o f  o t h e r  peop l e ,  and I s a i d  

t h a t  I d i d n ' t  have t o  t e s t i f y  a g a i n s t  anybody, t h a t  

I d i d n ' t  know a n y t h i n g  a b o u t  anyone,  and t h e y  s a i d  

t h a t  t h e y  were r e a l l y  go ing  t o  s i n k  m e .  

You t o l d  him t h a t  between t h e  two o f  you ,  

t h a t  you would f i n d  a way t o  keep  m e  from e v e r  g e t t i n g  o u t  

f r e e  a g a i n ,  t h a t  I would r o t  i n  a j a i l ,  t h a t  I s h o u l d  

t h i n k  abou t  it w e l l ,  and I t o l d  you t h a t  I wouad run 

t h a t  r i s k ,  t h a t  I p r e f e r r e d  t o  come h e r e  b e f o r e  a j u ry  

and t a k e  t h a t  r i s k ,  b u t  t h a t  I neve r  would t e s t i f y  f o r  

you ,  and h e r e  I am. 

Q I n  o t h e r  words ,  t h e  government t o l d  you 

t h a t  i f  you would b e  a  man and t e s t i f y ,  t h e  government 

would t r y  t o  p r o t e c t  your  fami ly?  

A I remember t h a t  you t o l d  me t h a t  it w a s  

e a s i e r  t o  t e s t i f y  t h a n  t o  t r y  t o  t a k e  t h i s  p o s i t i o n ,  and 

I t o l d  you t h a t  it was e a s i e r  f o r  you b u t  n o t  f o r  a 

d e c e n t  man and a  man w i t h  p r i n c i p l e s  to  s i t  i n  a  

s e a t  l i k e  t h i s  and t o  t e s t i f y  a g a i n s t  h i s  awn compatr iot is  

when it wasn't t r u e ,  just in order to go along w i t h  t h e  

game, i n  o r d e r  t o  s a v e  my m n  neck. 

I n  f a v o r  of my f ami ly ,  I am s o r r y ,  because  o f  

my f ami ly  , I am s o r r y  because  ,of  a l l  o f  my c o m p a t r i o t s ,  

if because  o f  your  c o n s p i r i n g ,  i f  because  o f  t h e  s c e n e  

you have drawn h e r e ,  because  of t h i s p a c k a g e  which you have 
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Q I s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  t h a t  when M r .  Walpin was 

s t i l l  r e p r e s e n t i n g  you,  t h a t  you you wanted t o  t h i n k  

a b o u t  t h e  government ' s  o f f e r  and t h a t  t o  buy some t i m e  

w i t h  the Cuban community, which was g i v i n g  you a l o t  o f  

p r e s s u r e ,  t h a t  you wanted t h e r e  t o  b e  a phony h e a r i n g  

b e f o r e  a m a g i s t r a t e  where t h e  government would make b e l i e v e  

that  somebody o t h e r  t h a n  you had been t h e  i n fo rman t  i n  t h e  

compla in t?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I o b j e c t  t o  t h e  

q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: Grounds? 

MR. AGUILAR: W e l l ,  your  Honor, I t h i n k  t h e r e  

i s  no  good- fa i th  f ounda t i on  f o r  t h i s  p a r t i c u l a r  q u e s t i o n ,  

and i t  is  comple te ly  i r r e l e v a n t  a s  t o  what i s  go ing  o n  i n  

t h i s  c a s e .  

MR. TABAK: I t h i n k  t h e r e  i s  an  obvious  

w i t n e s s  who can t e s t f f y  who t h e  d e f e n s e  i s  f r e e  t o  

c a l l  i f  t h e y  want  t o  know i f  t h e r e  i s  a good- fa i th  b a s i s :  

THE COURT: I w i l l  . l e t  you ask  t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

A {Could you p l e a s e  r e p e a t  t h e  que$. t ion? 

CQues t ion  r ead )  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, b e f o r e  h e  answers 

t h e  q u e s t i o n ,  may w e  have  a s i d e  bar? I have a r e a l  concern 
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a s  t o  t h e  w i t n e s s  M r .  Tabak s a i d  I shou ld  c a l l  t o  

conf i rm o r  deny t h i s ,  and I would l i k e  t o  make i t  c l e a r  

on the r e c o r d  why I made t h e  o b j e c t i o n  b e f o r e ?  

THE COURT: Very w e l l .  

( A t  t h e  s i d e  b a r )  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, t h e  reason  I 

o b j e c t e d  was I b e l i e v e  t h e  pe r son  M r .  Tabak i s  r e f e r r i n g  

t o  is  M r .  Walpin. I have i n t e r n a l  memorandums p r epa red  

by Ge ra ld  Walpin concern ing  t h i s  p a r t i c u l a r  c a s e ,  and 

I have a memorandum prepared  by h i s  o f  £ i c e  d a t e d  

August 30 which s a y s  t h a t  Arocena s t t i t d d  h e  dec ided  h e  

was go ing  t o  f i g h t  t h e  government and c o n t e s t  any cha rges  

f i l e d  a g a i n s t  him. 

W e  do n o t  i n t e n d  t o  c a l l  M r .  Walpin,  and I 

f e e l  t h e r e  i s  no good f a i t h  f o r  t h a t  q u e s t i o n ,  when 

I have memorandums from M r .  Walpin ' s  o f  f i c e  s a y i n g  t h a t  

n e v e r  happened. 

MR. TABAK: I f  M r .  Walpin w e r e  c a l l e d  t o  

t e s t i f y  by t h e  d e f e n s e ,  I have no doub t  he  would t e s t i f y  

t r u t h f u l l y  and I b e l i e v e  t h a t  h i s  t e s t imony  would b e  t h e  

fo l l owing :  That  b e f o r e  t h e  p r e l i m i n a r y  h e a r i n g  was h e l d ,  

M r .  Walpin c o n t a c t e d  m e  and informed m e  t h a t  M r .  Arocena 

was g e t t i n g  a l o t  o f  p r e s s u r e  from t h e  Cuban community 

t o  g e t  a Cuban lawyer  t o  vep lace  him, and Arocena wanted t o  

buy t i m e  t o  d e c i d e  whether  h e  would a c c e p t  a d e a l  w i t h  t h e  
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gove rnme n  t . 
M r .  Walpin f u r t h e r  a d v i s e d  m e  t h a t  what 

M r .  Arocena wanted done was t o  go ahead w i t h  t h e  

p r e l i m i n a r y  h e a r i n g  and a t  t h a t  h e a r i n g  f o r  t h e  d e f e n s e ,  

t o  ask  t h a t  t h e  unnamed in formant  i n  t h e  compla in t ,  who 

w e  a l l  knew was M r .  Arocena,  b e  r e v e a l e d ,  t h e  government 

t o  o b j e c t  and t h a t  b e f o r e  t h e  h e a r i n g  would b e  h e l d  

t h a t  M r .  Walpin and I go i n b  t h e  m a g i s t r a t e  and 

i n fo rm  him o f  t h e  s i t u a t i o n ,  e x p l a i n  w e  b o t h  knew 

M r .  Arocena was t h e  i n fo rman t  b u t  t h a t  M r .  Arocena d i d n '  t 

want  t h a t  i n f o r m a t i o n  t o  come o u t  and t o  g i v e  him more 

t i m e  t o  t h i n k  abou t  t h e  s i t u a t i o n ,  t h a t  =would have 

t h i s  h e a r i n g .  

I am s u r e  M r .  Walpin would f u r t h e r  t e s t i f y  

t h a t  a f t e r  I c o n s u l t e d  w i t h  my u n i t  c h i e f ,  S h i r a h  Neiman, 

and  w i t h  t h e  c h i e f  o f  t h e  Cr imina l  D iv i s i on  and w i t h  t h e  

Uni ted  S t a t e s  At to rney  h i m s e l f ,  M r .  G i u l i a n i ,  t h a t  t h e  

d e c i s i o n  was made by M r .  G i u l i a n i  p e r s o n a l l y  t h a t  h e  

would n o t  p e r m i t  any such s o r t  o f  sham h e a r i n g  t o  go forward 

o r  permit us  t o  make b e l i e v e  i t  w a s  a t h i r d  p a r t y  who was 
- - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - -  - - - - - -  - - - -  - - - - -  

t h e  c o n f i d e n t i a l  in fo rmant  . 
M r .  Walpin t o l d  m e  h e  t hough t  w e  w e r e  making 

a b i g  m i s t a k e ,  because  h e  f e l t  M r .  Arocena was s e r i o u s l y  

t h i n k i n g  abou t  t h e  s i t u a t i o n .  However, M r .  Walpin w a s  

informed M r .  G i u l i a n i ' s  p o s i t i o n  was immutable, t h a t  h e  
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would n o t  go a long  w i t h  any sham h e a r i n g ,  t h a t  w e  had 

p r o t e c t e d  M r .  Arocena l ong  enough by naming him a s  an 

unnamed co -consp i r a to r  i n  a compla in t  on which h e  w a s  be ing  

a r r e s t e d ,  and t h a t  M r .  Arocena cou ld  e i t h e r  waive t h e  

h e a r i n g ,  which w a s  h i s  r i g h t ,  o r  go t o  t h e  h e a r i n g  and n o t  

ask  t h a t  t h e  i n fo rman t  be d i s c l o s e d ,  and M r .  N a l p i n ,  

a f t e r  t e l l i n g  me t h a t  he  thought  w e  were making a mis take  

i n  t h e  o v e r a l l  p i c t u r e  f o r  t h i s  c a s e ,  informed m e  a day 

l a t e r  -- o r  a day la ter  I g o t  a  phone ca l l  from 

M r .  Pau l  Goldberger t h a t  M r .  Arocena o r  h i s  w i f e  had 

c o n t a c t e d  him and M r .  Goldberger w a s  going t o  come i n t o  

t h e  case. 

MR. AGUILAR: The government could  have 

c a l l e d  M r .  Walpin b e f o r e .  Now w e  have what h e  t o l d  

a l l e g e d l y  M r .  Tabak and what h e  wro t e  as an i n t e r n a l  

memo . f o x  t h i s  case. I d o n ' t  t h i n k  t h i s  whole l i n e  of  

q u e s t i o n i n g  -- 
THE COURT: Under t h e  c i rcumstandes  , I 

t h i n k  t h e  p o i n t  I have t o  determine i s  whether t h e  

_g_w-ergnent - - - - -  a t  t h i s  p o i n t  h a s  a good-fa i th  b a s i s  f o r  making 
- - - - - - -  - - - -  - - - - - - -  - - - - -  - - - -  

t h e  i n q u i r y  a I n  y i e w  of t h e  s t a t e m e n t s  j u s t  made by 

counse l  w i t h  r e g a r d  t o  matters a s  t o  which he  w a s  

p e r s o n a l l y  invo lved ,  I wodld sugges t  t h a t  t h e r e  is  a good- 

f a i t h  b a s i s .  Exac t ly  where t h i s  takes u s ,  i n  view o f  a l l  

o t h e r  t es t imony t h a t  I have heard  today ,  I am n o t  s u r e ,  
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b u t  i f  t h e  q u e s t i o n  t h a t  i s  p u t  t o  t h e  c o u r t  i s  does  t h e  

c o u r t  f i n d  t h a t  t h e  government h a s  a  good- fa i th  b a s i s  

f o r  making t h e  i n q u i r y ,  I s a y  on t h e  b a s i s  o f  t h e  

r e p r e s e n t a t i ~ n s ; ~ r w h i c h  have  j u s t  been made by M r .  Tabak, 

t h e  government does  have  a  g o o d - f a i t h  b a s i s  f o r  making t h e  

i n q u i r y  . 
I can see, M r .  A g u i l a r ,  t h e  p o i n t  t h a t  you 

made and t h e  r e a s o n  why you wished t o  come t o  the s i d e  

b a r ,  b u t  i n  view o f  t h e  s t a t e m e n t s  j u s t  made by M r .  Tabak 

w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  a  number o f  m a t t e r s  a s  t o  which h e  was 

p e r s o n a l l y  i n v o l v e d ,  I f i n d  t h e  government h a s  a good- fa i th  

b a s i s  f o r  t h i s  i n q u i r y .  

Is t h e r e  a n y t h i n g  f u r t h e r ?  

MR. TABAK: I would n o t e  f o r  the r e c o r d  t h a t  
\ 

o b v i o u s l y  i f  M r .  Walpin w a s  communicating a t  h i s  c l i e n t ' s  

d i r e c t  a  p o s i t i o n  t o  t h e  government,  t h a t  w a s  n o t  

v i o l a t i v e  o f  t h e  a t t o r n e y - c l i e n t  p r i v i l e g e  o r  a n y t h i n g  

else.  

THE COURT : An a t t o r n e y  who makes s t a t e m e n t s  

on h i s  c l i e n t ' s  b e h a l f  i n  r e p r e s e n t a t i o n  o f  h i s  c l i e n t  t o  

t h i r d  p a r t i e s  d o e s n ' t  have  t h e  r i g h t  t o  claim a  p r i v i l e g e ,  

a t  l e a s t  with r e g a r d  t o  t h e  matters r e v e a l e d  t o  t h e  t h i r d  

p a r t i e s .  

Thank you. 

C I n  open c o u r t )  
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THE COURT: You may p roceed ,  M r .  Tabak. 

MR. TABAK: A t  t h i s  p o i n t  I f o r g e t  w h e t h e r  t h e  

q u e s t i o n  w a s  answered. I b e l i e v e  i t  was n o t .  I would 

a s k  i t  b e  r e a d  back .  

(- Q u e s t i o n  r e a d )  

A A r e  you s u r e  t h a t  I was t h e  pe r son  o f  which you 

a r e  t a l k i n g  a b o u t ?  Because I d o n ' t  remember such a  t h i n g .  

a e c e u s e  i n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e ,  I have  a lways  b e e n  v e r y  

p roud  o f  my community and I have a lways  been v e r y  proud 

o f  o u r  p e o p l e  i n  exi le ,  and e s p e c i a l l y  a t  t h e  d i f f i c u l t  

t i m e  I am g o i n g  th rough  now, and t h a t  t h e y  have  behaved 

s o  w e l l  toward  m e  and i n  s p i t e  o f  a l l  t h e  p o i s o n  you have  

s p r e a d  and a l l  o f  t h e  d i v i s i o n  which you have  s p r e a d ,  

t h e y  n e v e r  p u t  any p r e s s u r e  o n  m e .  

On t h e  c o n t r a r y ,  t h e y  u n i t e d  around m e  more 

t h a n  e v e r .  They encouraged m e  more t h a n  e v e r  and how would 

I ever l e n d  mysel f  t o  something l i k e  t h a t ?  

F i n a l l y ,  n e v e r  would I have p r e s e n t e d  mysel f  t o  

any k i n d  o f  c r a p  l i k e  t h a t ,  when I have always s a i d  q u i t e  

c l e a r l y  t h a t  I would never  make any kind of  d e a l  w i t h  the 

government .  I am t i r e d  o f  r e p e a t i n g  i t ,  from t h e  v e r y  

b e g i n n i n g  u n t i l  t h e  end ,  s o  I a m  n o t  s u r p r i s e d  t h a t  you 

come o u t  w i t h  this now. I n e v e r  s a i d  such a  t h i n g .  

I n e v e r  spoke o f  any f i c t i t i o u s  h e a r i n g .  

Maybe t h a t  i s  a  u s u a l  p r a c t i c e  f o r  you,  b u t  I am 
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n o t  used  t o  t h a t .  Tha t  i s  t h e  r e a s o n  I s a y  maybe you made 

a m i s t a k e .  I d o n ' t  blame you f o r  t h a t .  

Q So i f  somebody would t e s t i f y  t h a t  t h a t  

i n  f a c t  d i d  happen,  t h a t  p e r s o n  would a l s o  be l y i n g ?  

A I know t h a t  t h a t  i s  a p r o d u c t  of  y o u r  imag ina t io r  

I f  3 n o t h e r  p e r s o n  wodld l e n d  h i m s e l f  t o  s a y i n g  s u c h  a t h i n g ,  

something which I doub t  v e r y  much, I d o n ' t  know what  would 

happen.  

Q You t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  Pedro  Remon 

i s  a good p e r s o n  and a good r e v o l u t i o n a r y .  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  I s a i d  it y e s t e r d a y  and I s a y  i t  

t o d a y ,  h e  i s  a g r e a t  r e v o l u t i o n a r y .  H e  i s  a f r i e n d  of  

mine and h e  i s  a v e r y  wor thy p e r s o n .  

Q d h a t  makes him a g r e a t  r evo lu t i lonary?  

A H e  i s  a man who i s  concerned w i t h  the 

l i b e r a t i o n  o f  o u r  c o u n t r y ,  a man who b e l i e v e s  i n  what  h e  i s  

d o i n g ,  and a man who h a s  n e v e r  b roken  t h e  laws i n  t h i s  

c o u n t r y ,  e x c e p t  t h e  problem which h e  had w i t h  t h e  c a r .  

I don1 t have  any knowledge o f  h i s  h a v i n g  had any o t h e r  

t r o u b l e .  

THE COURT: You a r e  s p e a k i n g  o f  t h e  i n c i d e n t  

i n d  e l l e v i l l e ,  N e w  J e r s e y ?  

THEdITNESS: Yes,sir. Up u n t i l  now, t h a t  is  

t h e  o n l y  knowledge I -have ,  and back f r o m t h a t  t i m e ,  I have  

t h e  b e s t  r e f e r e n c e s  r e g a r d i n g  him. I w a s  t a l k i n g  t o  him 
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p e r s o n a l l y  t h e  o t h e r  d a y ,  a  few h o u r s  b e f o r e  h e  was 

s e n t e n c e d .  I spoke t o  him a b o u t  a n  h o u r  and a h a l f  

and may it b e  s a i d  -- 
A D i d n ' t  you s a y  t h a t  h e  and I wanted t o  k i l l  

o u r s e l v e s ,  o r  t h a t  w e  wanted t o  k i l l  ' e a c h  o t h e r .  D i d n ' t  

you s a y -  t h a t  w e  were d e a d l y  enemies? Didn' t you u s e  

t h a t  a s  a  r e a s o n  t o  g i v e  him a  l o n g e r  s e n t e n c e ?  D i d n ' t  

you u s e  t h a t  a s  a: xeason t o  p u t  on a m i s e r a b l e  s e n t e n c e  t o  

t h e  rest o f  o u r  c o m p a t r i o t s  who a r e  i n  p r i s o n ?  D i d n ' t  

you u s e  t h a t  same argument i n  o r d e r  t o  p u t  m e  i n t o  t h e  

h o l e  and t o  s e p a r a t e  m e  from t h e  rest o f  t h e  p o p u l a t i o n ?  

Ahen  I came h e r e  and asked  you t o  p u t  m e  w i t h  t h e  rest 

o f  t h e  p o p u l a t i o n ,  a s  I d e s e r v e d  t o  be, t h e  f i r s t  t h i n g  

t h a t  you s a i d  t o  m e  was t h a t  t h e y  wanted  t o  k i l l  me, 

o r  t h a t  I wanted  t o  k i l l  them, and I c h a l l e n g e d  you,  

I c h a l l e n g e d  t h e  government t h a t  you p u t  us  t o g e t h e r ,  

t h a t  it was a l l  a  l i e ,  t h a t  it was j u s t  made up by 

you, t h a t  these were j u s t  c i r c u m s t a n c e s  t h a t  you were 

l o o k i n g  f o r  i n  o r d e r  t o  d i v i d e  u s ,  your  f a v o r i t e  weapon, 

t h e  weapon which you have  been  d e s t r o y i n g  u s  w i t h  l i t t l e  

b y  l i t t l e ,  o r  t r y i n g  t o  d e s t r o y  us  l i t t l e  by l i t t l e ,  l u c k i l y  

w e  are l e a r n i n g  y o u r  t ac t i cs ,  and w e  a r e  l e a r n i n g .  /J e are 

p r e p a r i n g  o u r s e l v e s  f o r  a f u t u r e  o f  n o t  f a l l i n g  a g a i n  

i n t o  t h a t  same t r a p ,  and  w e  have  t o  have  c o n f i d e n c e  i n  

o u r  b r o t h e r s  b e c a u s e  o n l y  o u r  u n i t y ,  t h e  u n i t y  o f  a l l  o f  
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us -- on ly  by o u r  u n i t y ,  can w e  go  back t o  o u r  c o u n t r y .  

W e  canno t  a l l ow  you t o  go on d i v i d i n g  us  i n  t h e  

m i s e r a b l e  way t h a t  you have been doing.  Tha t  i s  something 

v e r y  d i f f i c u l t  t h a t  w e  l e a r n e d  from you,  and w e  are t a k i n g  

n o t e  o f  t h a t ,  b ecause  some day you w i l l  have t o  answer 

b e f o r e  h i s t o r y  f o r  t h e  harm t h a t  you have done t o  o u r  

c o u n t r y  because  o f  p r o t e c t i n g  t h e  t y r a n t  who i s  t r e a d i n g  

on o u r  coun t ry  and who h a s  had o u r  coun t ry  as a p r i s o n e r  

f o r  a lmos t  more t h a n  25 y e a r s ,  t r y i n g  t o  d e s t r o y  a l l  o f  

t h e  f i g h t i n g  community. 

You want  t o  welcome C a s t r o  t o  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  

and you a r e  p r e p a r i n g  c o n d i t i o n s  f o r  agreement.  Tha t  i s  

wha t  t h i s  i s  a l l  abou t ,  because  I w a s n ' t  t h e  f i r s t  one ,  

n o r  am I t h e  l a s t  one.  I know t h a t  a f t e r  m e  t h e r e  w i l l  b e  

o t h e r s ,  t h e r e  w i l l  b e  more v i c t i m s ,  t h e r e  w i l l  b e  o t h e r  

peop l e  t o  come and s i t  r i g h t  h e r e  who w i l l  b e  d e s t r o y e d  

by  you. I hope t h a t  tomorrow h i s t o r y  w i l l  s i t  you h e r e  

on t h i s  c h a i r  and you w i l l  have t o  answer t o  o u r  peop le  

and t o  h i s t o r y , . w i t h  a ju ry  l i k e  t h i s  one  a s  w i t n e s s e s .  

You w i l l  n o t  b e  able t o  e s c a p e  from t h a t  judgment. You 

won ' t  b e  a b e l  t o  e s cape  from t h a t  v e r d i c t  e i t h e r .  

Q Since  you had such a l o n g  c h a t  w i t h  M r .  Remon, 

you a r e  o f  c o u r s e  f u l l y  aware t h a t  t h e  reason  h e  j u s t  

g o t  s e n t e n c e d  was f o r  a crime t h a t  h e  p leaded  g u i l t y  t o ,  

t o t a l l y  s e p a r a t e  and a p a r t  from t h e  3 e l l e v i l l e  i n c i d e n t ,  
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namely, d i sobeying  an o r d e r  of  a  f e d e r a l  d i s t r i c t  judge 

t o  t e a t i f y  under immunity? 

MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t  t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: I f  he knows. H e  s a i d  h e  had a 

c o n v e r s a t i o n  w i t h  t h e  man. 

MR. AGUILAR: 1 d o n ' t  know t h e  re levancy  o f  t h i s ,  

THE COURT: H e  d i d  make t h e  s t a t e m e n t  about  t h e  

on ly  involvement  t h e  man had w i t h  t h e  law was t h e  o t h e r  

i n c i d e n t ,  and you r e c a l l  t h a t  was t h e  one a t 3 e l l e v i l l e .  

I t h i n k  it i s  a p p r o p r i a t e .  

Overmled .  

A Could w e  h e a r  t h e  q u e s t i o n  aga in?  

THE COURT : C e r t a i n l y .  

( .Question r ead )  

A Y e s ,  s i r ,  I am aware o f  t h a t .  H e  exp l a ined  

it t o  me .  I know t h e  reason why h e  used t h a t  t a p e  of  

an  argument. I know why h e  went t o  t h e  grand j u r y  and why 

h e  w a s  conv ic t ed ,  because  he  d i d n ' t  go a long  w i t h  t h i s  

t y p e  of  Roman c i r c u s  p repared  by you and he  p r e f e r r e d ,  

t o g e t h e r  w i th  o t h e r  compa t r io t s ,  t o  s u f f e r  t h e  c i raumstance 

o f  t h o s e  c o n d i t i o n s  and n o t  t e s t i f y ,  which o f  cou r se  s e rved  

your  purposes ,  which i s  t o  p u t  everyone,  a l l  o f  t h e  heads 

i n t o  j a i l .  

I n  o t h e r  words,  he  s ave  you t i m e ,  i s n ' t  t h a t  

t r u e ?  
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Q Would you ag ree  t h a t  i t  i s  more honorab le  -- 
MR. AGUILAR: I d o n ' t  mean t o  i n t e r r u p t ,  

b u t  perhaps  t h e  i n t e r p r e t e r  may need a b r eak  a t  t h i s  t i m e .  

THEINTERPRETER: That  would be  very  n i c e .  

THE COURT: /J h e r e  i s  t h e  o t h e r  i n t e r p r e t e r ?  

M S .  KOHN: The o t h e r  i n t e r p r e t e r  had a dea th  

i n  h i s  f ami ly ,  and h e  had t o  l eave .  

THE COURT: M i s s  Fohn, who i s  o u r  c h i e f  c o u r t  

i n t e r p r e t e r ,  who I know you f i n d  f l u e n t  i n  Spanish ,  w i l l  

cover  f o r  M r .  Palmer f o r ,  s a y ,  f i v e  minutes  s o  w e  can move 

m a t t e r s  a long .  

MR. AGUILAR: No problem. 

M r .  Palmer, when:you a r e  ready ,  you can t h e n  

cove r  f o r  M s .  Kohn. 

MR. PALMER: I w i l l  do  t h a t .  

BY MR. TABAK: 

Q JV ou ld  you ag ree  t h a t  it i s  more honorab le  

f o r  someone t o  r e f u s e  t o  l i e  than  f o r  - someone t o  go ahead 

and l i e ?  

MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t .  

THE COURT: Grounds? 

MR. AGUILAR: Argumentative and it i s  a 

h y p o t h e t i c a l  t h i s  man cannot answer a t  this t i m e .  

THE COURT: I t  r e a l l y  i s  argumentat ive .  I 

w i l l  s u s t a i n  an o b j e c t i o n  on t h a t  ground. You may wish t o  
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r e s t r u c t u r e  your  i n q u i r y ,  b u t  t k o b  j e c t i o n  i s  s u s t a i n e d  

on t h e  grounds t h a t  t h e  q u e s t i o n  i s  argumentat ive .  

Q Do you t h i n k  it i s  honorable  f o r  a  person  

t o  t e l l  f a l s ehoods  t o  t r y  t o  g e t  o f f  o f  c e r t a i n  charges?  

A I do n o t  t h i n k  so .  

Q And t h a t  i s  why you a r e  t e s t i f y i n g  a s  t r u t h f u l l y  

today a s  you d i d  i n  t h e  grand ju ry?  

MR. AGUILAR: I am going t o  o b j e c t .  

THE COURT: Grounds? 

MR. AGUILAR: F i r s t  of  a l l ,  t h i s  q u e s t i o n  

h a s  been asked about  17 t i m e s  a l r e a d y ,  whether  he  i s  

t e s t i f y i n g  d i f f e r e n t l y  today  than  t h e  o t h e r  day,  and now 

h e  i s  a rgu ing  w i t h  t h e  w i t n e s s  and p u t t i n g  words i n t o  t h e  

w i t n e s s '  mouth t h a t  h e  never  t e s t i f i e d  t o .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  s u s t a i n  the o b j e c t i o n  on 

t h e  second ground,  argumentat ive .  

Q A few minutes ago you r e f e r r e d  t o  a  Roman c i r c u s  

/J h a t  i s  a  Roman c i r c u s ?  

A A roman c i r c u s ,  i t  was t h e  p l a c e  i n  which they  

w e r e  s a c r i f i c e d .  Le t  m e  see i f  I can remember t h e  name 

i n  Spanish:  The p l a c e  where t h e y  s a c r i f i c e d  people  who 

b e l i e v e d  i n  God. A t  t h a t  t i m e  t h e y  would b r i n g  them i n t o  

t h e  a r e n a  o r  t hey  would throw them i n t o  an a r ena  w i t h  l i o n s .  

Tha t  r e f e r s  t o  C h r i s t i a n s .  

Q Can you e x p l a i n  t o  t h i s  j u ry  why you f e e l  t h i s  
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t r i a l  i s  a Roman c i r c u s ?  

A With g r e a t  p l ea su re .  

F i r s t ,  because you never  gave m e  t h e  oppor tun i ty  

t o  defend  myse l f ,  because from t h e  moment i n  which I was 

apprehended,  you showed up i n  Miami, a long wi th  Agent Wack, 

who went t o  my home t r y i n g  t o  f i n d  my w i f e  t o  s c a r e  h e r  

and t o  t h r e a t e n  h e r ,  t o  l eave  a message wi th  h e r  t h a t  

t hey  had t o  speak w i t h  m e ,  t h a t  s h e  should remember t h a t  

I had -- I had t o  see them, i n  any e v e n t ,  t h a t  I had t o  

s e e  t h e  p r o s e c u t o r  because t h e r e  w e r e  impor tan t  t h i n g s  

t h a t  had t o  b e  d e a l t  w i t h .  That  was d e a l t  w i th  on s e v e r a l  

occas ions .  

They t r i e d  t o  c a l l  m e  i n  p r i s o n  on t h r e e  o r  

f o u r  occas ions .  Even on s e v e r a l  occas ions  when I was i n  

j a i l ,  o f f i c i a l s  from t h e  p r i s o n  came and I remember t h a t  

I was w i t h  ano the r  p r i s o n e r  i n s i d e  t h e  h o l e  and they  

s a i d ,  "There a r e  some FBI agen t s  t h a t  want t o  t a l k  t o  

you,'' and t h e  i n d i v i d u a l  who waswith m e  opened h i s  eyes  t o  

t h i s  s i z e  (1 i n d i c a t i n g )  and he  s a i d  t o  m e ,  w'ho a r e  you 

and why do youhave t o  t a l k  t o  t h e  FBG" And t h e  guy 

g o t  f r i g h t e n e d ,  and I s a i d ,  "I d o n ' t  have t o  t a l k  t o  

anyone. " 

&her, my fami ly  came, I s a i d  t o  M i r i a m ,  my w i f e ,  

t h . a t  i f  M r .  Wack go t  i n t o  c o n t a c t  w i th  h e r  a g a i n ,  t h a t  s h e  

should send him away, so  as t o  n o t  use ano the r  word. 
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.V hen my lawyer came, who was M i s s  C a r n e s o l t a ,  

s h e  came w i t h  t h e  message t h a t  t h e  prosecubor  wanted 

t o  see m e ,  t h a t  h e  had a message;  t o  g ive  m e ,  t h a t  I 

s h o u l d  look c a r e f u l l y  a t  t h e  pape r ,  a t  t h e  i n d i c t m e n t  

p a p e r s ,  t h a t  t h e r e \  was a l i n e  t h e r e  i n  which t h e y  were 

go ing  t o  s t a t e  t h a t  I had coopera ted  w i t h  t h e m ,  t h a t  

i w a s  t o  speak w i t h  t h e m  t o  s a y  i t ~ e x a c t l y .  

She s a i d  t o  m e ,  'N h a t  ' s  happening?" 

I s a i d  t o  h e r  I d i d n ' t  know what w a s  

happening.  I a l r e a d y  imagined what i t  w a s .  She t o l d  m e  

t h a t  Miriam had t o l d  h e r  t h a t  there were s t r a n g e  cars t h a t  

w e r e  go ing  around t h e  house.  

d hen w e  went  t o  c o u r t ,  w e  had an i n t e r v i e w  

w i t h  M r .  Tabak -- t h a t  i s  M i s s  C a r n e s o l t a ,  who d i d  n o t  

pe rmi t '  M r .  Tabak t o  b e  p r e s e n t .  

C Continued on n e x t  page) 
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THE COURT: I n o t e  t h a t  M r .  Palmer ha s  

r e t u r n e d ,  obv ious ly  r e f r e s h e d ,  and h a s  t aken  h i s  p l a c e .  

Q M r .  Arocena -- 
A I h a v e n ' t  f i n i s h e d  -- o r  do you want m e  t o  

f i n i s h  me? 

THE COURT: You may f i n i s h .  I f  you have  n o t  

f i n i s h e d  your  p r i o r  answer ,  you may do  so.  

A (Cont inu ing)  I remember when w e  w e r e  a t  t h a t  

i n t e r v i e w ,  t h e  Dis t r i c t  At to rney  was t r y i n g  t o  conv ince  m e  

t h a t  I shou ld  deny t h a t  t hey  would d e a l  w i t h  my c a s e  i n  

Miami and it would b e  t r a n s f e r r e d  h e r e  i n  New York, t h a t  

t h a t  would b e  b e t t e r  f o r  m e ,  because  o t h e r w i s e  t hey  

were go ing  t o  b r i n g  o u t  a  whole bunch of t h i n g s .  

What happened a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  I s a i d  t o  them, 

"What do  you have a g a i n s t  me?" 

H e  s a i d ,  "A m i l l i o n  t h i n g s .  I t ' s  b e s t  t h a t  

you go back t h e r e  w i t h  u s  and f o r  t h e  t r i a l  t o  t a k e  p l a c e  

t h e r e .  " 

A t  any rate,  he  s a i d  t o  m e  t h a t  t h e  m a j o r i t y  

of t h e  c h a r g e s  would b e  h e r e  i n  New York, and t h e n  I 

s t opped  him and I s a i d  t o  my lawyer ,  and I asked him 
p p p p p p p p p p p - p - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

wlietlier I -  wouldp have t o  respond t o  t h e  cha rge s  i n  Miami 

t h e r e ,  and s h e  s a i d  y e s ,  and t h e n  t h e  District  At to rney  

s a i d  y e s ,  it was t r u e  t h a t  I cou ld  f a c e  t h e  cha rge s  i n  

M i a m i  when I came back t o  New York and t h a t  I w a s  t aken  
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t h e r e  p r a c t i c a l l y  w i t h o u t  any knowledge of my l awyer ,  

a n d ,  a s  I e x p l a i n e d  b e f o r e ,  I was t a k e n  on a  c h a r t e r  

p l a n e  and b r o u g h t  h e r e  t o  t h e  MCC i n  New York and t aken  

t o  O t i s v i l l e ,  i f  I remember c o r r e c t l y .  

I was b r o u g h t  back s h o r t l y  a f t e r  t h a t  t o  

b e  p r e s e n t e d  b e f o r e  a  Judge.  A t  t h a t  t i m e ,  my l awyer  

was n o t  p r e s e n t .  I went back t o  O t i s v i l l e ,  and a f t e r  

t h a t  t i m e  t h e y  didn't  a l l o w  m e  t o  have M i s s  C a r n e s o l t a  any 

l o n g e r .  They s t a r t e d  l i t i g a t i o n s  o r  a rguments  w i t h  h e r .  

The Government began t o  s a y  t h a t  t h e r e  were l e g a l  problems,  

c o n f l i c t s  of i n t e r e s t ,  and t h e y  d i s q u a l i f i e d  h e r ,  and 

t h e n  t h e y  p u t  M r .  Wolpin on, and I s a i d  t h a t  I wanted t o  

f i n d  a  lawyer  of my own, and I k e p t  on s t r u g q l i n g  i n  t h a t  

s e n s e .  

The Government, t h i n k i n g  t h a t ,  l e t  m e  i n  

O t i s v i l l e  and k e p t  on m a n i p u l a t i n g  w i t h  my s i t u a t i o n .  

They l e f t  m e ,  a s  I s a i d  b e f o r e ,  i n  O t i s v i l l e ,  c o m p l e t e l y  

o u t  of c i r c u l a t i o n ,  w i t h o u t  any communication w i t h  t h e  

o u t s i d e  w o r l d ,  s o  t h a t  I would have  no c o n t a c t  w i t h  t h e  

d e f e n s e .  

A t  t h a t  t i m e ,  one  h a s  t o  remember, a s  I s a i d  

b e f o r e  h e r e ,  t h a t  M r .  Tabak gave  a n  o r d e r  a t  t h e  i n s t i t u -  

t i o n ,  I mean i n  O t i s v i l l e ,  t h a t  I shou ld  b e  a b l e  t o  have  

a c c e s s  t o  t h e  t e l e p h o n e  o n l y  once  a  month. 

When I had t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y ,  I t o l d  my w i f e  t o  
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look f o r  a n o t h e r  lawyer.  Indeed,  she  g o t  i n  touch  w i t h  

M r .  Goldberger ,  and when I s a i d  t o  do t h e  same t h i n g  w i t h  

M r .  Go ldberger ,  t hey  a p p l i e d  t h e  same s i t u a t i o n .  They 

g o t  r i d  of Goldberger ,  and I went on w i t h  Walpin. 

But s i n c e  I never  d i d  c a r e  f o r  M r .  Walpin, 

and w i t h  a l l  t h e  r e s p e c t  t o  M r .  Walpin, because  a f t e r  a l l ,  

he  was a  p r o f e s s i o n a l  pe rson ,  I f e l t  t h a t  my i n t e r e s t s  

were n o t  be ing  w e l l  r e p r e s e n t e d ,  and I wanted a  lawyer  of 

my own cho i ce .  

And I kep t  working and t r y i n g  i n  t h a t  d i r e c t i o n ,  

working i n  t h a t  d i r e c t i o n ,  and d u r i n g  a l l  t h i s  t i m e  I was 

admi t t ed  t o  hav ing  on ly  one c a l l  a  month, and s o  t h e  

day t h a t  I had t o  come t o  c o u r t  was g e t t i n g  c l o s e r ,  and 

i f  I d i d n ' t  g e t  a n o t h e r  lawyer I would have t o  remain w i th  

M r .  Walpin. 

I had a l r e a d y  t o l d  my w i f e  t o  g e t  a n o t h e r  

lawyer ,  and s h e  g o t  M r .  O r t a  f o r  m e .  M r .  O r t a  went t o  

see m e ,  and he  d i d n ' t  l a s t  a t  a l l .  Tha t  m i s e r a b l e  man, 

I t h i n k  about  a  month l a t e r ,  abou t  a  month and a  h a l f  

l a t e r ,  he found a  machine-gun i n  h i s  work, and he  s a i d  

t o  m e ,  " ~ d u a r d o ,  I d o n ' t  know what t h i s  i s  a l l  a b o u t , "  

and I s a i d ,  "I know what t h i s  is  a l l  about .  They gave 

you a  s e t u p ,  They se t  you up s o  t h a t  you would n o t  

r e p r e s e n t  me." 

And I s a i d  t o  M i r i a m ,  "Immediately look f o r  
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a n o t h e r  lawyer  f o r  m e .  " 

Then I g o t  M r .  M r .  A g u i l a r  and M r .  Fernandez ,  

and I have them now, thank  God, up t o  now. 

And when I s a i d  Roman c i r c u s ,  and I r e f e r  

t o  t h a t  e x a c t l y ,  and t h e  d e s t i n y  of t h o s e  C h r i s t i a n s  

which t h e y  used t o  l e t  l o o s e  among t h e  l i o n s ,  w i t h o u t  

any weapons, w i thou t  any way of de fend ing  themse lves ,  

naked,  and t h e  head of s t a t e  up above,  t h e  ones  who 

caused  t h a t  s i t u a t i o n ,  a l l  t h e y  were l ook ing  f o r  was t h e  

b lood and t h  e x t e r m i n a t i o n  of t h e s e  C h r i s t i a n s ,  and a l l  

I can  do i s  n o t i c e  t h e  connec t i on  between t h a t  and my 

c a s e  and blame you, M r .  Tabak, because  you a r e  t h e  c a u s e  

of t h i s .  

You a r e  t h e  person who has  been maneuvering 

i n  my s i t u a t i o n .  T h i s  i s  your c a s e .  T h i s  i s  you r  c a s e ,  

and t h i s  i s  your  o p p o r t u n i t y  t o  become a  b i g  person.  

Here you ' ve  g o t  t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y  t o  go up t h e  l a d d e r  t o  

become a  g r e a t  p o l i t i c i a n  some day.  Who knows up t o  

what p o i n t  you may g e t ?  But I hope it is  n o t  go ing  t o  

b e  a t  my expense  no r  a t  t h e  c o s t  o f  any o u r  compa t r i o t s .  

Becasuse of t h a t ,  I canno t  wish you good l uck .  

I t h i n k  I exp l a ined  t o  you what t h e  meaning of 

a  Roman c i r c u s  i s .  

Q W e l l ,  s i n c e  I am n o t  going to be  d e c i d i n g  

whether  you a r e  g u i l t y  o r  i nnocen t ,  can  you e x p l a i n  how 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS. US. COURTHOUSE 

FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



mps Arocena - c r o s s  2366 

t h i s  t r i a l  i s  a Roman c i r c u s ?  

A When I t a l k  a b o u t  a Roman c i r c u s ,  I s p e a k  

l o o k i n g  a t  you. I d o n ' t  ment ion  t h e  Judge;  I d o n ' t  

men t ion  t h e  j u r y .  I am ment ion ing  you a l l .  I ment ion  

them, t h e  Government. You a r e  t h e  o n e s  who a r e  g u i l t y .  

You a r e  t h e  ones  who have  d i v i d e d  u s .  

The Judge  h a s  n o t h i n g  t o  do w i t h  it. The j u r y  

h a s  n o t h i n g  t o  do w i t h  it. They p u t  a r e d  h o t  p o t a t o  

i n  t h e  J u d g e ' s  hand. I t  was worse  w i t h  ; h e  j u r y .  They 

a r e  t h e  o n e s  t h a t  have  t o  d e c i d e .  

I have  n e v e r  i m p l i c a t e d  t h e  Judge  o r  t h e  j u r y .  

I t  i s  j u s t  you,  you a l l .  

Q So you a g r e e  you a r e  h a v i n g  a f a i r  t r i a l ?  

A I t h i n k  t h a t  I have  t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y ,  a p a r t  f rom 

what you have  set  up h e r e ,  t h a t  f o r  t h e  j u r y  and t h e  Judge  

t o  make t h e i r  own d e c i s i o n .  They know what t h e y  have  

t o  do. They d o n ' t  have  t o  a s k  you n o r  m e  n o r  anyone. 

I t  i s  t h e i r  c o n s c i e n c e .  

I f  I am g u i l t y ,  I am g u i l t y .  I f  I am i n n o c e n t ,  

I am i n n o c e n t .  Whatever happens ,  I w i l l  t a k e  it a s  it 

comes, and I have  no problem i n  t h a t  a s p e c t .  

Moreover ,  I w i l l  remain q u i e t l y ,  b e c a u s e  a t  

l e a s t  I know t h a t  I have  g o t  you o f f  my back ,  and I a l r e a d y  

know, i t  d o e s n ' t  m a t t e r  what you say .  My d e s t i n y  d o e s  

n o t  depend on you. I t  depends  on them and on him, on h i s  
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Honor and on t h e  j u ry .  T h a t ' s  a l l .  

Q So i n  a  word, you - - b e l i e v e  you a r e  having a  . - .  - .  

f a i r  t r i a l ?  ... . - -a- .-- h 

A Regarding t h e  m e n t a l i t y  of t h e  j u r y ,  ye s .  
I . . * . * - -  - 78 mv--. n ...- a, < . 

I t r u s t  t h a t  comple te ly .  I d o n ' t  have t h e  s l i g h t e s t  --. .-.-- * . "  

doubt .  ... . 

Q Now, i n  t h e  mee t ing  t h a t  you t e s t i f i e d  a b o u t  

w i t h  M i s s  C a r n e s o l t a  i n  Miami, a f t e r  you were a r r e s t e d ,  

you r e c a l l  you d i d  n o t  want Agent Wack t h e r e ,  s o  a n o t h e r  

A s s i s t a n t  Uni ted  S t a t e s  A t to rney ,  named Schnapp s a t  i n ?  

A I never  asked r o  Wack t o  b e  t h e r e  o r  n o t  t o  

b e  t h e r e .  I w a s n ' t  a t  a l l  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  t h a t  i n t e r v i e w .  

I t  was you. You a r e  t h e  one who o r c h e s t r a t e d  t h a t .  

You a r e  t h e  one who i nven t ed  a l l  t h o s e  t h i n g s .  Every th ing  

came o u t  a f  t e rwa rds  . 
You a l s o  had t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y  i n  a  h e a r i n g  

a f t e r w a r d s  t h a t  you had p u t  down t h a t  I had t r a n s m i t t e d  

some s i g n a l s ,  and I was d i s c u s s i n g  t h a t  w i t h  my lawyer ,  

and I r e a l l y  laughed abou t  t h a t .  

The same way a s  a l l  t h e  o t h e r  t h i n g s  t h a t  

have happened, because  you s a i d  t h a t  you w e r e n ' t  s a t i a t e d  

w i t h  e v e r y t h i n g  t h a t  t h e r e  i s .  You w e r e  n o t  i n  agreement ,  

o r  you were n o t  s u r e ,  and you want t o  p u t  on more and more 

and more. 

So I d o n ' t  know what you are r e f e r r i n g  t o  a t  
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t h i s  moment, t h i s  t a c t i c .  

Q So i f  A s s i s t a n t  Uni ted  S t a t e s  A t t o r n e y  Schnapp 

were t o  t e s t i f y  t h a t  a t  t h i s  m e e t i n g  you were s e c r e t l y  

s e n d i n g  s i g n a l s  b e c a u s e  you d i d n ' t  want M i s s  C a r n e s o l t a  

t o  know t h a t  you had been t h e  i n f o r m a n t  i n  t h e  c o m p l a i n t ,  

t h e n  he  would b e  l y i n g ;  c o r r e c t ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I am go ing  t o  o b j e c t  

t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: S u s t a i n e d .  

MR. AGUILAR: Move t o  s t r i k e ,  your Honor. 

THE COURT: I s u s t i n e d  t h e  o b j e c t i o n .  I have 

a l r e a d y  i n d i c a t e d  t o  t h e  j u r y  what t h e y  a r e  t o  do  w i t h  a  

q u e s t i o n  t h a t  i s  asked  and an  o b j e c t i o n  t o  which h a s  been 

s u s t a i n e d .  

MR. AGUILAR: Thank you,  y o u r  Honor. 

Q M r .  Arocena,  i s n ' t  it a  f a c t  t h a t  you chose  

n o t  t o  have  a  removal h e a r i n g  i n  F l o r i d a ?  

MR. AGUILAR: I w i l l  o b j e c t  t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  a l l o w  it. 

Q I n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e ,  I d o n ' t  have  now n o r  d i d  

I have  a t  t h a t  t i m e  any i d e a  a b o u t  l e g a l  t e c h n i c a l i t i e s .  

My lawyer  a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  M i s s  C a r n e s o l t a ,  t o l d  m e  t h a t  I 

c o u l d  come h e r e ,  b e c a u s e  a t  any r a t e  I would have t o  go 

t h r o u g h  the  o t h e r  t r i a l  t h e r e ,  and I t h i n k  t h a t  e x a c t l y  

b e c a u s e  of my i g n o r a n c e  t h a t  you have  been u s i n g  m e ,  
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b e c a u s e  l e g a l l y  I know n o t h i n g .  

Bur you know t h a t  I have  been i n  t h i s  c o u n t r y  

f o r  e i g h t e e n  y e a r s ,  and e x c e p t  f o r  t h e  s i t u a t i o n  which I 

have  r i g h t  now, I have  n e v e r  had any problems w i t h  j u s t i c e .  

I have  n e v e r  c r o s s e d  t h e  t h r e s h o l d  of a c o u r t .  I d o n ' t  

know a n y t h i n g  a b o u t  t h i n g s  r e f e r i r i n g  t o  j u s t i c e .  

Ia r e g a r d  t o  what  you a r e  a s k i n g  m e ,  i t  i s  

a s  i f  you were s p e a k i n g  t o  my enemies.  My lawyer  s a i d  

t o  m e  -- my lawyer  a sked  m e  whe the r  I wanted t o  come t o  

mew York, and I asked  h e r  i f  it was n e c e s s a r y  t o  come t o  

N e w  York and s h e  s a i d ,  " Y e s ,  you have  t o  come t o  New York." 

I had no o t h e r  o p t i o n ,  no o t h e r  a l t e r n a t i v e .  

Q So t h e r e f o r e ,  a f t e r  t h e  mee t ing  w i t h  M i s s  

C a r n e s o l t a  and M r .  Schnapp and m e ,  you v o l u n t a r i l y  n o t  

t o  have  a removal h e a r i n g  i n  F l o r i d a  and b e  t r a n s f e r r e d  t o  

N e w  York? 

A L e t  m e  t e l l  you something.  W e  have been 

t a l k i n g  a b o u t  t h i n g s ,  t a l k i n g  4bou t  t h i n g s  a b o u t  d r u g s .  

You remember when I was i n  j a i l  i n  M i a m i  t h e y  i n j e c t e d  

m e  i n  Miami, a l s o .  T h a t  was p r o t e s t e d  t h e r e .  Do you 

have  any  knowledge a b o u t  t h a t ?  

Q I t h i n k  t h e  q u e s t i o n  c a l l e d  f o r  a 

answer.  

THE COURT: You d i d  n o t  rest ict  t 

y e s  -or-no 

.he q u e s t i o n  

t o  a y e s  o r  no answer.  T h e r e f o r e  t h e  w i t n e s s  had made 
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t h e  r e s p o n s e  t h a t  he  d i d .  

I s u g g e s t  i f  you want a  yes-or-no answer  

you s h o u l d  i n d i c a e  t h a t  when you pose  t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

Q Would you p l e a s e  answer w i t h  a y e s  o r  no,  

w h e t h e r  you v o l u n t a r i l y  c h o s e  n o t  t o  have a  removal  

h e a r i n g  i n  F l o r i d a ?  

THE COURT: Y e s  o r  no o r  you c a n ' t  answer  

t h a t  q u e s t i o n ?  

A I d o n ' t  r e a l l y  have  any knowledge o f  t h a t ,  

e x a c t  knowledge of t h a t .  

Q Can you answer y e s  o r  no whether  you showed 

up i n  c o u r t  w i t h  y o u r  a t t o r n e y  and s t a t e d  t h a t  you d i d  

n o t  want  a  removal h e a r i n g ?  

A W e l l ,  t h e y  were b r i n g i n g  m e  from t h e  p r i s o n .  

They p u t  m e  i n  f r o n t  of  t h e  C o u r t .  My lawyer  came i n ,  

and h e  r e a d  t h i n g s  t o  m e ,  r a p i d l y ,  a l l  t h a t  r a p i d l y  t h e r e .  

E v e r y t h i n g  was p r a c t i c a l l y  a l r e a d y  done ,  and  I had no 

knowledge o f  what  was happening.  

S i n c e r e l y ,  my head was n o t  a l l  r i g h t .  

Now, I suppose  t h a t  my l awyer  was t h e r e ,  and 
- - - - -  - - - - - -  

i f  s h e  a g r e e d  t o  t h a t ,  there-waspno t y p e  ~ £ p r o b l e m . -  - - 

A r e  you t r y i n g  t o  i n s i n u a t e  something?  

Q I s n ' t  it a f a c t  t h a t  you c h o s e  v o l u n t a r i l y  

n o t  t o  have  t h e  removal h e a r i n g  because  you d i d n ' t  want  

y o u r  s t a t u s  a s  t h e  c o n f i d e n t i a l  i n f o r m a n t  i n  t h e  c o m p l a i n t  
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t o  b e  r e v e a l e d  a t  t h a t  t ime?  I t h i n k  you can  answer 

t h a t  w i t h  a  y e s  o r  no. 

THE COURT: H e  wants  a  y e s  o r  no answer .  

A No. 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, h e  s h o u l d  b e  a l lowed  

t o  e x p l a i n  h i s  answer.  

THE COURT: No. I t  i s  n o t  f o r  you t o  s a y  

a t  t h i s  t i m e .  I t  may b e  t h a t  on r e d i r e c t i e x a m i n a t i o n  

he  may wish  t o  e x p l a i n  t h e  m a t t e r  f u r t h e r ,  a l t h o u g h  h e  

h a s  e x p l a i n e d  i t  a l r e a d y .  

M r .  Tabak, i f  you a r e  g o i n g  t o  b e  a n  a p p r e c i -  

a n l e  l e n g t h  of  t i m e ,  I n o t e  i t  i s  g e t t i n g  on t o  f i v e -  

t h i r t y .  Do you e x p e c t  t o  t a k e  v e r y  much t ime?  Y e s  

o r  no? 

MR. TABAK: A t  t h i s  r a t e ,  y e s .  

THE COURT: Then w e  w i l l  recess u n t i l  tomorrow 

morning a t  t e n  o ' c l o c k .  

Do you t h i n k  w e  c a n  s t a r t  a t  t e n  o ' c l o c k ?  

I know t h e r e  have  been  some r e a s o n s  why w e  have  n o t  been  

a b l e  t o  s t a r t  on t i m e  t h e  l a s t  two d a y s ,  b u t  l e t  m e  hope 

t h a t  w e  c a n  tomorrow morning.  

L a d i e s  and  gent lemen,  p l e a s e  d o n ' t  d i s c u s s  t h e  

c a s e  among y o u r s e l v e s  o r  w i t h  anyone else.  I f  you l e a r n  

a n y t h i n g  c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  c a s e  f rom any s o u r c e  o u t s i d e  t h e  

cour t room you a r e  d i r e c t e d  t o  r e p o r t  t h a t  f a c t  d i r e c t l y  t o  
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M r .  Guranich,  no t  t o  any o t h e r  j u ro r .  

U n t i l  you come back tomorrow morning, f i n a l l y ,  

p l e a s e  keep an open mind and d o n ' t  d i s c u s s  t h e  c a s e .  

(The jury l e f t  t h e  courtroom.) 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, j u s t  one po in t .  

We would l i k e  our  c l i e n t  t o  g i v e  u s  a  c a l l  

t o n i g h t ,  and I h e a r  t h a t  a l l  t h e  te lephones  a r e  broken 

a t  MCC. 

Is  t h e r e  any way t h a t  w e  can have t h e  word 

passed? 

MR. TABAK: Your Honor, w e  can a r r ange  f o r  

M r .  Agu i l a r  t o  go t o  t h e  MCC. 

THE COURT: I f  t h e  te lephones  a r e  down t h a t  

might be  t h e  e a s i e r  way. I w i l l  a s k  t h e  Marshals t o  

r eques t  t h a t  M r .  Arocena have acces s  t o  a  t e lephone  i f  i t  

i s  a t  a l l  p o s s i b l e .  Of cou r se ,  I c a n ' t  guaran tee  t h a t ,  

b u t  I make t h a t  r e q u e s t .  

(Adjourned t o  September 12 ,  1984, a t  10:OO a.m.] 

--- 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v.  

EDUARDO AROCENA 

September  1 2 ,  1984 
10: lO a.m. 

( T r i a l  resumed;  j u r y  p r e s e n t )  

THE COURT: Good morning ,  l a d i e s  and 

gen t l emen .  # 

Mr. A x ~ c m z  

E D U A R D O  

resumed.  

A R O C E N A ,  

THE COURT: M r .  Arocena ,  you w i l l  b e  c o n t i n u i n g  

y o u r  t e s t i m o n y  unde r  t h e  o a t h  which  was a d m i n i s t e r e d  when 

you f i r s t  t o o k  t h e  s t a n d .  

Do you u n d e r s t a n d ?  

THE WITNESS: Yes, y o u r  Honor. 

THE COURT: You may p r o c e e d ,  M r .  Tabak. 

MR. TABAK: Thank you,  your  Honor. 

CROSS-EXAMINATIOE: ( C o n t i n u e d )  

Q M r .  Arocena ,  you t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  on 
- - .  

Sunday,  September  26, 1982 you were d rugged  by t h e  FBI, 

a n d  you men t ioned  sodium p e n t a t h o l .  
-------- 

-. 
Now, t h e  t r a n s c r i p t > t  page  2234 r e f l e c t s  

t h a t  you were asked :  
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Q I n  t h e  e v e n t ,  you d i d n ' t  t e l l  them a n y t h i n  

a t  h e a d q u a r t e r s  t h a t  day ,  d i d  you? 

" A No, s i r ,  a b s o l u t e l y  n o t ,  n o t  from my own 

f r e e  w i l l .  So t h a t  i f  t h e y  g o t  a n y t h i n g  o u t  of m e  --" 

And a t  t h a t  p o i n t  a n o t h e r  q u e s t i o n  was asked .  

p o s s i b l e  t h a t  you a d m i t t e d  t h e  
-------__ 

F B I  t h a t  day t h e  t r u t h  a b o u t  your  Omega 7 i=i- - -  -. -. - - . _ _ - - -_ _ _ _  ---- - -. ----- ---__-__-- 
t1 ,at  you j u s t  d o n ' t  remerrber i t ?  7 
t .I. -----------a- - 

'\ A No, ' s i r ,  it i s  n o t  t r u e .  
-.. - -. --. ._  ___ 

Q --- -3- I t  i s  n o t  p o s s i b l e .  

A No, it  i s  n o t  p o s s i b l e .  * 
Q. And t h a t  i s  even though you were drugged 

and you have no i d e a  what happened w h i l e  you were drugged? 

A A p e r s o n  who i s  drugged,  I d o n ' t  t h i n k  

he h a s  any knowledge a b o u t  what he  s a y s .  

Q So t h e r e f o r e  it i s  p o s s i b l e  t h a t  you 

t o l d  t h e  FBI a b o u t  your  Omega 7 involvement?  

A They n e v e r  s a i d  a n y t h i n g  t o  m e  a b o u t  t h a t .  

Q Is it p o s s i b l e ?  

A What i s  p o s s i b l e ?  

Q Is it p o s s i b l e  t h a t  w h i l e  you c l a i m  you 

were drugged t h a t  you t o l d  t h e  FBI a b o u t  Omega 7?" 

MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t .  H e  h a s  a l r e a d y  

a n s z e r e d  t h e  . q u e s t i o n  a b o u t  f o u r  t i m e s  now. 

THE COURT: I w i l l  l e t  him respond a g a i n .  
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INTERPRETER: May I have  t h e  q u e s t i o n  

a g a i n ,  p l e a s e .  

( Q u e s t i o n  r e a d )  

A I n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e ,  I d o n ' t  claim t o  have  

been  drugged;  I was d e f i n i t e l y  drugged.  

I n  t h e  second p l a c e ,  when I mentioned sodium 

p e n t a t h o l ,  I ment ioned t h a t  t h e y  migh t  have used  some 

o t h e r  t y p e  of d r u g ,  and you know v e r y  w e l l  t h a t  t h e y  a r e  

a c c e s s i b l e  t o  you. When a p e r s o n  is  under  t h a t  t r e a t m e n t ,  

h e  d o e s n ' t  have any knowledge a b o u t  what i s  happening.  

H e  s i m p l y  d o e s n ' t  remember what happened. Simply, t h e  

p e r s o n s  who a r e  a s k i n g  t h e  q u e s t i o n s  o b t a i n  t h e  i n f o r m a t i o n  

t h a t  t h e y  need and t h e y  n e v e r  showed m e  what t h e y  g o t  from 

m e  and  c o n s c i o u s l y  I have  n e v e r  a d m i t t e d  a n y t h i n g ,  n o r  have 

I e v e r  a d m i t t e d  t o  them b e i n g  Omar o r  h a v i n g  

b e l o n g e d  t o  t h e  Omega 7. T h a t  i s  my answer.  A r e  you 

s a t i s f i e d  w i t h  i t ?  

Q The q u e s t i o n , w h i c h  I b e l i e v e  i s  now t h e  f o u r t h  

t i m e  I a m  a s k i n g  it ,  c a l l s  f o r  a  y e s  o r  no answer.  Is it 

p o s s i b l e  t h a t  you g a v e  i n f o r m a t i o n  t o  t h e  F B I  t h a t  day t h a t  
p p p p p p p - p - p - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

yoc  don ' t  reme&er? 

MR. AGUILAR: O b j e c t i o n .  H e  i s  a s k i n g  t h e  

w i t n e s s  t o  s p e c u l a t e  on  something  h e  c a n n o t  p o s s i b l y  

t e s t i f y  t o .  

THE COURT: I f  h e  b e l i e v e s  it t o  b e  p o s s i b l e ,  
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he can answer yes. If he doesn't believe it to be possible, 

he can answer no. If he doesn't know, he may say so. . 

A Consciously, no. 

Q That is not the question, sir. 

MR. AGUILAR: Now he is arguing with the 

witness. 

A I cannot give you any other answer, not 

the one that you want. 

What do you want me to do? Do you want me 

to lie here before the jury? 

Q No. I would like you to tell the truth to the 

jury. 

MR. AGUILAR: He is arguing with the witness. 

THE COURT: No arguments. The witness has 

indicated that he has answered the question to the best of 

his recollection, to the best of his knowledge. Ir essence, 

he is saying he can't respond with a yes or no answer. 

Is that correct, Mr. Arocena? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, your Honor. 

Q You also claimed that the FBI kidnapped you that 
----------l___ 

--\ 

A Yes, sir, that is true. 

Q But of course you testified yesterday that they -- --. . =.- --- .-.-._- - ---,. ____ -- 
did not handcuff you at any time that day, isn't that correcf 

_._----- - - - - -. - - . .___ __ _ _ _  
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C 

A---------JFeh-- sir,-- t h a t  ' s t r u e .  
--- \ 

0 And i n d e e d  you a l s o  t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  

you d i d n ' t  even  i n s i s t  t h e y  g e t  a n  arrest  w a r r a n t  f o r  you 

t o  come down, you j u s t  came w i t h  them? 

A T h a t  i s  n o t  t r u e .  I a s k e d  them whe the r  I w a s  

u n d e r  arrest  and t h e y  t o l d  m e  t h a t  I w a s n ' t ,  b u t  t h a t  i f  

I gave  them any problems,  t h a t  t h e y  had o r d e r s  t o  t a k e  m e  

f o r c e f u l l y ,  o r  by f o r c e ,  and  i f  t h e y  had shown m e  any 

document l i k e  t h a t  -- a t  any r a te ,  t h e y  wanted t o  t a k e  m e  

down t o  h e a d q u a r t e r s ,  t h a t  t h a t  was t h e  o r d e r  t h a t  t h e y  had ,  

t h a t  t h e y  had t o  go,  one  way o r  a n o t h e r .  

So  what  d i d  you e x p e c t  m e  t o  do,  k i l l  them a t  

t h a t  moment? I had no r e a s o n  t o  g e t  i n t o  a f i g h t  w i t h  them 
k 

a t  t h a t  moment. 

Q So t h e r e f o r e  you d i d  n o t  u s e  any f o r c e ,  you 

j u s t  went  w i t h  them? 

A They a r e  v e r y  c o n v i n c i n g  when t h e y  want t o  be .  

Q Would you answer w i t h  a  y e s  o r  no whe the r  you 

u s e d  any f o r c e  o r  whe the r  you j u s t  went w i t h  them? 

A I accompanie6 them. 

Q You d i d  n o t  u s e  any f o r c e ?  
1 

A No, I d i d  n o t  u s e  any p h y s i c a l  f o r c e .  
'5 

And t h i s  i s  what you c a l l  k idnapp ing?  

A Taken away a g a i n s t  my w i l l ,  y e s ,  b e c a u s e  I 
-- - - I-------_ - -- - .__ = _e _ _  

t o l d  them I d i d n ' t  want t o  go, t h a t  I had evahh-y 
_ . _ I _ -  - -- - ------- -_ 
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t o  g o  / a c k  t o  Miami, and t h e y  p r a c t i c a l l y  f o r c e d  m e  t o  g o  t o  
_______ _- - -. - - - - -. . . .--- ___-_- -.- _U_ 

_4 

N e w  York, a n d ' y o u s a y  t o  me t h a t  t h a t  i s  n o t  f o r c i n g  me? . - 
Remember, t h e y  have  a u s u a l  way of i n t i m i d a t i n g  c i t i z e n s  

who d o n ' t  l i k e  t o  have  problems w i t h  anyone.  

Q Of c o u r s e ,  s i n c e  youwere a n  Olympic c a l i b e r  

wrestler ,  you c o u l d  n o t  be e a s i l y  i n t i m i d a t e d ,  c o u l d  you? 

A J u s t  imagine  t h a t  a t r a f f i c  cop$ were t o  s t o p  

me and  he  a s k e d  m e  f o r  my l i c e n s e  and I opened t h e  d o o r ,  

I s t a r t e d  k i c k i n g  him because  I am a n  Olympic wrestler and 

I d o n ' t  want  t o  go  w i t h  them and I d o n ' t  want t o  show him 

my l i c e n s e .  D o n ' t  g i v e  m e  t h a t  s t u f f .  

Q But you t o l d  t h e  t r u t h  when vou s a i d  you were - -.- ----a*- --. _ --. ------ 
a n  Olympic c a l i b e r  wrestler, c o r r e c t ?  

.I , - - --- -- -'-- 
A I t  i s  on my r e c o r d .  I t  _--A - i s  ---I i n  a 1 my r e c o r d s  

-- 

and  you have  a l l  my r e c o r d s  s i n c e  I came t o  t h i s  c o u n t r y ,  

and  I am s u r e  t h a t  you must have checked it o u t  w i t h  C a s t r o .  

I was v e r y  w e l l  known i n  Cuba b e c a u s e  of  t h a t ,  and s i n c e  

you a r e  used  t o  i n t e r c h a n g i n g  i n t e l l i g e n c e  m a t t e r s ,  one w i t h  

t h e  o t h e r ,  and I am s u r e  t h a t  t h e  f i l e  on m e  t h a t  C a s t r o  h a s  

and  t h e  f i l e  t h a t  you a l l  have on m e  h e r e  h a s  been i n t e r -  

changed between t h e  two of  you, s o  t h a t  you a t  t h i s  t i m e  and  

C a s t r o  a t  t h i s  t i m e  know c o m p l e t e l y  who Eduardo Arocena is. 

So I have  n o t h i n g  t o  h i d e , a n d  much less  a b o u t  my p a s t .  

MR. TABAK: I would a s k  t h a t  e v e r y t h i n g  i n  t h a t  

answer  o t h e r  t h a n  h i s  r e s p o n s e  t h a t  he had been a n  Olympic 
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c a l i b e r  wrestler be s t r i c k e n .  

MR. AGUILAR: , H e  asked  him t h a t  and  he.  

w a n t s  t o  show t h e  p e o p l e  how a  l o t  of  p e o p l e  know t h a t  h e  

was s u c h  a  w r e s t l e r  and  h e  opened t h e  door  wide,  your  

Honor. Now he  d o e s n ' t  l i k e  t h e  answer and he wan t s  it 

s t r i c k e n ,  your  Honor. 

THE COURT: I w i l l  l e t  i t  s t a n d .  The answer 

h a s  been  h e a r d  by t h e  j u r y ,  and  a l t h o u g h  it went beyond 

a  r e s p o n s e  t o  t h e  q u e s t i o n  a s  a sked ,  s i n c e  t h e  j u r y  h a s  

h e a r d  it, I w i l l  l e t  it  s t a n d .  

ViR. TABAK: I would a s k  t h a t  t h e  w i t n e s s  be 

d i r e c t e d  t o  r e spond  t o  t h e  q u e s t i o n s  and n o t  t o  v o l u n t e e r  

any o t h e r  i n f o r m a t i o n .  

THE COURT: Yes, I w i l l  d o  t h a t .  And my 

s u g g e s t i o n  t o  you i s  t h a t  i f  you wish  t o  keep  t h e  w i t n e s s  

f rom r e s p o n d i n g  a t  g r e a t e r  l e n g t h  t h a n  you d e s i r e ,  t h a t  you 

a s k  f o r  a  y e s  o r  no answer and t h e n  i f  he s a y s  he  c a n ' t  

answer  t h e  q u e s t i o n  y e s  o r  no, - make a d e c i s i o n  whe the r  

you w i s h  t o  p u r s u e  t h e  m a t t e r .  

t o  t h e  q u e s t i o n s  and t h e n  answer t h e  q u e s t i o n  a s  it i s  

a s k e d .  I f  t h e r e  i s  something  else, your  a t t o r n e y s  w i l l  

have  t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y  on r e d i r e c t  e x a m i n a t i o n  t o  a s k  what  

t h e y  b e l i e v e  s h o u l d  be a s k e d  a f t e r  t h e  q u e s t i o n s  which have 

been  p u t  by t h e  p r o s e c u t o r .  
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Do you understand? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Very well. 

(Continued on nex t  page) Y 
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Q M r .  Arocena ,  would you answer  w i t h  e i t h e r  a 

y e s  o r  n o  w h e t h e r  you  r e c e i v e d  a n v  k_in&nf_.martial a r t s  or  
* ------- 

k a r a t e  t r a i n i n g ?  ---- 
A Y e s .  

Y 
Q Now, i s n ' t  i t  a  f a c t ,  M r .  Arocena ,  t h a t  t h e  

w 
v e r y  n i g h t  of  t h e  day  i n  which you c l a i m  you were k i d -  ---- - 
naped  you d r o v e  a l o n e  i n  y o u r  c a r  t o  y o u r  m o t h e r ' s  h o u s e  

f o r  d i n n e r ?  - 
P l e a s e  answer  w i t h  a  y e s  o r  no. 

A Y e s .  - 
Q And i s n ' t  i t  a f a c t ,  as  you t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y ,  

t h a t  a l t h o u g h  you t h o u g h t  t h e r e  m i g h t  h a v e  b e e n  a f i n d e r  
_--_____--'----LA--- L ._---- - 

i n  t h e  c a r ,  t h a t  you n e v e r  saw one?  
_ _ _ C _ -  -LA..-- --_=-, .--._'- _ - 

A I h a v e  problems w i t h  t h a t  answer .  

Q Did you see a  f i n d e r  o r  a  b e e p e r  i n  t h e  car 

t h a t  you d r o v e  t o  y o u r  m o t h e r ' s  home on  Sunday e v e n i n g ,  

Sep tember  26 ,  1982?  Y e s  o r  no? 

THE COURT: I t h o u g h t  h e  answered  t h a t  q u e s t i o n  

y e s t e r d a y ,  i n  r e s p o n s e  t o  a q u e s t i o n  which  I a s k e d  him, and  

h e  s a i d  h e  d i d  n o t  see one.  

Does c o u n s e l  r e c a l l  t h a t ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Y e s ,  y o u r  Honor. I t h i n k  he 

s a i d  t h e y  were h a r d  t o  s p o t ,  b u t  h e  d i d  n o t  see one.  

THE COURT: D i d  t h e  j u r o r s  h e a r  t h a t ?  
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Need less  t o  s a y ,  i f  t h e  w i t n e s s  wan t s  t o  

e n l a r g e  on h i s  answer o r  change i t ,  he  may do so .  

MR. FERNANDEZ: I t  i s  on Page 2230, y o u r  Honor. 

I t  was a s k e d  and answered. 

BY MR. TABAK ( C o n t i n u i n g )  : 

Q You d o n ' t  w i s h  t o  change  t h a t  answer from 

y e s t e r d a y ?  

No, s i r .  I t  i s  e x a c t l y  t h e  way I answered 

y e s t e r d a y .  

Q Now, you a l s o  t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y ,  on Page  2235 

of  t h e  t r a n s c r i p t ,  t h a t  when you d r o v e  t o  y o u r  m o t h e r ' s  
I 3 

house  t h a t  n i g h t  you gave  t h e  FBI a  h a r d  t i m e  and  you made 
* -- ----. - -- - I.__-_ - .-- _ . ___. &. ..--I.- a h , - - -  

them r e a l l y  r u n  f o r  t h e i r  money. 
C . ----- -..- " 

A I t ' s  t r u e .  
--- 

And i s n ' t  it a  f a c t  t h a t - y o u  l o s t  them b u t  when 

you g o t  t o  t h e  house  t h e y  were t h e r e ?  
9 

- '  

A I knew t h e y  were w a i t i n g  f o r  m e  t h e r e .  I know 

how t h e y  o p e r a t e .  

And you l o s t  them on t h e  way? 
a 

A The o n e s  t h a t  were f o l l o w i n g  m e ,  y e s .  

Q M r .  Arocena,  why I d i d n ' t  vou --+ nf 2 

t h e  c a r  and l e a v e  i f  you l o s t  th-7 

A Because it  was a  v e r y  s h o r t  d i s t a n c e  a t  t h a t  

p o i n t .  

T h a t  was i n  N e w  J e r s e y ?  
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A I was a l r e a d y  i n  t h e  a r e a  of Newark. Knowing 

how t h e y  o p e r a t e ,  my c h a n c e s  w e r e  t o o  l i m i t e d ,  t o o  l i m i t e d .  

B e s i d e s ,  w e  must  t a k e  i n t o  c o n s i d e r a t i o n  t h a t  

I c o u l d  have  g o t t e n  o u t  of  t h e  c a r ,  t h a t  t h e y  would l o c a t e  

t h e  c a r ,  b u t  I r e f e r  t o  t h e  t i m e  i t  would t a k e  f o r  them 

t o  l o c a t e  t h e  c a r  and t o  t h e  t i m e  f o r  them t o  l o c a t e  m e  

i n  t h e  a r e a  would b e  a  m a t t e r  o f  m i n u t e s ,  and I w o u l d n ' t  

have  had enough t i m e  t o  g e t  away. 

I know how t h e y  f u n c t i o n ,  and I would have  
i 

t o  w a i t  f o r  t h e  o p p o r t u n e  moment, and t h a t ' s  e x a c t l y  

I d i d n ' t  r u n  away when I was t h e r e .  I t h i n k  

I have  proven my p o i n t .  

Q Weren ' t  you b e i n g  s u r v e i l l e d  i n  Miami? 

A I n  Miami? More t h a n  you c o u l d  imagine .  
- ! - 

Q And y e t  you escaped  i n  Miami, b u t  y e t  you 

d i d n ' t  t r y  t o  r u n  away when you l o s t  t h e  s u r v e i l l a n c e  

i n  N e w  J e r s e y .  

You c a n  answer w i t h  a  y e s  o r  no. 

A I ' m  n o t  s u r e  a b o u t  t h a t  answer.  

Q Now, w h i l e  you were d r i v i n g  t o  your  m o t h e r ' s  

h o u s e  on  September  26,  1982,  you d i d n ' t  s t o p  a t  a  phone 

b o o t h  t o  c a l l  f o r  a l awyer  o r  c a l l  f o r  h e l p ,  d i d  you? 

P l e a s e  answer w i t h  a  y e s  o r  no. 

A NO,  s ir .  
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Q And of c o u r s e  t h a t  day  when you were a t  t h e  *- - --- ------ - .-- 
C_ - - _. _ - - 

FBI you had r e p e a t e d l y  demanded a chance  t o  c a l l  a  law> - .-. . - -- * 
-4 . _ . . .  -- --.___ - 

a i d n ' t  you? -- 
A Y e s ,  s i r .  They had n o t  drugged m e  a t  t h a t  

----_ 
Y 

p o i n t .  

Q But when you were d r i v i n g  from Manhattan t o  --- ---- Y . -- .".__. 
--.'. - -.- -7 

N e w  J e r s e y ,  you n e v e r  s t o p p e d  a t  a pay phone t o  make a 

A -. The a g e n t s  were r i g h t  b e h i n d  m e  up t o  t h e  

e n t r a n c e  of t h e  T u r n p i k e  a t  Newark. T h a t ' s  where I l o s t  

them. They made a  wrong t u r n ,  and i n  t h e  c i rc le  t h e r e ,  

t h e r e  t h a t ' s  where I l o s t  them, b e c a u s e  t h a t ' s  t h e  a r e a  

where I work, and t h a t ' s  where I was able t o  g e t  away 

i n t o  a  s ide street .  

Q But you d i d n ' t  go  t o  a  pay phone and c a l l  

f o r  l awyer  o r  c a l l  f o r  h e l p ,  d i d  you? 

A I d i d n ' t  have  t i m e  enough f o r  a n y t h i n g .  

Q And w h i l e  you were d r i v i n g  you n e v e r  honked 

y o u r  horn  o r  a n y t h i n g  else i n  Manhattan t o  a t t r a c t  
+ . - .  - _,_ _- - I - -. - - - - - ----- 
a t t e n t i o n ,  d i d  you? 

C 

A To c a l l  whose a t t e n t i o n ?  

Q Anybody's a t t e n t i o n ,  s i n c e  you were b e i n g  

drugged and k idnaped and  e v e r y t h i n g  e l s e ?  

A I d i d n ' t  have  any r e a s o n  t o  c a l l  t h e  a t t e n t i o n  

of anybody i n  t h e  street.  I wanted t o  g e t  i n  t o u c h  w i t h  
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my lawyer ,  somebody who knew something about  my case ,  

and what I a c t u a l l y  d i d  was t o  do what I d i d ,  and t h a t .  

was t o  escape  from you. 

Q But no t  i n  New J e r s e y  o r  New York? 

A I f  I had enough oppor tun i ty  I would have done 

i t ,  b u t  you t r i e d  very hard  t o  keep me from doing it .  

Q Now, i t  was very important  f o r  you t o  r each  

a  lawyer ,  wasn ' t  i t ?  

A Consider ing t h e  c i rcumstances ,  yes .  

Q Now, p l e a s e  answer w i th  a  yes  o r  no whether 

your  mother had t h e  ins t rument  known a s  a  te lephone a t  

J 

h e r  house t h a t  n i g h t .  

A Yes. 
__IL1_7 

Q But you d i d n ' t  c a l l  a lawyer,  d i d  you? 
- . - - . - - - - - I -  _ 

No, sir .  
\ 

% A - 
Q Even though you cont inued t o  meet w i t h  t h e  FBI - ---.-- --._ _ _ --- - 

---.zcp.III, 

t h e  nex t  s e v e r a l  days between New York and Miami; i s n ' t  
I 

3 

&,&at a  f a c t ?  

A I n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e ,  remember now, i t  was 

Sunday morning. I n  t h e  second p l ace ,  when I g o t  back 

t o  Miami it was a l r e a d y  l a t e ,  and when I began on Tuesday 

you had a l r e a d y  pu t  s u r v e i l l a n c e  on m e .  
t 

Actua l ly ,  my s i t u a t i o n  was n o t  a  ques t ion  of 

going t o  t h e  lawyer. I t  was t h e  g e t t i n g  away from you. 

Q And you knew very w e l l  t h a t  t h e  person who 
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m i g h t  h e l p  you  t o  see t h a t  j u s t i c e  was done  would b e  a 

l a w y e r ?  

A Yes; of  c o u r s e .  

Q Bu t  you d i d n ' t  c a l l  a  l a w y e r ,  d i d  you? 

A L a t e r  on I d i d  t r y  t o  c a l l  a l awyer .  

Q But  on Sunday,  September  2 6 t h ,  a t  y o u r  m o t h e r ' s  

h o u s e ,  you d i d  n o t  c a l l  a  l a w y e r ,  d i d  you? 

A With t h e  o f f i c e s  c l o s e d ,  how was I g o i n g  t o  

c a l l ?  

Q And you d i d n ' t  a s k  y o u r  mothe r  t o  c a l l  a * 
J 

l a w y e r  f o r  you  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  d a y ,  d i d  you? 
__.--- - - -- -- --_ _ + 

A My f a m i l y  d o e s n ' t  know what  was g o i n g  on. 
_ _ =  -----_ --._ -- - .  - -- -. _ - - _ -_ 

------l 
I had  no  r e a s o n  t o  worry  them w i t h  t h a t  problem. I h a v e  

n e v e r  t a k e n  my problems t o  them. 

Q T h a t  i s  b e c a u s e  you n e v e r  were k i d n a p e d  -- 
MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I t h i n k  h e  s h o u l d  

be a l l o w e d  t o  f i n i s h  h i s  answer .  

THE COURT: F i n i s h  y o u r  answer ,  and  t h e n  you 

c a n  a s k  t h e  n e x t  q u e s t i o n .  

A I h a v e  n e v e r  i n v o l v e d  my f a m i l y  i n  a n y t h i n g ,  
- 

s o  I had no  r e a s o n  t o  t e l l  them wha t  happened.  I t  was 

my problem w i t h  you ,  and I t r i e d  t o  s o l v e  it i n  t h e  best 

manner  p o s s i b l e .  

I t r i e d  t o  warn my companions and  my com- 
- . .-.-a - - -- * ---- - - - - ----_- - 

p a t r i o t s  what  you  a r e  p l a n n i n g ,  wha t  y o u r  p l a n s  were and  
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t o  warn them of them of t h e  w i t c h  hun t  t h a t  was a f t e r  m e  

and e v e r y t h i n g  t h a t  you d i d  a f t e r w a r d s .  

I t  worked o u t ,  because  f o r t u n a t e l y  you h a v e n ' t  

been a b l e  t o  d e s t r o y  i t  a l l .  You have  k i n d  of d e s t r o y e d  

a b o u t  h a l f  of t h e  e x i l e  group,  which h a s  n o t h i n g  t o  d o  w i t h  
- --- -*  . --"-., - - - 

a n y t h i n g ,  b u t  you d i d n ' t  d e s t r o y  everybody.  -..... - 

I t h i n k  t h a t  a t  l e a s t  I c o o p e r a t e d  somewhat 

i n  t h a t .  

Q A r e  you comple ted  w i t h  your  answer? 

A More o r  less .  

Q W e l l ,  i s  t h e r e  any more you would l i k e  t o  say  

i n  r e s p o n s e  t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n ?  

A Is t h e r e  a n y t h i n g  else you want  t o  know? 

Q Yes. I would l i k e  t o  know and pe rhaps  t h e  

j u r y  would l i k e  t o  know why you d i d n ' t  even a s k  your  mother  

t o  t r y  t o  g e t  i n  c o n t a c t  w i t h  a lawyer t h e  f o l l o w i n g  day 

f o r  you? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, h e  h a s  a l r e a d y  

answered t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  l e t  him go  f u r t h e r .  

I f  t h e r e  i s  a n y t h i n g  else t h e  w i t n e s s  wishes  

t o  s a y ,  I w i l l  a l l o w  it. 

A I t o l d  you p r e v i o u s l y  and you know b e t t e r  t h a n  

anyone t h a t  n o t  my mother  b u t  my w i f e ,  who l i v e s  w i t h  me, 

n e v e r ,  h a s  n e v e r  known a n y t h i n g  a b o u t  what  I do. 
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I have  n e v e r  i n v o l v e d  anybody i n  my f a m i l y  

i n  a n y t h i n g .  I had no r e a s o n  t o  g e t  h e r  i n v o l v e d  i n  . 

what  what  was happening t o  m e  a t  t h a t  t i m e .  

My mind was a  b i t  confused .  I d i d n ' t  know 

e x a c t l y  what  was happening a t  t h a t  t i m e .  I was t r y i n g  

t o  c o o r d i n a t e  my i d e a s ,  and  I t r i e d  t o  d e a l  w i t h  t h e  

s i t u a t i o n  t h e  b e s t  t h a t  I c o u l d .  

1 I t h i n k  t h a t ' s  t h e  b e s t  t h i n g  t h a t  I d i d .  

Q I s n ' t  it a f a c t  t h a t  a f t e r  t h e  Cour t  a p p o i n t e d  
7 -- 

-------."-.--_._---h 

M r .  Walpin f o r  you you had y o u r  w i f e  g e t  a  lawyer  f o r  you- 
____.-_. -- -.-- -. .-__-.._ 

^ -  - -  - .. , . - -  ... .- M r .  O r t a ?  - - -  .-- .. . . . . . . 
\ 

$ 

A I d i d  n o t  u n d e r s t a n d  t h a t  v e r y  w e l l .  

Q I s n ' t  it a f a c t  t h a t  a f t e r  t h e  C o u r t  had 

a p p o i n t e d  M r .  Walpin t o  r e p r e s e n t  you,  you a s k e d  y o u r  w i f e  

t o  f i n d  a n o t h e r  l a w y e r ,  and s h e  found M r .  O r t a ,  a n o t h e r  

l a w y e r ,  f o r  you? 

A T h a t ' s  t r u e .  
t \ 

- -  Q 
-.F - Now, M r .  Arocena,  you t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  

a f t e r  you had d i n n e r  w i t h  your  mother  t h a t  day you s a w  two - 
f r i e n d s  of  y o u r s ?  

v 7 

A Y e s .  

Q Did you s e e  them a t  y o u r  m o t h e r ' s  house  o r  some 
-. 

p l a c e  e l s e ?  

I n  t h e  backyard  of t h e  b u i l d i n g  t h e r e .  
F 

Q Who w e r e  t h e s e  two f r i e n d s ?  

SOUTHERN DISTRICl REPORTFR4. US. COURTHOUSE 
FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



9mp s Arocena - c r o s s  

A I d o n ' t  remember a t  t h i s  moment. 

Q But you warned them about  your s i t u a t i o n ;  

r i g h t ?  

A About what you were t r y i n g  t o  do ,  yes .  

Q And you d i d n ' t  ask  them t o  g e t  you a lawyer ,  

- - - -  - -- - -  - _ _  ----.------ ---- - - - - . -  

e i t h e r ,  d i d  you? 7 
-------- - - - -7 

A I t o l d  them what was happening, t h a t  you had 

t aken  me t o  New York by f o r c e  and t h a t  you had drugged m e  

and t h a t  you were fo l lowing  me and t h a t  you were o u t s i d e  

and t h a t  you wanted m e  t o  go back. 

T h a t ' s  what I t o l d  them. 

Q And of cou r se  you d i d n ' t  ask  them f o r  any h e l p  
# --------- -- - of any k i n d ,  d i d  you? 

--- 
A When they  asked m e  what I wanted from them, I 

t o l d  them, no th ing ,  a b s o l u t e l y  nothing.  

And t h a t  i s  because you d i d n ' t  r e a l l y  need any 

h e l p ,  s i n c e  you had n o t  been kidnaped o r  drugged, had you? 

A No. I j u s t  d i d n ' t  want them t o  g e t  involved 

i n  anyth ing  e i t h e r  and t o  g i v e  you t h e  oppor tun i ty  t o  g e t  

two more wretches .  

/ Q So you d i d  n o t  ask  them t o  t r y  t o  g e t  a lawyer -- 
* 

f o r  you o r  o t h e r  h e l p  f o r  you? 
7 - ------.4..A-" . .- 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I w i l l  o b j e c t .  

He h a s  a l r e a d y  t e s t i f i e d ,  no, he d i d n ' t  ask  them t o  g e t  

a lawyer.  
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THE COURT: I t h i n k  he  d id .  A l l  r i g h t .  

L e t  him respond a g a i n .  I thought  he  d i d ,  t o o ,  f r a n k l y .  

A I t o l d  them abou t  t h e  s i t u a t i o n s  t h a t  e x i s t e d ,  

and t h a t ' s  a l l .  

I 

Q Now, on  ond day, September 27 th ,  when you 7 -- - - -  - - _- _ 
7 

f l e w  home t o  Miami, you s t a y e d  a t  you r  own home t h a t  n i g h t ;  
*_ _- - - -- - 

- - - -  --__^A_ 
c o r r e c t ?  ---- 

A Y e s ,  s i r .  -_ _IC1 

Q And t h e r e  were no FBI a g e n t s  i n s i d e  t h e  house 
Ilr - - -  __- - _ _ . _ - -  7 - -- ....---.-- 

w i t h  you,  were t h e r e L  -- - - - - - --- 

A I t  would have been a  r a t h e r  s e r i o u s  problem 

f o r  my w i f e ,  b u t  t h e y  were o u t s i d e .  Two c a r s .  

Q The q u e s t i o n i s ,  were t h e r e  any a g e n t s  i n s i d e  

t h e  house t h a t  n i g h t ?  

A They may have been i n  t h e  y a r d  of t h e  house ,  

b u t  t h e r e  were two c a r s  o u t s i d e .  

Q The q u e s t i o n  i s ,  and I t h i n k  you can answer 

w i t h  a  y e s  o r  no: Were t h e r e  any FBI o r  o t h e r  Government 

a g e n t s  i n s i d e  your  house t h a t  n i g h t ?  

O u t s i d e  t h e  house.  

Were t h e r e  any i n s i d e  t h e  house? 

They w e r e n ' t  under t h e  bed. 

Were t h e r e  any i n s i d e  t h e  house? 

Not t h a t  I saw. 

Did you have a  t e l ephone  i n  your  house? 
_ . . r - . -  

__ __-.--- --- - 
\ B y : -  . - ---- - - 
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A Yes, sir .  
C 

Q Did you c a l l  f o r  a  lawyer o r  f o r  any o t h e r  k ind  

o f  h e l p ?  

A F i r s t  of a l l ,  I knew t h a t  my t e l ephone  was 

a l r e a d y  bugged by you,  and i n  t h e  second p l a c e  my l a w y e r ' s  

o f f i c e  was c l o s e d .  

I n  t h e  t h i r d  p l a c e ,  I had a l r e a d y  dec ided  t h a t  

I had t o  l e a v e .  

A t  any r a t e ,  I d i d  n o t  need a  lawyer n o r  t e n  

l awyers .  I j u s t  had t o  g e t  away from you, and t h a t ' s  

what I d i d .  

Q And t h a t ' s  w h y ~ o u  went t o  your  o f f i c e  t h e  
+ 

f o l l owing  morning,  because  t h e  FBI c o u l d n ' t  f i n d  you t h e r e ?  
-- ----- - 

A No, sir. I went t o  my o f f i c e  t o  p u t  my 

m a t t e r s  i n  o r d e r ,  t o  p i c k  up ce r t a i n , ; documen t s  t h a t  I had 

t h e r e ,  and I n o t i c e d  t h a t  t h e  o f f i c e  had been opened, and 

I n o t i c e d  t h a t  c e r t a i n  pape r s  had been s h u f f l e d ,  and I 

n o t i c e d ,  I had set t h e  numbers on t h e  copying machine, and 

I n o t i c e d  t h a t  t h e y  had made two hundred o r  t h r e e  hundred 

e x t r a - c o p i e s  - - on i t ,  and no one works a t  my o f f i c e .  
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - 

- - - - - - - - - - - - 

You a l l  e n t e r e d  t h e r e .  You took my pape r s  

and you took  t h e  e x t r a  c o p i e s  t h a t  were t h e r e .  You knew 

what you were doing.  

Q A r e  t h o s e  t h e  Omega 7 documents t h a t  have  been 

i n t r o d u c e d  a t  t h e  t r i a l ?  
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A No, sir .  My l e g a l  pape r s  and t h e  papers  t h a t  

I used i n  my o f f i c e ,  t h e  normal ones ,  t h e  l e g a l  w h i t e  . 

p a p e r s ,  and I u s u a l l y  had q u i t e  a  supp ly  o f  them t h e r e .  

Q Now, t h a t  same day,  Tuesday, September 28 th ,  

1982,  you d rove  on your  own t o  meet t h e  a g e n t s  a t  t h e  

Ramada Inn ;  i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A When I l e f t  my house ,  t h e  F e d e r a l  a g e n t s  

fo l lowed  me t o  my o f f i c e .  When I g o t  t h e r e ,  I saw t h e  

c a r s  pa rked ,  and when d u r i n g  t h e  morning when I was a t  

t h e  o f f i c e ,  Agent Wack c a l l e d  m e ,  and he t o l d  m e  what room 

h e  was i n ,  and he  t o l d  m e  what t i m e  he  wanted m e  t o  go 

t h e r e  and meet them and f o r  m e  t o  b e  t h e r e  p u n c t u a l l y  and 

t o  t r y  n o t  t o  be  l a t e .  

Q W i l l  you p l e a s e  answer w i t h  a  y e s  o r  a no? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, t h e  man i s  t r y i n g  t o  

answer t h e  q u e s t i o s .  

THE COURT: He ha s  a  r i g h t  t o  a s k  t h e  q u e s t i o n  

t h a t  way, and t h e  w i t n e s s  should  respond y e s  o r  no o r  he  

canno t  answer t h e  q u e s t i o n  t h a t  way. 

MR. AGUILAR:  I t h i n k  he  i s  making a s i n c e r e  

a t t e m p t  t o  answer t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: Don' t  e d i t o r i a l i z e  on your b e l i f .  

You a r e  t h r u s t i n g  you r  o p i n i o n  i n t o  t h e  c a s e .  H e  i s  

speak ing  words. I f  t h e  j u ry  b e l i e v e s  h e  i s  answer ing t h e  

q u e s t i o n  t o  t h e  b e s t  of h i s  a b i l i t y  t h e y  w i l l  a ccep t  t h a t .  
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I f  t h e y  d o n ' t ,  t h e y  w i l l  r e j e c t  i t .  

I t  i s  no t  f o r  you o r  m e  t o  e v a l u a t e  h i s  

c r e d i b i l i t y .  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I am n o t  t r y i n g  to 

a r g u e  w i t h  t h e  Cour t .  I am j u s t  t r y i n g  t o  s a y  he i s  

t r y i n g  t o  g e t  t o  t h e  answer. 

THE COURT: L e t ' s  g e t  on w i t h  i t .  

P l e a s e  answer y e s  o r  no: 

Did you d r i v e  a l o n e  i n  your  c a r  t o  t h e  Ramada 

L- - - -- -- - -- -. -_ - _-- -- _ __ 
I n n  t h a t  day? -- - -- --  - -- -- _ 

7 - - 7  -7 - - -3  

A Yes, s i r .  
-- -- 

Q And d i d  you -- and p l e a s e  answer w i t h  a y e s  
- - -- - - - -  - ----- - 

A - -*-  
___7 o r  no --&=kith t h e  F B I  a g e n t s  t h e r e  t h a t  day? 

..---I - - - P .  _ _ _  - --I-_ 

A Yes, w i t h  a whole bunch of them. 3 

- -  
Q And d i d  you -- p l e a s e  answer y e s  o r  no -- 

excuse  me. Was t h i s  two days  a f t e r  you had been kidnaped 
I -- 

p n d  drugged? 
J 

A I t  was a Tuesday. 

Q So s i n c e  you were kidnaped and drugged,  accord-  

i n g  t o  your  t e s t imony ,  on Sunday, t h i s  was two days  l a t e r ;  

i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A A A Tuesday, y e s ,  sir. 

Q And you d i d  no t  make any a t t e m p t s  t o  have  a 

l awyer  w i t h  you t h e r e  w i t h  t h e  FBI; y e s  o r  no? 
b 

\ A 
I answered you p r e v i o u s l y  t h a t  my i n t e n t i o n  
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was no t  t h a t  of looking  f o r  a  l a&er  b u t  of looking  f o r  

t h e  chance t o  g e t  away, and I d o n ' t  know whether you 

- r e a l i z e  t h a t ,  b u t  i t  i s  probable  i f  you would ana lyze  my 

t e l ephone  c a l l s  you would know it was very  d i f f i c u l t  f o r  

me t o  g e t  i n  c o n t a c t  wi th  my lawyer,  V i l l a  Lobos, very  

d i f f i c u l t  t o  t r y  t o  make an appointment w i t h  him, and 

a c t u a l l y  I d i d n ' t  want t o  l o s e  any more t i m e  and t o  g i v e  

you t h e  oppor tun i ty  t o  know what my i n t e n t i o n s  were, because 

you l e t  me know why c l e a r l y  you d o n ' t  have t h e  s l i g h t e s t  

chance wi th  a  lawyer;  you've g o t  t o  coopera te  w i t h  us. 

We a r e  going t o  g i v e  you a l l  you need s o  t h a t  you w i l l  

coope ra t e  w i t h  us.  

(Continued on t h e  nex t  page. )  
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Q I s n ' t  i t  a  f a c t ,  s i r ,  t h a t  t h e  o n l y  t i m e  you 

e v e r  m e t  p e r s o n a l l y  w i t h  m e  b e f o r e  you r a n  away was i n  

the g r a n d  j u r y  where  I r e a d  you a l l  y o u r  r i g h t s ,  i n c l u d i n g  

t h e  r i g h t  t o  a  l awyer?  

A And i s n ' t  i t  t r u e ,  M r .  District A t t o r n e y ,  t h a t  

you a r e  t h e o n e  who i s  i n  c h a r g e  o f  t h e  g r a n d  j u r y ?  

MR. TABAK: I ask  t h a t  t h e  answer b e  s t r i c k e n .  

MR. AGUILAR: I a s k  t h a t  M r .  Tabak n o t  a r g u e  

w i t h  t h e  w i t n e s s .  

THE COURT: H e  i s  n o t  a r g u i n g  w i t h  t h e  w i t n e s s .  

H e  a sked  t h a t  t h e  answer  b e  s t r i c k e n .  The w i t n e s s  h a s  

n o t  comple ted  h i s  answer  and i t  i s  t h e  normal  p r a c t i c e  

i n  my c o u r t  t o  l e t  t h e  w i t n e s s  comple te  h i s  answer ,  

and  t h e n  you can  move a s  you seem a p p r o p r i a t e .  

~ e t ' s  * h a v e  t h e  q u e s t i o n  and answer r e a d  up 

t o  t h i s  p o i n t ,  b u t  t h e  answer  must  r e spond  t o  t h e  q u e s t i o n  

h e  a sked .  

Record r e a d )  

THE COURT: I s n ' t  t h a t  t h e  o n l y  t i m e  you m e t  

f a c e  t o  f a c e  w i t h  M r .  Tabak? 

THE WITNESS: Y e s ,  b u t  h e  d i d n ' t  l e t  m e  

f i n i s h .  

THE COURT: You may f i n i s h .  

THE WITNESS: Thank you,  y o u r  Honor. 

A And i s n ' t  it t r u e ,  M r .  Tabak, t h a t  you a r e  u p  t o  
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d a t e  on a l l  o f  t h e  i n v e s t i g a t i o n  r e g a r d i n g  m e ,  t h a t  t h e  

day t h a t  I appeared  b e f o r e  the grand j u ry  you had a l l  o f  

t h e  i n f o r m a t i o n  r e g a r d i n g  m e  f o r  q u i t e  some t i m e  back ,  

because  you a l r e a d y  knew q u i t e  some t i m e  b e f o r e  t h a t  

who Eduardo Arocena was,  because  M r .  Wack and t h e  f e d e r a l  

a g e n t s  were g i v i n g  i t  t o  you and you were a l r e a d y  p r e p a r i n g  

t h e  s e t - u p  f o r  m e  on t h a t  o c c a s i o n ,  because  you knew 

p e r f e c t l y  w e l l  who Eduardo Arocena was? Even more t h a n  

t h a t ,  you even  knew t h e  q u e s t i o n s  you w e r e  going t o  have t o  
__.n__l__-_---.-.--.--.IL -.- em- - - - .--..---.-, 

ask  m e ,  i ndeed ,  even t h e  q u e s t i o n s  t h a t  you knew you - , ---- .Y -- U_ ---- "----- -----,.-_.. _ -___" - 
cou ld  c a t c h  m e  i n  p e r j u r y  w i t h ,  because  you knew w e l l  

t h a t  t h e  i d e n t i t y  of  Medina had t o  do w i t h  t h e  government 
~ . - , ,  . , -? . . .. A 2 -.  - *  - t  . %- d i i r n  

o f  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  and when you asked m e ,  knowing t h a t  

I had been t u r n e d  o v e r ,  I had t o  p r o t e c t  it and t h a t  is  

what  . - - .  I d i d ,  - , . and t h a t  I had been t r a i n e d  i n  e x p l o s i v e s  and 

t r a i n e d  , i n  . . + -  
underwater  .. demol i t i on  and t r a i n e d  i n  arms and 

t r a i n e d  i n  i n f i l t r a t i o n  and t r a i n e d  i n  many o t h e r  t h i n g ,  

and I had t o  p r o t e c t  a l l  o f  t h a t .  .-- " .- 

4 
That  is  t h e  r ea son  I l i e d  b e f o r e  the grapd, j u q ,  

---..I--_ 
hecause you knew- ve ry  w e l l  - - - -  who I was,  because  f o r  t h a t  

- - - - - - - - - - - 

r e a s o n  I d i d n ' t  need a l awyer  a t  t h a t  tilde, because  I 

t hough t  t h a t  I cou ld  a c t  l i k e  a normal pe r son ,  l i k e  any 

o t h e r  p e r s o n ,  and I t r i e d  t o  b e  a s  h o n e s t  a s  p o s s i b l e ,  b u t  

you knew e x a c t l y  who I was and you knew how t o  c a t c h  m e  

i n  t h a t  s i t u a t i o n ,  because  the t r a p  w a s  a l r e a d y  p r epa red ,  
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n o t  o n l y  f o r  b u t  f o r  a l l  o u r  c o m p a t r i o t s .  

Now you  can  go  on w i t h  y o u r  game. 

MR. TABAK: Your Honor,  I a s k  f i r s t  t h a t  

e v e r y t h i n g  i n  t h e  answer  e x c e p t  t h e  word "yes"  be s t r i c k e n  
- 

a n d  I a s k  t h a t  t h e  w i t n e s s  b e  ordered a n d  e x p l a i n e d  the 

c o n s e q u e n c e s  o f  d i s o b e y i n g  t h e  order, t o  answer  o n l y  the 

q u e s t i o n s  . 
MR. AGUILAR: May w e  h a v e  a s i d e  b a r ?  

THE COURT: N o .  L e t  m e  h e a r  t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

( Q u e s t i o n  read) 

THE COURT: M r .  Arocena ,  you gave  a l o n g  

answer .  Can you  answer  M r .  T a b a k t s  q u e s t i o n ,  which  w a s  

j u s t  read back  -- can  you answer  t h a t  q u e k t i o n  y e s  o r  

n o ,  a n d  i f  you  wan t  it r e a d  back  o n c e  a g a i n  a n d  

t r a n s l a t e d ,  1 w i l l  have  t h a t  done .  

THE WITNESS : Your Honor,  how can  I answer  

M r .  Tabak,  g i v e  him an  answer ,  i n  t h e  way t h a t  h e  a s k s  

m e  ? 

THE COURT: T h a t  i s  my p o i n t .  I f  you  c a n n o t  

answer  t h e  q u e s t i o n  h e  a s k e d  y e s  o r  no ,  j u s t  s a y  t h a t  you 

c a n ' t .  

THE WITNESS: I a m  t r y i n g  t o  g i v e  the best 

p o s s i b l e  answer ,  b u t  h e  t a k e s  m e  and  h e  c o r n e r s  m e  i n  a 

c e r t a i n  way, a n d  I a m  a f r a i d  t o  l i e  h e r e .  

THE COURT: I t  i s  v e r y  i m p o r t a n t ,  o b v i o u s l y ,  
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t h a t  you t e l l  t h e  t r u t h .  You a r e  under  o a t h ,  and t h e  

j u r y  a s  w e l l  as t h e  c o u r t  e x p e c t s  you t o  t e l l  t h e  t r u t h .  

I f  h e  a s k s  you a  q u e s t i o n  where h e  s a y s ,  

"Answer y e s  o r  n o ,  " I g i v e  you a t h i r d  c h o i c e :  You e i t h e r  

answer  y e s  or  you answer n o  o r  you s a y ,  "I c a n ' t  answer  the 

q u e s t i o n  y e s  o r  no . "  Then h e  can a s k  e i t h e r  a n o t h e r  

q u e s t i o n  o r  h e  can d r o p  t h e  m a t t e r .  

Do you u n d e r s t a n d ?  

THE WITNESS : Now I do u n d e r s t a n d .  

THE COURT: W e  w i l l  h a v e  t h e  q u e s t i o n  t h  
L 

a s k e d  by  M r .  Tabak a f e w  minu tes  ago r e a d  back t o  y o u ,  

w i t h  my comments t o  you i n  y o u r  mind. A l l  ' r i g h t ?  

THE WITNESS : Y e s ,  y o u r  Honor. 

THE COURT: W e  w i l l  s t r i k e  a t  t h i s  p o i n t  t h e  

p r i o r  r e s p o n s e ,  and have  t h e  q u e s t i o n  r e - p u t  t o  t h e  - 
7-- 

0 Y 

w i t n e s s .  
2 

( Q u e s t i o n  r e a d )  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  
r 

Q M r .  Arocena,  you t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y ,  and  I a m  
-- 

\ 

r e f e r r i n g  t o  pages  2289 and 2290  i n  t h e  t r a n s c r i p t ,  t h a t  

a f t e r  you w e r e  s e n t  t o  O t i s v i l l e ,  a f t e r  you were a r r e s t e d ,  

a n d  I a m  q u o t i n g  from l i n e  21,  "You n e v e r  a l lowed  t h e  

p r e s s  t o  go up t h e r e  and v i s i t  m e  and  you know t h a t  there - b 

were many t i m e s  t h a t  I a s k e d  t o  see t h e  p r e s s ,  s o  t h a t  I 

\ would  be able t o  speak t o  them, t o  t e l l  them a b o u t  a l l  t h e  
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a b u s e  you were commi t t ing  a g a i n s t  m e  a n d  a l l  t h e  v i o l a t i o n s  

you  w e r e  d o i n g  a g a i n s t  m e , "  and  s o  on .  

MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t .  I f  h e  w a n t s  t o  refer 

t o  t h a t , I  t h i n k  h e  s h o u l d  r e a d  t h e  who le  a n s w e r ,  which  b e g i n  

o n  page  2289 .  

MR. TABAK: I w i l l  r e a d  t h e  rest o f  t h e  

p a r a g r a p h .  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, t h a t  i s  n o t  f a i r  

enough.  I f  h e  i s  g o i n g  t o  r e f e r  t o  t h i s  p a r t i c u l a r  answer ,  

h e  s h o u l d  r e a d  t h e  whole  answer ,  t h e  q u e s t i o n  and  t h e  

answer .  

THE COURT: Read t h e  who le  q u e s t i o n  and  t h e  

answer .  

Q The q u e s t i o n  was: 

"Q Would you  e x p l a i n  why d u r i n g  all t h e s e  s e s s i o n s  

you  n e v e r  compla ined  b e f o r e  t o d a y  t h a t  you  were b e i n g  

d rugged?"  And t h e n  you answer :  

" A  I n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e ,  t h e  o n l y  judge  t h a t  I have  

compla ined  t o  a b o u t  my c o n d i t i o n  and  t h e  o n l y  judge  t o  whom 

I b r o u g h t  a l l  my p rob lems  i s  Judge  Ward. H e  h a s  been  t h e  

m r l y  o n e  t k a P  f h a v e  W-tkaak-because  b e  s igned-an  o r d e r -  - 

s o  t h a t  t h e y  would  p e r m i t  m e  t o  see my f a m i l y  and  s o  t h a t  I 

c o u l d  s p e a k  t o  my l a w y e r  b e c a u s e  you  w e l l  know t h a t  

when I was i n  O t i s v i l l e ,  you gave  t h e  o r d e r  s o  t h a t  I 

wou ld  be a b l e  t o  s p e a k  t o  my f a m i l y  o n l y  once  a  month a n d  
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t w i c e  a  month w i t h  my l a w y e r ,  d e s i g n e d  by you .  I was 

d e p r i v e d  o f  a l l  t h a t ,  and  you  know t h a t  up t h e r e  I w a s  

s u b m i t t e d  t o  t h i s  d r u g  t r e a t m e n t  and  you  know t h a t  I w a s  

s t u c k  i n  a h o l e  up t h e r e  and  you know t h a t  you  h a d  m e  

incommunicado up t h e r e  and  you know t h a t  you  were m a n i p u l a t i r  

my s i t u a t i o n  on  t h e  o u t s i d e  and  t h a t  you  are s e e i n g  

e v e r y b o d y ,  making eve rybody  b e l i e v e  t h a t  I was c o o p e r a t i n g ,  

making them b e l i e v e  t h a t  I was o n e  o f  y o u r s  so t h a t  you  

c o u l d  g e t  c o n f e s s i o n s  o u t  o f  o t h e r  companions.  And t h a t  

i s  t h e  r e a s o n  you n e v e r  a l l o w e d  t h e  p r e s s  t o  go up t h e r e  

and v i s i t  m e  and  you  know t h a t  there were many t i m e s  

t h a t  I a s k e d  t o  see t h e  p r e s s  s o  t h a t  I would b e  a b l e  t o  

s p e a k  t o  them t o  t e l l  them a b o u t  a l l  t h e  a b u s e  you  w e r e  

commi t t ing  a g a i n s t  m e  and a l l  t h e  v i o l a t i o n s  you  were 

d o i n g  a g a i n s t  m e ,  a n d  why I had  t o  w a i t  f o r  f i v e  months 

b e f o r e  I was e v e n  c h a r g e d  and why you were s u b m i t t i n g  my 

f a m i l y  t o  t h e  a b u s e s  you w e r e  s u b m i t t i n g  them t o ,  t h a t  

I w a s  d e p r i v e d  o f  t h e i r  v i s i t  and  e v e r y  t i m e  t h a t  t h e y  

w e n t  t o  v i s i t  m e ,  you  k e p t  them w a i t i n g  two or  t h r e e  h o u r s  

j u s t  b e c a u s e  you wan ted  t o ,  where  you p u t  them t h r o u g h  

a b o u t  20 d i f f e r e n t  abuses . "  

I have f i n i s h e d  q u o t i n g  a t  t h i s  t i m e .  The 

a n s w e r  g o e s  on  f o r  a n o t h e r  two p a g e s ,  and  1 would j u s t  

l i k e  t o  a s k  a b o u t  t h e  p o r t i o n  t h a t  w a s  r e a d  up t o  t h i s  

p o i n t .  
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M r .  Arocena,  i s n ' t  i t  a  f a c t  t h a t  you were 

i n t e r v i e w e d  a t  O t i s v i l l e  b y  a  r e p o r t e r  from t h e  New York 

a t  y o u r  r e q u e s t ?  P l e a s e  answer y e s  o r  no .  

MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t  t o  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT : Over ru led .  

MR. AGUILAR: Thank you,  y o u r  Honor. 

A I a m  g o i n g  t o  u s e  t h e  t h i r d  o p t i o n  which t h e  

judge  gave m e ,  t h a t  i s ,  t h a t  I wan t  t o  e x p l a i n  why. 

Q I n s t e a d  o f  d o i n g  t h a t  -- 
MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t  . 
THE COURT: I w i l l  l e t  you d o  t h i s :  F i r s t  

2402 

Post  

answer  y e s  o r  no ,  and  t h e n  I w i l l  ask  you t h e  q u e s t i o n  i f  

you w i s h  t o  e x p l a i n  why. 

THE WITNESS: I see. 

THE COURT: Answer h i s  q u e s t i o n  y e s  o r  no. 

A No. 

THE COURT: You d i d  n o t  m e e t  w i t h  a  r e p o r t e r  

from t h e  New York P o s t  a t  O t i s v i l l e ?  The answer i s  no?  

THE WITNESS: No, I d i d  m e e t  w i t h  a  r e p o r t e r .  
r)- 

THE COURT : From t h e  New ~ o r k  P o s t ?  --.- 
1 

THE WITNESS: Y e s ,  s i r .  - 
THE COURT: Who came t o  t h e  p r i s o n  a t  O t i s v i l l e  

and  i n t e r v i e w e d  you? 

THE WITNESS: Y e s ,  b u t  I w a n t  t o  e x p l a i n  how. 

THE COURT: Now I w i l l  l e t  you e x p l a i n  how. 
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MR. FERNANDEZ; Thank you,  your  Honor. 

THE COURT: Go ahead.  

THE WITNESS: Thank you. 

d 
A Indeed ,  I wanted t o  speak t o  t h e  p r e s s  and - 

---_____A ---- ----___ 

e x p l a i n  my s i t u a t i o n  t o  them. F i r s t  o f  a l l ,  I t r i e d  t o  g e t  
____-.F---____I___ ----I -- --_I-- - 

i n  c o n t a e t w i t h  o u r  newspapers,  and you t r i e d  t o  keep  t h a t  

from happen ing ,  s t a r t i n g  w i t h  Pedro Hernandez. -- When h e  

t r i e d  t o  see m e ,  you b locked  h i s  v i s i t ,  

Then I t r i e d  t o  g e t  i n  touch  w i t h  K_a_.aren Payne, -.* a , -. 

o f  t h e  Miami N e w s ,  and on  numerous occa s ions  s h e  t r i e d  t o  

g e t  i n  touch w i t h  m e ,  and you a lways ,  e s p e c i a l l y  you,  

M r .  Tabak, would s end  an  o r d e r  t o  O t i s v i l l e  s o  t h a t  I would 

be k e p t  incommunicado, s o  t h a t  t h e  p r e s s  would n o t  b e  

a b l e  t o  speak t o  m e .  

/ I t  s o  happened t h a t  a r e p o r t e r  from t h e  
t 7 

New York P o s t  had t h e  courage  t o  sneak i n  and g i v e  m e  
* 

an i n t e r v i e w ,  and h e  came i n  pos ing  as a f r i e n d  of my 
t 

I I 
sis ter .  When I saw him, I asked him who h e  w a s  and h e  

t o l d  m e  t h a t  h e  was a newspaperman, t h a t  h e  worked f o r  

t h e  New York P o s t ,  which made m e  ve ry  happy,  and I ,  

b a s i n g  myself  on the t i m e  t h a t  w e  had ,  I gave him a n  

i n t e r v i e w  and t h e  i n t e r v i e w  i s  around h e r e  somewhere. 

Q I s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  t h a t  t h e  government asked 

t h e  judge n o t  t o  p e r m i t  you t o  be i n t e r v i e w e d  u n l e s s  the 

judge f i r s t  e x p l a i n e d  t o  you t h a t  any th ing  you s a i d  
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c o u l d  be u s e d  a g a i n s t  you? Yes o r  no. 

A Yes, sir. 

I Q I s n ' t  it a  f a c t  t h a t  a f t e r  J u d g e  Ward d id  

e x p l a i n  t h a t  t o  you,  t h a t  t h e  government no l o n g e r  o b j e c t e d  

t o  you b e i n g  i n t e r v i e w e d ,  s i n c e  you u n d e r s t o o d  t h e  

s i t u a t i o n ?  Y e s  o r  no.  

A I l i k e  t o  e x p l a i n  t o  t h e  j u d g e ,  b e c a u s e  he  

d o e s n ' t  g i v e  m e  a  chance  t o  e x p l a i n  t h i n g s  -- 
THE COURT: Go ahead.  

A You a r e  a s k i n g  m e  w h e t h e r  t h e  judge s a i d  a l l  

t h a t  t o  m e .  I n d e e d ,  h e  d i d ,  b u t  you f o r g e t  t h a t  t h o s e  

i n t e r v i e w s  were b e f o r e  I s a w  Judge  Ward, a l o n g  t i m e  b e f o r e  

t h a t ,  and  p r e c i s e l y  when I f i n a l l y  came i n t o  Judge  Ward's 

p r e s e n c e ,  a l r e a d y  t h e  i n t e r v i e w s ,  n o t  4 n l y  t h a t  o f  t h e  

New York Post b u t  t h a t  i n  M i a m i ,  were a l r e a d y  t h e r e ,  

s o  t h a t  y o u r  i n f o r m a t i o n  i s  n o t  e x a c t .  I s u g g e s t  t h a t  you 

check it o u t  b e t t e r .  

Q M r .  Arocena,  d i d  you t e s t i f y  t r u t h f u l l y  

y e s t e r d a y  when you t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  t h e r e  were n o  i n t e r v i e w s  

w i t h  t h e  p r e s s  when you were a t  O t i s v i l l e ?  Y e s  o r  no. 
- - - - -  - - - - - - - -  - - - - - - - - -  

A 
- - - - - - - -  Yes. - - - - 

Q But  you have  j u s t  t o l d  u s  you were i n t e r v i e w e d  

a t  O t i s v i l l e  by t h e  p r e s s ,  d i d n '  t you? 

THE WITNESS: Your Honor, I would l i k e  t o  

e x p l a i n .  
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THE COURT: G o  ahead.  

A I a g a i n  r e p e a t  t o  you t h a t  .I t r i e d  i n  e v e r y  

manner  p o s s i b l e ,  from t h e  t i m e  I was i n  O t i s v i l l e ,  t o  g e t  

i n  t o u c h  w i t h  t h e  p r e s s ,  and  I even s e n t  letters t o  t h e  

p r e s s ,  and  t h e r e  i s  a l o t  o f  p roof  o f  t h a t ,  and  b a s i n g  

myse l f  on t h e  le t ters  and  t h e  c o n t e x t  I t r i e d  t o  make, you 

a l l  g o t  s c a r e d ,  b e c a u s e  you d i d n  t wan t  my c o m p a t r i o t s  

t o  know t h e  t r u t h  and you t r i e d  -- a l l  t h e  t i m e  you t r i e d  

t o  k e e p  m e  from making any c o n t a c t  w i t h  t h e  p r e s s .  

Even a f t e r  h a v i n g  made c o n t a c t  w i t h  t h e  p r e s s ,  

you t r i e d  t o  f o r c e  m e  h e r e  n o t  t o  have  any f u t u r e  c o n t a c t  

w i t h  t h e  p r e s s ,  and  i t  was t h e n  when Judge  Ward warned m e  

a b o u t  t h e  consequences  o f  my f u t u r e  s t a t e m e n t s ,  t h a t  t h e y  

m i g h t  be used  a g a i n s t  m e ,  and  b a s i n g  myse l f  o n  t h a t ,  I 

h a d  t o  have  a l a w y e r  p r e s e n t ,  b e c a u s e  you were a f r a i d  

t h a t  I would s a y  c e r t a i n  t h i n g s ,  t h e s e  v e r y  t h i n g s  

t h a t  I a m  s a y i n g  r i g h t  now. 

A t  t h a t  t i m e ,  I d i d n ' t  .want t o  s a y ,  b e c a u s e  

I d i d n ' t  want  t o  t e l l  anybody what  was happen ing ,  b e c a u s e  

you s e n t  a  l o t  o f  messengers  t o  f i n d  o u t  what  I had  

a g a i n s t  you,  b e c a u s e  you were a f r a i d  o f  l a s i n g  t h e  c a s e ,  

l i k e  you are r i g h t  t h i s  minute .  F o r  t h a t  r e a s o n ,  you 

d o n ' t  wan t  t o  even  g i v e  one  i n c h  o f  c r e d i b i l i t y  t o  my 

t h i n g s .  You are n e v e r  s a t i s f i e d  when you s t a r t  p i l i n g  up 

e v i d e n c e  o v e r  t h e r e ,  b e c a u s e  you are  a f r a i d ,  b e c a u s e  you are 
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n o t  s u r e  t h a t  you g o t  m e ,  b e c a u s e  it i s  y o u r  career which  

i s  a t  s t a k e ,  n o t  o n l y  my freedom. 

E v e r y t h i n g  t h a t  I h a v e  s a i d  h e r e  i s  o n  t h e  

r e a o x d  and maybe I w i l l  remember a  l i t t l e  b i t  more, a l i t t l e  

b i t  less, b u t  e v e r y t h i n g  i s  t h e r e  and  I h a v e  n o t h i n g  t o  

h i d e .  So you  can  go  on  a s k i n g  m e  q u e s t i o n s .  

MR. TABAK: Your Honor,  t h e  q u e s t i o n  c l e a r l y  

c a l l e d  f o r  a y e s  o r  n o  and d i d  n o t  r e q u i r e  any e x p l a n a t i o n .  

I a s k  t h a t  t h e  e n t i r e  answer  b e  s t r i c k e n .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  l e t  it s t a n d ,  b u t  I w i l l  

l e t  you a s k  a  fo l low-up q u e s t i o n .  

M R .  AGUILAR: Your Honor,  i f  I may f o l l o w  i t  

up w i t h  an  o b j e c t i o n  -- 
THE COURT: Why s h o u l d  you? I s a i d  I would 

l e t  t h e  answer  s t a n d .  You h a v e  n o t h i n g  more t o  s a y ,  

d o  you? 

MR. AGUILAR: No, I d o n ' t ,  y o u r  Honor. 

Q M r .  Arocena ,  y e s  o r  n o ,  w e r e  you i n t e r v i e w e d  

b y  t h e  New York P o s t  r e p o r t e r  w h i l e  you were a t  O t i s v i l l e ?  

MR. AGUILAR: T h a t  h a s  been  a s k e d  and  answered  
- - - - - -  - - - - - -  - - - - 

a l r e a d y ,  y o u r  Honor. 

THE COURT: L e t ' s  g e t  it c l e a r  on t h e  r e c o r d .  

M r .  Tabak d o e s n ' t  t h i n k  h e  r e c a l l s  t h e  answer ,  b u t  I d o ,  

a n d  I t h o u g h t  h e  s a i d  t h a t  t h e r e  was a  p o i n t  i n  t i m e  

when h e  w a s  a t  O t i s v i l l e  where someone from t h e  P o s t  
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a c t u a l l y  was a b l e  t o  t a l k  w i t h  him. 

Is t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

THE WITNDSS : Yes, y o u r  Honor. 

Q And t h a t  r e p o r t e r  was someone t h a t  you wanted  

t o  t a l k  t o ,  c o r r e c t ?  Y e s  o r  no. 

A Yes, s ir .  

Q And is  it  a l s o  c o r r e c t  t h a t  you had a 

two-hour i n t e r v i e w  w i t h  him? Yes o r  no.  

A Approximate ly ,  y e s .  

Q I s n ' t  i t  .. a f a c t  . - ,  t h a t  a t  .n,o .time during t h a t  
- ---_. __ --._ - 

i n t e r v i e w  _ _ _  d i d  y o u  _ ___ t e l l h i m  _ _  _ __. _ __-___ a n y t h i n g  a b o u t  h a v i n g  been -- .----"Z- *..- . " .  . d4 - - 
kidnapped o r  drugged? Y e s  o r  no.  
_CCC_7 

A I d o n ' t  remember t h a t .  
/ 

* 

Q I show you Government 's E x h i b i t  2 3  f o r  

i d e n t i f i c a t i o n  -- 
MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t  t o  t h a t ,  y o u r  Honor. 

THE COURT: H e  may show i t  t o  him. I d o n ' t  

know where it i s  going.  

Q Do you r e c o g n i z e  t h a t  a r t i c l e  from t h e  N e w  York 

P o s t  a b o u t  t h a t  i n t e r v i e w ?  

- - - d - - Y e s , - s i r ,  - - - - - - - -  - - - -  
- - - -  

Q Does t h a t  r e f r e s h  y o u r  r e c o l l e c t i o n  t h a t  you 

d i d n ' t  s a y  one word t o  t h e  New York P o s t  r e p o r t e r  a b o u t  

h a v i n g  been drugged o r  kidnapped? 

A No, it d o e s n ' t .  
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MR. TABAK: The government o f f e r s  E x h i b i t  23  

i n  e v i d e n c e .  

MR. AGUILAR: I o b j e c t  t o  i t ,  y o u r  Honor. 

THE COURT: S u s t a i n e d .  

THE WITNESS: I would l i k e  t o  s a y  something .  

THE COURT : W e l l ,  t h e r e  i s  no  q u e s t i o n  pending.  

Q I s n ' t  it a l s o  a  f a c t  t h a t  answers  t h a t  you s e n t  

t o  Karen Payne w e r e  p u b l i s h e d  i n  t h e  Miami N e w s  w h i l e  you 

w e r e  a t  O t i s v i l l e ?  Y e s  o r  no .  

A C l a n d e s t i n e l y ,  y e s .  

Q They were p u b l i s h e d  p u b l i c l y  i n  the M i a m i  N e w s ,  

y e s  or no? 

THE COURT: On S a t u r d a y ,  Februa ry  4 ,  1984? 

THE WITNESS: Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q I t  was a  v e r y  l e n g t h y  a r t i c l e ,  w a s n ' t  it? 

Yes o r  no.  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q And a t  no t i m e  d i d  you t e l l  t h e  M i a m i  N e w s  
-.l..ul* _ " * '  - - 

t h a t  you had  . -.- .--. a,, ... <. . 

Yes o r  no. 

A N o ,  sir.  

Q You t e s t i f i e d  on Monday t h a t  t h e  r e a s o n  you 

came t o  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s  as a  stowaway from S p a i n  i s  

t h a t  t h e  r e d  t a p e  of coming l e g a l l y  w a s  t a k i n g  t o o  l o n g .  

I s n ' t  it a f a c t  t h a t  it w a s  o n l y  a  few months t h a t  you 
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w a i t e d  i n  S p a i n  b e f o r e  you came t o  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s  

i l l e g a l l y ?  Y e s  . o r  no.  

A Y e s ,  j u s t  a  c o u p l e  o f  months.  

Q So you d e c i d e d  you d i d n ' t  have  t o  f o l l o w  t h e  

I m m i g r a t i o n  l aws  o f  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s ?  Y e s  o r  no .  

MR. AGUILAR:  Your Honor,  I a m  g o i n g  t o  o b j e c t  

t o  t h a t .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  allow a n  answer ,  i f  t h e  

w i t n e s s  c a n  answer .  

O v e r r u l e d .  

A I n  a c c o r d a n c e  w i t h  my s i t u a t i o n ,  y e s .  

Q And o f  c o u r s e  you a l e a d y  had  g o t t e n  asylum 

i n  S p a i n ,  h a d  you n o t ?  Y e s  o r  no .  

A Y e s ,  b u t  my f i n a l  d e s t i n a t i o n  w a s  t h e  

U n i t e d  S t a t e s .  

Q 3 u t  you a l e a d y  had  asy lum i n  S p a i n ,  c o r r e c t ?  

A I had  asy lum t h r o u g h  t h e  American Embassy i n  

Morocco. 

Q You a l s o  t e s t i f i e d  on  Monday t h a t  you opened  

a  handbag t h a t  b e l o n g e d  e i t h e r  t o  Ms.nny Fernandez  o r  

Tony I b a r r i a  w h i l e  t h e y  were o u t  o f  t h e  o f f i c e  g e t t i n g  

c o f f e e ,  a n d  t h a t  you pho tographed  an  a d d r e s s  book t h a t  w a s  

i n  t h e r e ?  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q Did you h a v e  t h e i r  p e r m i s s i o n  t o  do  t h a t ?  
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A N O ,  sir.  

Q Did you have  any  k i n d  of c o u r t  o r d e r  p e r m i t t i n g  

you  t o  do  t h a t ?  

A The same o n e s  t h a t  you have  t h a t  g i v e s  you 

p e r m i s s i o n  to  go i n  a n y p l a c e  when you w a n t  t o ,  t o  f i n d  

o u t  s o m e t h i n g ,  when you want  t o  p e n e t r a t e  where  t h e  enemy 

i s .  

Q What judge  gave you t h a t  c o u r t  o r d e r  t h a t  you 

had?  

A M o r a l i t y .  

Q So m o r a l i t y  a l l o w s  you t o  d o  t h i n g s  t h a t  a r e  

a g a i n s t  t h e  l a w ?  

A I f  t o  look  f o r  t h e  way t o  d e s t r o y  o r  t o  l o o k  

f o r  e v i d e n c e ,  t o  look f o r  i n f o r m a t i o n  a b o u t  i n d i v i d u a l s  

who are c i t e d ,  who a r e  ment ioned  a s  C a s t r o  a g e n t s  

i n f i l t e r e d  i n t o  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s  and who are i n  c h a r g e  

o f  i n t r o d u c i n g  d r u g s  i n t o  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s ,  and  i f  

I h a v e  r e c e i v e d  t h e  o r d e r  o f  c h e c k i n g  on them and many 

o t h e r s ,  I d o n ' t  have  t o  men t ion  t h e  name o f  any judge t o  

c a r r y  o u t  t h o s e  m i s s i o n s ,  and  many o t h e r s .  

And t h a t  i s  b e c a u s e  t h e r e  w a s  n o  judge ,  w a s  
- - - - - Q- - - - - - 

- - - - - - - - - - - - -  
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

- - - -  

t h e r e ?  

A You know v e r y  w e l l  t h a t  i n  t h i s  k i n d  o f  t h i n g  

t h e r e  a t  n o  j u d g e s  - When t h e y  - g i v e  you o r d e r s  t o  d o  

t h i n g s ,  you d o  them, the same one  t h a t  M r .  ack  t o l d  m e .  
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Q I s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  t h a t  d u r i n g  t h i s  v e r y  t r i a l  

and b e f o r e  t h e  t r i a l  you h a v e  s e e n  t h e  C o u r t  o r d e r  s i g n e d  

by a  F e d e r a l  Judge  f o r  t h e  w i r e t a p  on y o u r  phone and that 

you have  s e e n  t h e  C o u r t  o r d e r  s i g n e d  by a  F e d e r a l  J u d g e  

f o r  a  s e a r c h . , w a r r a n t  o f  t h e  p l a c e  you were a r r e s t e d ?  

Y e s  o r  no? 

A Y e s .  I saw them a f t e r  a b o u t  a y e a r .  I ' m  s u r e  

it was q u i t e  d i f f i c u l t  f o r  you t o  g e t  t h o s e  o r d e r s .  

Q And of c o u r s e  you saw t h e  d a t e s  on t h o s e  o r d e r s  

were b e f o r e  t h e  w i r e t a p  s t a r t e d  and b e f o r e  t h e  s e a r c h  

s t a r t e d ?  

A I h a v e n ' t  s e e n  o t h e r s  which I know were p r e v i o u s  

t o  t h a t  a s  w e l l  a s  I h a v e n ' t  s e e n  o t h e r  documents t h a t  

you  h a v e n ' t  wanted t o  show t o  m e .  

T h e r e  a r e  a  l o t  o f  t h i n g s  t a h t  you h a v e n ' t  

Q a n t e d  t o  show, and you know t h a t  q u i t e  w e l l .  

MR. TABAK: Your Honor, I a s k  t h a t  t h e  answer 

b e  s t r i c k e n .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  l e t  it s t a n d .  

Q M r .  Arocena ,  you t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  t h a t  you 
- - - - - - -  

l e g a l l y  ownedPseverar weapons ,including a n - A R 4 5  ma - - 

an Uzi .  

A Y e s ,  sir. 

Q You have  i d e n t i f i e d  Government 's  E x h i b i t s  1023 

and  1025 a s  t w o  of t h e  f i v e  r e c e i p t s  you had f o r  t h o s e  
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weapons; is  t h a t  r i g h t ?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q And, indeed ,  when you were b e f o r e  t h e  grand 

ju ry  on September 2 ,  1982, you a l s o  produced r e c e i p t s  

f o r  t h o s e  same weapons; i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A Y e s .  I t u r n e d  them ove r  t o  you, and you read  

them a l l .  

Q And they  were g iven  back t o  you t h a t  day? 

A Yes, because  t hey  were mine. 

Q And a s  t h e  r e c e i p t  shows -- 
A Excuse m e .  You asked m e  t o  g i v e  them t o  t h e  

FBI s o  t h e y  would make c o p i e s  of them, which I d i d ,  and 

t h e n  t h e y  gave them back t o  m e .  

Q Now, i s  t h e  r e c e i p t  c o r r e c t  t h a t  t h e  AR-15 

c o s t  you $572? 

A Yes. The amounts t h a t  appear  t h e r e .  T h a t ' s  

what i t  c o s t .  

Q And d i d  you pay ca sh  f o r  t h a t ?  

A P o s s i b l y ,  y e s .  

and t h e  c l i p s  and ammunition c o s t  you $640?  

A Y e s ,  sir. 

Q And once a g a i n  you pa id  cash? 

A I d i d n ' t  have any reason t o  pay w i t h  a c r e d i t .  
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c a r d .  

Q And s o  you p a i d  c a s h ?  

A And t h e  d e a l e r  was q u i t e  happy a b o u t  t h a t .  

Q O f  c o u r s e ,  you d i d  have  c r e d i t  c a r d s  a n d  a 

c h e c k i n g  a c c o u n t  a t  t h a t  t i m e ,  d i d n ' t  you? 

A Y e s ,  s i r -  

Q Now, a r e  t h e  s e r i a l  numbers on t h o s e  r e c e i p t s ,  

E x h i b i t s  1023 and 1025,  t h e  c o r r e c t  s e r i a l  numbers f o r  - 
t h e  weapons you bought?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q Now, i n  t h e  g r a n d  j u r y  on September  2 ,  1982,  

you t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  you had n e v e r  loaned  any weapons, t h e s e  

o r  any o t h e r s ,  t o  anybody; i s  t h a t  t r u e ?  

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q W i l l  you e x p l a i n  t o  t h e  j u r y  how Government 's  

E x h i b i t  2077, which i s  a n  AR-15, and Government ' s  E x h i b i t  

2078-A, which i s  an  Uzi ,  which b e a r  t h e  same s e r i a l  numbers 

a s d  t h e  s e r i a l  numbers on t h o s e  r e c e i p t s  of y o u r s ,  were 

found  a t  t h i s  M i n i - S t o r - I t  l o c k e r  t h a t  you s a y  you n e v e r  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  Ask your  w i t n e s s .  Ask y o u r  

w i t n e s s  Necuze. He's t h e  one t h a t  was k e e p i n g  t h e  f i l e s .  

H e ' s  t h e  one  t h a t  was i n  c h a r g e  o f  t h a t  m i n i  warehouse. 
I 

When I was on t h e  r u n ,  I went ,  when my w i f e  

w a s n ' t  t h e r e ,  I went  t o  my house ,  and I t o o k  a l l  t h e  

SOL'THERN DISTRICl R E r o R f  rR\. I1.S COllR'THOUSE 

FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



2 1 1 1 ,  
Arocena - c r o s s  

weapons. I t o o k  c l o t h e s  and t h e  n e c e s s a r y  t h i n g s ,  and 

t h e n  I c a l l e d  h e r  l a t e r .  I t o l d  h e r  a b o u t  it .  I t o l d  

h e r  n o t  t o  be a f r a i d  n o r  t o  t h i n k  t h a t  s h e  had been 

robbed ,  t h a t  I had been a t  t h e  house.  

She s a i d  s h e  was going t o  change t h e  l a t c h e s ,  

b e c a u s e  s h e  d i d  n o t  l i k e  t h e  s i t u a t i o n ,  and I t o l d  h e r  

t h a t  was f i n e ,  and n e v e r  t h o u g h t  a b o u t  b o t h e r i n g  h e r  

a g a i n ,  and if I am n o t  m i s t a k e n  I t h i n k  t h e  combinat ion  

i s  somewhere around t h e r e .  

t h i s  l anded  up t h e  c u s t o d y  M r .  

Necuze and M r .  Gonzalez ,  who is  a  f r i e n d  of  mine,  a  v e r y  

f i n e  pe r son .  

I n  some way o r  o t h e r ,  M r .  Necuze p u t  it a l l  - . . _ . - .  ^ . <  _ . '  " > .  

i n  a  c o r r e s p o n d i n g  p l a c e ,  and h e  gave  it t o  you,  and he 

s a t  r i g h t  h e r e  t o  t e s t i f y  a g a i n s t  me. 
* "  - .  . " 

H e  i s  your w i t n e s s .  A l l  of t h a t ,  h e  i s  t h e  

one who produced it. For  t h a t  r eason  I a m  e x p l a i n i n g  t o  

t h e  j u r y  where t h e s e  t h i n g s  a l l  a p p e a r e d  from, because  

e v e r y t h i n g  appeared  i n  my house  -- n o t  i n  my house b u t  

i n  - t h e  - - - a p a r t m e n t  where you a r r e s t e d  m e ,  because  h e  had ---. - .--.- . .-- - - - - - - - - , -- m--_-.- - 2 L. .- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

t h e  key t o  t h a t  p l a c e ,  because  I was r e a d i n g  a  bunch of 

t h i n g s  t h e  o t h e r  day ,  and I had been l o c a t e d  t h e r e  a l r e a d y  

a  month, and you had more t h a n  enough time, and you 
, . 

p r e p a r e d  t h e  s i t u a t i o n  t h e r e ,  because  you know t h a t  I 

came i and 1 l e f t  t h e  p l a c e  f o r  s e v e r a l  days ,  and you 
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prepared  t h a t  s i t u a t i o n ,  and when you a r r e s t e d  me you 

s t u c k  a l l  of t h o s e  t h i n g s  i n  t h e  house, and t h a t ' s  t h e  

reason  it appeared i n  a  d i f f e r e n t  p l a c e ,  because one 

s i n g l e  person who helped you, my f r i e n d ,  Gerardo Necuze, 

your  w i tnes s .  

Q Of cour se ,  t h a t  i s  not  what h s  tes t imony was, 

was i t ?  

A I suppose,  I imagine he s a i d  what you t o l d  him 

t o  say .  A r e n ' t  t h o s e  t h e  r u l e s  of t h e  game? I s n ' t  

t h a t  what you promised him, t h a t  he had t o  say t h a t  i n  

o r d e r  t o  g e t  what he wanted? 

Q Have you read h i s  coopera t ion  agreement? 

A I d o n ' t  t h i n k  t h e r e  i s  a  s i n g l e  human be ing  

who could p o s s i b l e  absorb  t h e  enormous amount of papers  

t h a t  were given t o  a  person i n  such a  s h o r t  pe r iod  of t ime 

l i k e  t h e  papers  t h a t  were given t o  me. 

I n  p r a c t i c a l l y  j u s t  about  a  month i n  t h e  

s i t u a t i o n  t h a t  happened, and everyone has  seen m e  every 

s i n g l e  day,  dragging i n  t h a t  g r e a t  b i g  s u i t c a s e  t h a t  I 

have t h e r e ,  and i f  you go t o  my c e l l  you w i l l  s e e  t h a t  

I ' v e  g o t  a  t h r ee -  o r  four - foo t  h igh  p i l e  of documents, 

a p a r t  from t h e  two o r  t h r e e  hundred t a p e s  t h a t  you brought  

t o  m_e . - - 

Apart from a l l  of t h e  problems, t h e  enormous 

amount of problems t h a t  I have a l l  day,  every day wi th  
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you,  I have  t r i e d  t o  c o v e r  i n  t h e  s h o r t e s t  p o s s i b l e  t i m e  

w i t h o u t  g o i n g  c r a z y  and t o  p r e p a r e  myself  t h e  best w a y . 1  

c a n  and t o  b r i n g  mysel f  up t o  d a t e  on e v e r y t h i n g  and  t o  

t r y  t o  d e a l  w i t h  t h e  s i t u a t i o n .  

So t h a t  whenever you asked m e  whe the r  I have  

s e e n  c e r t a i n  t h i n g s ,  u n f o r t u n a t l y  sometimes I h a v e n ' t  

s e e n  them u n t i l  t h e  day b e f o r e  o r  t h e  n i g h t  b e f o r e .  

F o r  i n s t a n c e ,  l a s t  n i g h t  I saw t h e  t e s t i m o n y  

of  J u s t o  Rodr iguez ,  b e c a u s e  you went home t o  s l e e p  e a r l y  

l a s t  n i g h t  i n  y o u r  house ,  b u t  I had t o  spend a l m o s t  two 

h o u r s  w a i t i n g  f o r  them t o  send m e  f rom t h e  MCC u p s t a i r s ,  

b e c a u s e  you know t h a t  t h a t  is  how t h e y  make m e  swea t ,  of  

making you w a s t e  t i m e ,  and 1 went t o  bed l a s t  n i g h t  a t  

a b o u t  two i n  t h e  morning,  c h e c k i n g  my p a p e r s ,  t o  p r e p a r e  

mysel f  t h e  best  I c o u l d  f o r  a l l  t h i s  c r a p  t h a t  you b r i n g  

i n  h e r e .  

And f o r  t h a t  r e a s o n  I answered you t h e  b e s t  

I c o u l d ,  and I w i l l  t e l l  t h e  j u r y  where d i d  a l l  t h i s  come 

from. 

Are you s a t i s f i e d  w i t h  my answer o r  d o  you 

want more? 

Q I n  o t h e r  words,  you t h o u g h t  M r .  Necuze ' s  

t e s t i m o n y  was s o  un impor tan t  and s o  u n i n t e r e s t i n g  t o  you 

t h a t  you n e v e r  b o t h e r e d  t o  r e a d  h i s  g r a n d  j u r y  t e s t i m o n y  

and h i s  c o o p e r a t i o n  agreement?  Is t h a t  y o u r  t e s t i m o n y ?  

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTFRS. U.S. COURTHOUSE 

FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



Arocena - c r o s s  7mps 

Y e s  o r  no? 

A 1 would l i k e  t o  answer. 

Q I w i l l  a s k  i f  you can answer: 

Did you e v e r  r e ad  M r .  Necuze 's  g rand  ju ry  

t e s t imony  and c o o p e r a t i o n  agreement ,  which was p rov ided  

t o  you by t h e  Government? Yes o r  no? 

A I have n o t  been a b l e  t o  r e a d  it .  

Q Now, whom d i d  you g i v e  your  Omega 7 documents 

t o ,  t o  h i d e  f o r  you? 

A I have never  had any documents from Omega 7. 

Q We w i l l  s t a r t  w i t h  E x h i b i t  1109, ye l l ow  and 

w h i t e  t a g ,  and 1109-A and 1109-B. 

W i l l  you e x p l a i n  t o  t h e  j u ry  how your  f i n g e r -  

p r i n t s  g o t  on a l l  of t h e s e ?  

A Maybe I can  e x p l a i n  t h e  o r i g i n  of t h a t  c a rd -  

board  t h i n g .  

Tha t  c a rdboa rd ,  I had q u i t e  a few of  them. 

They were no t  mine. They belonged t o  my wife.. They 

were f o r  h e r  p i n a t a  b u s i n e s s .  

Do you know where t h e y  were?   hey were i n  

m y -  off kce  ,- w h e r e y a t x  +r&e i n  a n d t o o k  them a n d  t h e  rest  

you a l l  d i d ,  and maybe Necuze d i d  o r  any o t h e r  one of 

t h o s e  peop l e ,  and t h e n  t h e y  g o t  my f i n g e r p r i n t s ,  and I 

have n o t  den i ed  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  t h e  f i n g e r p r i n t s  a r e  on them, 

b u t  it is  d o u b t f u l .  
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Q I am g o i n g  t o  show you E x h i b i t  1008,  a n  

Omega 7 communique, a n d  E x h i b i t  1030-C, wh ich  i s  t h e  

A n a r c h i s t ' s  cook  ~ o o k .  

Did y o u r  w i f e  u s e  t h o s e  f o r  h e r  p i n a t a  b u s i -  

n e s s ,  t o o ?  

A No, s i r .  No. I had  t h i s  book.  I b o u g h t  

i t  a t  a  book s t o r e .  

THE COURT: I n d i c a t i n g  E x h i b i t  1030-C. 

A ( C o n t i n u i n g )  And I b o u g h t  t h e  o t h e r  o n e ,  t h e  

B ig  B r o t h e r ' s  Game, wh ich  e x p l a i n s  a l l  of y o u r  t e c h n i q u e s ,  

a  v e r y  i n t e r e s t i n g  book ,  which everybody s h o u l d  r e a d  arid 

wh ich  d o e s  n o t  show up  v e r y  o f t e n  i n  book s t o r e s .  

Q So  t h e  Government d i d n ' t  p u t  y o u r  f i n g e r p r i n t s  

on t h e r e ;  t h e y  goq t h e r e  b e c a u s e  you had them? 

A T h i s .  was i n  my a p a r t m e n t  t o g e t h e r  w i t h  a  

v a r i e t y  of books .  

Q And how a b o u t  E x h i b i t  1008 ,  t h e  Omega 7 com- 

munique,  which  Agent  M a r t i n  t e s t i f i e d  had  you  p r i n t s  

on i t ?  

THE COURT: Repea t  t h e  q u e s t i o n ,  M r .  R e p o r t e r .  
- -  - - - - - - -  - - - - 

- - - - 
- - - - - - - - - - - - -  - - - -  - - - -  

- - - -  

( Q u e s t i o n  r e a d . )  

A What was s o  d i f f i c u l t  a b o u t  t h i s  document? r 

Q How d i d  y o u r  f i n g e r p r i n t s  g e t  on  t h e r e ?  

A I h a v e  a l r e a d y  e x p l a i n e d  t h a t  you b r o k e  i n t o  

my o f f i c e ,  a n d  i n  my o f f i c e  t h e r e  was an  enormous amount 
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o f  boxes  of  p a p e r  and  b l a n k  p a p e r ,  and I s t i l l  d o u b t  

w h e t h e r  my f i n g e r p r i n t s  a r e  on t h e r e ,  knowing t h a t  Y O U .  

a r e  c a p a b l e  of l i f t i n g  a  f i n g e r p r i n t  and  p u t t i n g  i t  

w h e r e v e r  you want ,  b e c a u s e  t h a t  i s  t h e  way you o p e r a t e .  

T h a t ' s  t h e  way you d o  t h i n g s .  

With r e g a r d  t o  t h i s  document,  anyone  c o u l d  

h a v e  made i t .  I go  t o  y o u r  o f f i c e ,  I c a n  t a k e  o n e  of 

t h e  t h i n g s  t h a t  you u s e ,  a  b l a n k  one .  I l ook  f o r  a  

t y p e w r i t e r ,  and 1 w r i t e  what  I have  t o  w r i t e ,  and I t a k e  

o n e  of  t h e s e  s t i c k e r s ,  I s t i c k  i t  on t h e  t o p ,  and  I s a y  

"Mr. Tabak",  b e c a u s e  i t ' s  g o t  M r .  T a b a k ' s  p r i n t s  on it. 

Come on.  I t h o u g h t  t h a t  you c o u l d  d o  some- 

t h i n g  b e t t e r  t h a n  t h a t .  

Q Of c o u r s e ,  you n e v e r  had a n  Omega 7 communique, 

b e c a u s e  you n e v e r  were a  member of Omega 7? 

A L e t  m e  t e l l  you something .  

Having h e a r d  t h e  t e s t i m o n y  of  M r .  Wack, a s  

c a r e f u l  a s  I was,  b e c a u s e  it seems b e c a u s e  I w r o t e  it w i t h  

b a l l o o n s  on my hands ,  I used  g l o v e s  -- I was a  p r o f e s s i o n a l .  

I d i d n ' t  l e a v e  any  k i n d  of f i n g e r p r i n t s ,  and t h e r e  a r e  

a l s o  f o u r  o r  s i x  sets of  g l o v e s .  

Don ' t  you t h i n k  i f  I were Omar i n  e i g h t  or  t e n  

y e a r s  t h a t  you  would n e v e r  have been  a b l e  t o  g e t  a  s i n g l e  

f i n g e r p r i n t  of  t h a t  p e r s o n  o r  any of  h i s  members, t h a t  I 

was g o i n g  t o  sudden ly  a p p e a r  w i t h  t h i s  amount o f  f i n g e r -  
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p r i n t s ,  s o  e a sy?  

Q So your  t e s t imony  is you were never  a  member 

of Omega 7? _ _  -,-1J_b-. j v -  

A I t o l d  you b e f o r e  t h a t  I d o n ' t  have t h e  

p r i v i l e g e ,  t h e  honor t o  b e  a  member of Omega 7 ,  because  .. * , C'V.rr. r i  

f o r  m e  i t  would b e  an  honor. 
*__> *-*- --< -I" , * .. 

I d o n ' t  c a r e  what you say .  Tha t  i s  what I 

f e e l  f o r  them. 

Q ~ n d  you have a lways  . .  . suppo r t ed  Omega 7 ,  what 

i t  does?  
.11 - 91 1 . 

A Y e s ,  from deep  down i n  my h e a r t ,  and abou t  

t h a t  I w i l l  t a k e  any consequences  t h a t  I have t o  t a k e ,  and 

i f  you want t o  f i n d  m e  g u i l t y  f o r  t h a t ,  f i n e ,  and i f  you 

d o n ' t ,  l e t  t h e  t r i a l  f i n i s h  r i g h t  h e r e  and now, because  

I d o n ' t  f e e l  a t  a l l  ashamed t o  t h a t ,  because  a s  a Cuban, 
I.- i .  , 

a s  a n  e x p a t r i a t e ,  which I am, and a s  a n  anti-Communist and 

a s  a  f i g h t e r ,  which I am, I f e e l  v e r y  proud of t h a t  group 

a s  w e l l  a s  of  many o t h e r  c l a n d e s t i n e  g roups ,  and a l l  t h e y  
+ ***.%>.." & ..* 

do i s  f i g h t  a g a i n s t  Communism and t o  b e  a l l i e s  of t h i s  ... . 

c o u n t r y  and t o  t r y  t o  d e s t r o y  Communism and t o  f i g h t  a g a i n s t  

I m p e r i a l i s t  Rus s i a ,  t h e  ve ry  ones  who a r e  t r y i n g  t o  d e s t r o y  

t h i s  c o u n t r y .  

- Unfo r tuna t e ly ,  you d o n ' t  do any th ing  a g a i n s t  

t 'nem . On t h e  c o n t r a r y ,  yon i r e  t r y i n g  t o  d e s t r o y  t h o s e  

who a r e  s t r u g g l i n g  a g a i n s t  them. 
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Q I n  o t h e r  words ,  you b e l i e v e  t h a t  p e o p l e  who 

blow up b u i l d i n g s  and murder  peop le  i n  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  

s h o u l d  n o t  b e  p r o s e c u t e d  a s  long  a s  t h e y  d o n ' t  l i k e  C a s t r o ?  

A I t h i n k  t h a t  p e o p l e  who v i o l a t e  t h e  law i n  

t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  i f  t h e y  a r e  c a p t u r e d  t h e y  shou ld  b e  

judged i n  a c c o r d a n c e  w i t h  t h e  s i t u a t i o n .  

I n  o u r  c a s e ,  and I am r e f e r r i n g  t o  t h e  c a s e  

of Cubans, i t  s h o u l d  b e  remembered t h a t  t h e  s i t u a t i o n  t h a t  

we a r e  i n  i s  n o t  o u r  f a u l t .  I t  h a s  been provoked by 

t h e  American Government b e c a u s e  of t h e  p a c t  which t h e y  

s i g n e d ,  where t h e y  m i s e r a b l y  t i e d  o u r  hands t r y i n g  t o  keep  

u s  from c a r r y i n g  o u t  o u r  d u t y  t o  f r e e  o u r  c o u n t r y  from 

t h e  hands of t h e  r e d  t y r a n t  and from a  f o r e i g n  power which 

h a s  t h e  I s l a n d  c o m p l e t e l y  covered  w i t h  missiles and 

n u c l e a r  arms,  and i n v a d i n g  a r m i e s  from o t h e r  c o u n t r i e s ,  

p o i n t i n g  where? P o i n t i n g  a t  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  l o o k i n g  

f o r  i n s t r u c t i o n s  a t  any t i m e .  

And who a r e  we? The o n l y  ones  who can  s t o p  
.- , + 

I * , ' - .  

t h a t ,  and t h e y  d o n ' t  want  t o  g i v e  u s  t h e  o p p o r t u n i t y ,  and ...*. 

f o r  t w e n t y - f i v e  y e a r s  t h e y  have been b e t r a y i n g  us-. 

And what d o  you want u s  t o  do? S u r r e n d e r ?  

W e  a r e  n o t  go ing  t o .  A s  l o n g  a s  t h e r e  i s  an  e x i l e d  

Cuban w e  a r e  go ing  t o  go on f i g h t i n g ,  and t h e y  w i l l  go  on 

l i v i n g  h e r e ,  and i n  any c o u r t  of t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  and 
-. . 

the . -  juries w i l l  go on, because w e  w i l l  go  on no  m a t t e r  _ _.....-_- .* 11. ' 3  s .  
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wha t  t h e  p r j c e  i s .  

T h a t ' s  a l l .  

(Con t inued  on  t h e  n e x t  p a g e . )  
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Q S o ,  i n  o t h e r  words ,  you a g r e e  t h a t  t h e  

U n i t e d  S t a t e s  Government s h o u l d  p r o s e c u t e  m u r d e r e r s  and  

bombers i n  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s ,  b u t  you j u s t  f e e l  t h a t  w e  

h a v e  t h e  wrong man this t i m e ?  

A I t  would b e  v e r y  e a s y  f o r  m e  t o  s a y  t h a t  you 

made a m i s t a k e ,  which  is  t r u e .  You s a y  n o ,  b u t  l u c k i l y  

f o r  m e ,  my l u c k  i s  n o t  i n  y o u r  h a n d s ;  I p u t  i t  i n  t h e  

h a n d s  o f  t h e  j u r y .  They are t h e  o n e s  t h a t  h a v e  t o  make 

t h e  d e c i s i o n .  

Q ~ u t  you a g r e e  c o m p l e t e l y  t h a t  t h e  Uni t ed  S t a t e s  

Government s h o u l d  p r o s e c u t e  p e o p l e  who c o m m i t  murde r s  

and  bombings i n  t h e  Uni t ed  S t a t e s ,  i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  Yes 

o r  no. 

A I n  accordance  w i t h  t h e  l a w ,  y e s .  

Q Can you e x p l a i n  t o  t h e  j u r y  why o u t  o f  

2 2 0  m i l l i o n  p e o p l e  i n  t h e  Uni t ed  S t a t e s ,  w e  h a v e  p i c k e d  

on  you? 

A Because  I a l r e a d y  e x p l a i n e d  t o  you b e f o r e  

t h a t  you and a n  e l i t e  g r o u p ,  i n  o r d e r  t o  c o v e r  up a series 
J-CA,mP : L. ' '-- 

o f  s i t u a t i o n s ,  u s e d  m e  a s  a c o r n e r s t o n e  and a s  a s q u e a l e r .  

I am n o t  t h e  f i r s t  o n e ,  n o r  am I t h e  l a s t ,  and  t h e  example 

h a s  b e e n  g i v e n  b e f o r e ,  and even  a t  t h i s  moment, and 

w i l l  c o n t i n u e  i n  t h e  f u t u r e ,  b e c a u s e  a l l  o f  t h i s  i s  p a r t  

of a p l a n  so t h a t  you can  g e t  o u t  o f  it t h e  way t h a t  

you a r e  t r y i n g  t o ,  s o  that  you can comply with t h e  p a c t  
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t h a t  you have s i g n e d ,  s o  t h a t  you can cove r  up your  own 

coward ice ,  beca sue  you d o n ' t  have t h e  ne rve  t o  f i g h t  . 

a g a i n s t  Communism, because  t h e r e  are groups  t h a t  do 

have  t h e  courage  t o  do i t  and you are t h e  ones t h a t  p u t  

them i n t o  d i f f i c u l t  s i t u a t i o n s  and you canno t  a l l ow  

t h a t  because  one h a s  t o  r e s p e c t  p a c t s .  

You a r e  t h e  ones  t h a t  r e s p e c t  p a c t s .  The 

Uni ted  S t a t e s  r e s p e c t s  p a c t s .  One p a r t  o f  t h e  

Uni ted  S t a t e s  f o r c e s  them t o  r e s p e c t  p a c t s ,  p r e c i s e l y ,  t h e  

Communist a l l i e s .  The Comm.mist a l l i e s  are t h e  ones t h a t  

f o r c e  t h e s e  p a c t s  t o  b e  r e s p e c t e d .  

Q And why d i d  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  Government p i ck  

on you i n s t e a d  o f  Pedro  Remon o r  somebody e l s e ?  

A A e c a u s e ,  s imp ly ,  when e v e r y t h i n g  beban ,  

I was supposed t o  i n s t e a d  o f  t e s t i f y i n g  -- I was supposed 

t o  have  t a k e n  t h e  F i f t h  Amendment, because  t h e  p l an  i s  t o  

p u t  a l l  of  t h e  heads  i n s i d e  o f  j a i l ,  and when I s ay  

"head , "  I r e f e r  t o  ho theads ,  which i s  t h e  way you r e f e r  t o  

u s ,  w e  peop l e  who a r e  w o r r i e d  about  f i g h t i n g  f o r  o u r  

c o u n t r y ,  r e v o l u t i o n a r i e s  and f i g h t e r s ,  peop le  who are 

concerned a b o u t  democracy. Those a r e  t h e  ones  you c a l l  

h o t h e a d s ,  peop le  who d o n ' t  a l l ow  Communists t o  do wha tever  

t h e y  want  t o  w i t h  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  peop l e  who b a s e  

themse lves  on t h e i r  own c o n s t i t u t i o n  t o  abuse  t h e  

Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  t o  t r y  t o  d e s t r o y  i t ,  t o  become a l l i e s  w i t h  
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t h e  enemy, t h e y  c r e a t e  d e s t r u c t i o n  ' w i t h i n  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  

and  when someone who shows up who i s  a g a i n s t  t h o s e  f o r c e s ,  

t h e y  a r e  h o t h e a d s ,  t h e y  a r e  opposed t o  p a c t s .  One h a s  

t o  d e s t r o y  t h e s e  peop l e  and t h a t  s t a r t e d  more t h a n  t e n  

y e a r s  ago ,  a f t e r  t h e  p a c t  you had t o  p u t  everyone i n  j a i l ,  

and you d i d  l i t t l e  by l i t t l e ,  l i t t l e  by l i t t l e .  

Q I s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  . - -  t h a t  i n  September,  1982,  

you concluded t h a t  Pedro Remon had r a t t e d  on you and 
-...-.-..as. . . 

you dec ided  t o  r a t  on him and everyone else i n  t h e  group? 

A I t  i s  n o t  t r u e .  On t h e  c o n t r a r y ,  a l l  o f  the 

rumors t h a t  you s t a r t e d  going i n  the s t ree t  were comple te ly  

backwards.  You a l s o  s a i d  t h a t  through Pedro Remon you 
& - . , * - " -  ., * - -  

had  g o t t e n  t o  m e ,  when t h e  t r u t h  i s  r e a l l y  something else. 
\--el.-.- l Y  *. Y *I. . 

You a r e  p r o t e c t i n g  some peop l e  who from s i n c e  t h e  y e a r  
. - -> 

1979 -- some person  gave my name and you know who t h a t  i s ,  
* ,  , 

and you changed t h a t  p e r s o n ' s  s i t u a t i o n  a t  t h a t  t i m e  and 

~ t a r t ~ d p o i n t i n g  a t  m e  and p o i n t i n g  a t  a whole series o f  

c o m p a t r i o t s  who a r e  i n  e x i l e .  - .  

Don ' t blame Pedro Remon. Don' t blame anyone. 

You a r e  t h e  ones  who c r e a t e d  t h e  s i t u a t i o n  which i s  d i v i d i n g  

u s  comple te ly .  You showed m e  p a p e r s ,  you showed m e  

s t a t e m e n t s ,  you showed m e  t a p e s  o f  c o n v e r s a t i o n s  w i t h  a l l  

of these compa t r i o t s .  who were t e s t i ' f y i n g  a g a i n s t  m e  and 

g i v i n g  i n fo rma t ion  a g a i n s t  m e  and a g a i n s t  o t h e r  compa t r i o t s ,  

t r y i n g  t o  g e t  m e  t o c o o p e r a t e ,  t h a t  t h e y  were enemies o f  t h e  
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U n i t e d  S t a t e s ,  t h a t  t h e y  were e v e n  c o o p e r a t i n g  w i t h  Cuba, 

a n d  I h e a r d  you a n d  I t o l d  you a t  t h a t  t i m e  I d i d n ' t  w a n t  

a n y t h i n g  t o  d o  w i t h  t h a t  b e c a u s e  w e  Cubans h a v e  a p a c t  

among o u r s e l v e s .  W e  d o  n o t  b e l i e v e  a n y t h i n g  u n t i l  t h e  

p e r s o n  s i t s  down h e r e  and  s t a r t s  t a l k i n g .  I a m  t e l l i n g  

you  s o  t h a t  you  w i l l  know w h a t  - t h e  t h i n g  is l i k e ,  s o  t h a t  

you  w i l l  know how w e  Cubans a r e ,  s o  t h a t  you  w i l l  know how 

J u s t o  Rodr iguez  h a d  t o  f e e l ,  and  Necuze,  when t h e y  s a t  

h e r e ,  a n d  t h a t  o t h e r  c r a p  a b o u t  Manny Fernandez  d o e s n ' t  

i n t e r e s t  m e  b e c a u s e  h e  i s  n o t h i n g  b u t  a  c r i m i n a l ,  and  you 

know who h e  i s .  H e  i s  a c r i m i n a l  who works  f o r  Castro, 

a c o n f e s s e d  c r i m i n a l  who h a s  b e e n  r u i n i n g  t h i s  c o u n t r y  

w i t h  d r u g s ,  b u t  you a r e  p r o t e c t i n g  him,  

Q And t h a t  i s  why you  l e t  him i n  y o u r  h o u s e  

where  y o u r  c h i l d r e n  l i v e ?  

MR. FERNANDEZ : Your Honor, mos t  r e s p e c t f u l l y ,  

c o u l d  w e  h a v e  a  s i d e  b a r  o r  a  s m a l l  b r e a k ?  W e  h a v e  a 

matter t h a t  r e a l l y  s h o u l d n ' t  come b e f o r e  the j u r y .  I t  i s  

c o l l a t e r a l  t o  t h e  t r i a l ,  b u t  w e  need  a b r e a k  a t  t h i s  t i m e .  

THE COURT: W e  w i l l  t a k e  a s h o r t - r e c e s s ,  
p p p p p p p p p p - - - - - -  

l a d i e s  a n d  gen t l emen .  

L a d i e s  and  gen t l emen ,  please d o  n o t  d i s c u s s  t h e  

case among y o u r s e l v e s ,  and  c o n t i n u e  t o  k e e p  an open  mind. 

T h e r e  w i l l  b e  a  b r i e f  recess, p e r h a p s  t e n ,  maybe a f e w  more 

m i n u t e s  t h a n  t h a t .  
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(-The j u r y  l e f t  t h e  cour t room)  

THE COURT: W e  w i l l  p r o c e e d  t o  t h e  s i d e  b a r ,  

CAt t h e  s i d e  b a r )  

MR. FERNANDEZ: I w i l l  p r e f a c e  my comment o r  

s t a t e m e n t  by making a comment t h a t  t h e  work o f  t h e  

i n t e r p r e t e r  h a s  b e e n  e x c e l l e n t .  However, I n o t e d  t h a t  

h e  h a s  b e e n  t r a n s l a t i n g  f o r  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  two h o u r s  

and  i n  t h e  l a s t  r e s p o n s e ,  which g o t  somewhat w inded ,  t h e r e  

w e r e  a c o u p l e  o f  words  t h a t  were p e r h a p s  c r u c i a l  and  

a t  t h e  same t i m e  I t h o u g h t  p e r h a p s  h e  needdd a b r e a k .  

I a s k e d  t h e  head  o f  t h e  i n t e r p r e t e r s  i f  i t  would  be 

p r o p e r  and  s h e  s a i d  t o  t a k e  t h e  m a t t e r  a t  t h e  s i d e  b a r .  

I n  a l l  f a i r n e s s  t o  h im,  t h e  i n t e r p r e t a t i o n  

h a s  b e e n  e x c e l l e n t .  The one  word t h a t  gave  m e  a problem 

was " c h i v o  e x p i a t o r i o ,  " and t h e  word t h a t  t h e  i n t e r p r e t e r  

u s e d  o r  t r a n s l a t e d  was a s  " s q u e a l e r "  -- 
THE INTERPRETER: And it s h o u l d  h a v e  b e e n  

" s c a p e g o a t .  

MS. K O H N :  W e  b o t h  a g r e e  w i t h  t h a t ,  y o u r  

Honor.  

THE INTERPRETER: I c o u l d n ' t  s t o p  and g o  b a c k .  

I c a u g h t  it  m y s e l f ,  b u t  t h e r e  w a s  no way t o  go  b a c k ,  

THE COURT: I s u g g e s t  w e  c o r r e c t  t h e  r e c o r d  when 

t h e  j u r y  r e t u r n s .  

A l l  r i g h t ,  w e  w i l l  h a v e  a b r i e f  recess, 
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(IRecess) 

( J u r y  p r e s e n t )  

THE COURT: M r .  Arocena,  M r .  P a l m e r .  

L a d i e s  and gent lemen,  d u r i n g  t h e  recess I h a d  

a c o n f e r e n c e  w i t h  c o u n s e l  .and(  .our o f f i c i a l  c o u r t  

i n t e r p r e t e r ,  M i s s  Dena Kohn, and i t  was b r o u g h t  t o  my 

a t t e n t i o n  t h a t  a b o u t  f i v e  m i n u t e s  b e f o r e  t h e  recess, i n  a n  

answer  which w a s  i n t e r p r e t e d  by M r .  Pa lmer ,  h e  i n t e r p r e t e d  

a S p a n i s h  word a s  " s q u e a l e r . "  You may remember t h e  answer.  

I t  h a s  b e e n  a g r e e d  t h a t  t h e  correct i n t e r p r e t a t i o n  o f  t h e  

word used  by  t h e  w i t n e s s  a t  t h a t  p o i n t  w a s  " scapegoa t . "  

Gentlemen,  does t h a t  accord w i t h  o u r  

d i s c u s s i o n ?  

MR. FERNANDEZ : Thank you,  y o u r  Honor, y e s .  

THE COURT : You may p r o c e e d ,  M r .  Tabak. 

MR. TABAK: Thank you, your  Honor. 

Q I b e l i e v e  t h e r e  w a s  a q u e s t i o n  pend ing  b e f o r e  

t h e  b r e a k .  W a s  t h e r e  a q u e s t i o n  pending?  

CQues t i o n  r e a d )  

Y ME, TABAK: 

- - - - - - - - - 

Q w a s  r e f e r r i n g  t o  Marmy-Fernandez, - - - - - - - 

A No, sir.  I e x p l a i n e d  p r e v i o u s l y  wha t  the 

c i r c u m s t a n c e s  were. 

Q You t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  you were s u r v e i l l i n g  him, 

n o t  that he w a s  s u r v e i l l i n g  you,  c o r r e c t ?  
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A T h a t  ' s c o r r e c t .  

Q And you knew t h i s  man w a s  a d r u g  dealer,  

c o r r e c t ?  

A Y e s ,  s ir.  

Q And you h a t e  d r u g s ,  c o r r e c t ?  

A With a l l  t h e  s t r e n g t h  o f  my h e a r t .  

Q And you h a d  t h a t  man, w i t h  y o u r  knowledge ,  

i n s i d e  y o u r  h o u s e ,  c o r r e c t ?  Y e s  o r  no. 

A T h a t  man made a phone c a l l  t o  m e  a g a i n s t  my 

w i l l .  

(-Continued on n e x t  page )  
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Q Did you l e t  him i n  your house? 

THE COURT: Are you say ing  t h a t  he made a phone 

c a l l  from your house? 

THE WITNESS: Y e s .  

THE COURT: And i s  it your tes t imony t h a t  t h a t  

was done wi thout  your knowledge? 

THE WITNESS: No, your Honor. He was o u t s i d e  

i n  t h e  c a r ,  and he asked m e  whether he could c a l l  h i s  

lawyer. I t r i e d  t o  p u t  t h i n g s  o f f ,  and he  t o l d  me it was 

very  impor tan t  f o r  him t o  c a l l  h i s  lawyer a t  a  s p e c i f i c  . 

t ime ,  and I had no o t h e r  choice ,  j u s t  o u t  of cou r t e sy  and 

so  t h a t  Ignac io  would n o t  g e t  angry i n  t h e  f u t u r e ,  and s o  

he himself  wouldn ' t  g e t  angry f o r  a  l i t t l e  t h i n g  l i k e  

c a l l i n g  on t h e  phone. 

And s o ,  o o n t r a r y  t o  my w i l l ,  I l e t  him go i n t o  

t h e  house and make t h e  c a l l ,  b u t  I d i d  t e l l  him q u i t e  

c l e a r l y  -- bu t  I warned him q u i t e  c l e a r l y  f o r  him n o t  t o  

make any o t h e r  kind of c a l l .  

I pu t  t h e  packages t h a t  I had brought from 

t h e  s t o r e ,  I pu t  them down, i n  o t h e r  words, and I went 

i n t o  thep o t h e r  roomp tci speak t o  m y  wife a d  te g i v e h e r  

some money t h a t  was necessary  f o r  t h e  r e n t ,  and dur ing  

t h a t  time M r .  Fernandez took advantage of t h a t  t o  go  i n t o  

t h e  fami ly  room i n  o r d e r  t o  make t h e  phone c a l l .  

Q I n  o t h e r  words, you showed him your house and 
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you l e t  him i n t o  your  house? Y e s  o r  no? 

THE COURT: He asked f o r  a y e s  o r  no. 

A Y e s ,  s i r ,  b u t  I would l i k e  t o  e x p l a i n .  

Q W e l l ,  your  a t t o r n e y  can  a s k  you on r e d i r e c t .  

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I d o n ' t  t h i n k  it i s  

up t o  M r .  Tabak t o  i n s t r u c t  t h e  w i t n e s s .  

THE COURT: I w i l l  l e t  him e x p l a i n  now, b u t  

n o t  what he j u s t  t o l d  us .  I f  he wishes  t o  e x p l a i n  h i s  

answer - 
THE WITNESS: A s  you know and based on t h e  

r e l a t i o n s h i p  w i t h  M r .  Fernandez,  when I took him i n t o  my 

house I went round and round s o  he  would n o t  know where 

my house  was, and t h e  way I went i n  was s o  t h a t  h e  would 

n o t  be  a b l e  t o  s e e  t h e  number on my house ,  because  I was 

n o t  t h e  l e a s t  b i t  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  M r .  ~ e rnandez ' knowing  

where I l i v e ,  because  I had no i n t e n t i o n  of l e t t i n g  

M r .  Fernandez  go i n t o  my house. 

A l l  I had t o  do was t o  a r r i v e  a t  t h e  house 

and l e a v e  t h e  packages which my w i f e  needed and l e a v e  t h e  

money f o r  t h e  r e n t ,  t h e  money t h a t  s h e  needed t o  pay t h e  

r e n t  and l e a v e  immedia te ly .  

Q Is t h e r e  a street s i g n  on t h e  c o r n e r  a t  you r  

house?  

A I t ' s  covered w i t h  p o l i t i c a l  propaganda paper .  

Q Is t h e r e  a street s i g n  by your  house  t h a t  bea r s  
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t h e  name of t h e  s t r e e t ?  

A I t ' s  covered  w i t h  s t r i p s  of p o l i t i c a l  docu-. 

ments.  

Q And you remember on t h a t  day,  two and a h a l f  

y e a r s  ago,  i t  was covered  s o  M r .  Fernandez would n o t  be 

a b l e  t o  see what s treet  you l i v e d  on? 

A I n  t h e  way t h a t  I drove  him t h e r e ,  yes .  I n  

t h e  way t h a t  he  saw l a t e r ,  a t  my r e f e r e n c e ,  and I made 

r e f e r e n c e  t o  t h a t  l a t e r  when you asked  m e ,  I s a i d  t h a t  t h e  

Government had t aken  him l a t e r  on t h e r e  f o r  him t o  f i n d  

o u t  where I l i v e d ,  because  I am ve ry  s u r e  t h a t  M r .  Fernandez 

up t o  t h a t  p o i n t  d i d  n o t  know where I l i v e d .  

Q The f a c t  i s  t h a t  t h i s  s treet  s i g n  was 

uncovered on t h e  day he  was t h e r e ?  

A N o ,  s i r .  

Q You remember t h a t  from two and a h a l f  y e a r s  ' 

ago? 

A W e l l ,  I s a w  it eve ry  s i n g l e  day when I went 

t o  my house. 

Q And d i d  you have t h e  number of your  house out-  

s i d e  your  house? 

A I t ' s  i n  a p o s i t i o n  t h a t  peop le  can  h a r d l y  

r e a l i z e  i t ' s  t h e r e ,  because  everyone who goes  t h e r e  l ooks  

f o r  t h e  number s t u c k  on t h e  w a l l .  

Q But it i s  o u t s i d e  t h e  house? 
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A I t  i s  on a b l a c k  s ign ' .  You have t o  go 

around t o  t h e  s i d e  and look a t  it.  

Q And of  c o u r s e  you d i d n ' t  run on ahead and 

c o v e r  t h e  number s o  M r .  Fernandez c o u l d n ' t  see i t ,  d i d  

you? 

A No, b u t  t h e  s i g n  i s  ove r  h e r e ,  and I came i n  

t h i s  way. I t ' s  imposs ib l e  t o  see t h e  number, because  

my driveway is  c i r c u l a r .  

Q And of c o u r s e  when you were d r i v i n g  M r .  Fernande 

around t o  make s u r e  he  c o u l d n ' t  see any o t h e r  s t reet  s i g n s  

t h a t  were uncovered,  you b l i n d f o l d e d  him; i s  t h a t  r i g h t ?  

A No, b u t  I was l ook ing  a t  h i s  eyes  and I was 

t a l k i n g  t o  him, t o  be s u r e  t h a t  he  wasn ' t  l ook ing  a t  any 

o t h e r  p l a c e ,  because  he  unders tood ve ry  w e l l  what t h e  

message was. 

THE COURT: Could w e  s t a y  w i t h  t h a t  j u s t  a 

moment? 

MR. TABAK: Y e s ,  your Honor. 

THE COURT: H e  went i n t o  your  house and used 

you r  t e l e p h o n e  t o  c a l l  h i s  lawyer? 

THE WITNESS: T h a t ' s  what he  t o l d  m e ,  your  

Honor. 

THE COURT: Was t h e r e  a number on you r  tele- 

phone? 

THE WITNESS: Y e s .  
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THE COURT: Very w e l l .  Proceed.  

THE WITNESS: R igh t  on t h e  t e l ephone .  

THE COURT: Righ t  on t h e  t e l ephone  was you r  

t e l e p h o n e  number? 

THE WITNESS: Y e s .  

BY MR. TABAK (Con t inu ing ) :  

Q Before  M r .  Fernandez made t h e  t e l e p h o n e  c a l l ,  

d i d  you t a k e  some b l a c k  e l e c t r i c i a n ' s  t a p e  and c o v e r  t h e  

t e l e p h o n e  number s o  M r .  Fernandez c o u l d n ' t  see t h e  number? 

THE COURT: H e  d i d n ' t  s a y  any th ing  l i k e  t h a t .  

Why d o n ' t  you l e a v e  t h a t  a l one .  

You d o n ' t  have  t o  answer t h a t ,  M r .  Arocena. 

Next q u e s t i o n .  

Q M r .  Arocena, you t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  Enr ique  C a s t r o  

i s  a f r i e n d  of you r s .  

A Y e s  , sir.  H e  i s  a good person.  H e  i s  a 

pe r son  I have known f o r  a long  t ime.  H e  i s  a pe rson  who 

h a s  a v e r y  s o l i d  r e p u t a t i o n  i n  t h e  community. A s  f a r  as 

I know, and I have known him f o r  q u i t e  some t ime ,  h e  h a s  

had d i f f e r e n t  b u s i n e s s e s  i n  d i f f e r e n t  p l a c e s ,  and h e  i s  a 

man who i s  accustomed t o  h e l p i n g  everyone,  and he i s  a 

pe r son  who you were p r e c i s e l y  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  h u r t i n g .  

I d o n ' t  know f o r  what reason.  But a s  f a r  a s  I am con- 

c e r n e d  M r .  C a s t r o  i s  a f i n e  pe r son ,  a ve ry  good person .  
f t I f ,% 

Q Now, you r e c a l l  t h a t  o ~ _ t h e & a ~ - t , ~ a t  M r .  H u b e r t  
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Garc i a  was m.wdeixCLLyhen.you g o t  t h e  p a r G n 7 g  " t i c k e t  

n e a r  t h e  Cuban Miss ion ,  t h a t  was because  you were making 

a  phone c a l l  t o  M r .  Enr ique Cas t ro ;  i s  t h a t  t r u e ?  -.,. - L - . - " -" . ""'.-"- 

A P o s s i b l y ,  among some of t h e  phone c a l l s  t h a t  

I was making, ye s .  

Q And on t h a t  t a p e  t h a t  h a s  been p laced  b e f o r e  

t h e  j u r y ,  where you t o l d  M r .  Wack about  M r .  *,....- Enrique ~ ,.,.,-- -.." x .. - - - +  C a s t r o ' s  - *-.  A % v* 

drug  o p e r a t i o n s  and o t h e r  a c t i v i t i e s ,  t h a t  was a l s o  a 

f a b r i c a t i o n ,  t h a t  t a p e ?  __ - . -* - 
A Abso lu t e ly .  I deny t h a t  a b s o l u t e l y .  You 

+.-A-- "- "- - - -  -, - ., C .  

have g o t t e n  t h a t  from some o t h e r  s o u r c e ,  because  you 

wanted t o  h u r t  t h a t  man, and I d o n ' t  know f o r  what reason .  

Q I show you Government's E x h i b i t  2,  t h e  a d v i c e  

of r i g h t s  form from September 25, 1982. Tha t  is  your  

s i g n a t u r e ;  i s n ' t  i t ?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q And I show you E x h i b i t  3 ,  which i s  t h e  a d v i c e  

of r i g h t s  form i n  Span ish  from September 25, 1982. Tha t  

i s  your  s i g n a t u r e  on i t ,  i s  it no t ?  

A Y e s ,  s ir .  

Q I am going  t o  show you E x h i b i t  4 ,  wh ich l . i s  

t h e  a d v i c e  o f  r i g h t s  form from September 26, 1982. Is 

t h a t  your  s i g n a t u r e ?  

A Y e s .  They a l l  look  q u i t e  a l o t  l i k e  my 

s i g n a t u r e .  
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Q I show you E x h i b i t  5, which i s  t h e  a d v i c e  

of r i g h t s  form from September 25, 1982. Is t h a t  you r  
- 

s i g n a t u r e ?  

A Yes. I t  a l s o  l ooks  l i k e  my s i g n a t u r e .  

I would s a y  t h a t  it i s  my s i g n a t u r e .  

Q I show you E x h i b i t  623, which i s  t h e  a d v i c e  of 

r i g h t s  form from September 28, 1982. 

Is  t h a t  your  s i g n a t u r e ?  

A I t  looks  l i k e  my s i g n a t u r e .  

Q I am go ing  t o  show you E x h i b i t  624, which i s  ' 

t h e  Span i sh  a d v i c e  of r i g h t s  form from September 26, 1982. 

Is  t h a t  your  s i g n a t u r e ?  

A I t  seems t o  be my s i g n a t u r e .  

Q I show you E x h i b i t  631-A, which i s  t h e  per-  

m i s s i o n  t o  s e a r c h  i n  Span ish  from September 22, 1982. 

I s  t h a t  your  s i g n a t u r e ?  

A No. T h i s  does  n o t  l ook  l i k e  my s i g n a t u r e .  

Q I s n ' t  i t  a  f a c t  t h a t  on a l l  t h e s e  d a t e s  i n  

September 1982 you t o l d  t h e  FBI a l l  abou t  you r se l f  and 

Omega 7 and t h a t  you have made up e v e r y t h i n g  you have 

s a i d  a b o u t  M r .  Necuze, about  b e i n g  drugged and kidnaped? 

MR. AGUILAR: Your Honor, I am going t o  o b j e c t  

t o  it as a compound q u e s t i o n .  

THE COURT: Y e s .  I t  i s  a compound q u e s t i o n .  

I t h i n k  t h e  form i s  i n a p p r o p r i a t e .  Break it down, and you 
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may i n q u i r e .  

MR. TABAK: I w i l l  u s e  t h e  second h a l f  of . 

t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

Q ~ s n ' t  i t  a f a c t  t h a t  you a r e  t r y i n g  t o  blame 

M r .  Necuze f o r  t h i n g s  t h a t  you d i d ?  

A No , sir.  

MR. TABAK: I have no f u r t h e r  q u e s t i o n s .  

THE COURT: I have j u s t  a  few, b e f o r e  t h e  

r e d i r e c t  examinat ion.  

M r .  Arocena, you t e s t i f i e d  y e s t e r d a y  a t  

Page 2334, beg inn ing  a t  l i n e  23,  t a l k i n g  abou t  a  con- 

v e r s a t i o n  t h a t  you had w i t h  M r .  Wack, and you s a i d ,  begin-  

n i n g  on l i n e  23, t o  M r .  Wack: 

"I know a l l  abou t  you, excep t  t h a t  I t r u s t e d  

you t o o  much. I thought  you were l o y a l .  I t hough t  

you were d e c e n t  i n  c e r t a i n  a s p e c t s ,  and I was t r u s t -  

i n g ,  and t h a t  i s  what h u r t s ,  and a l o t  of peop le  a r e  

go ing  t o  g e t  a bad impress ion .  Tha t  is  t h e  reason  

I am h e r e ,  s o  my whole coun t ry  w i l l  know how you 

work, what your  t a c t i c s  a r e  l i -ke ,  what you do w i t h  

US, SO t h a t  no one w i l l  be confused i n  t h e  f u t u r e  

and t h a t  t hey  w i l l  never  b e  a b l e  t o  set t h i s  t r a p  

a g a i n ,  and e s p e c i a l l y  what you do w i t h  ou r  f a m i l i e s ,  

how you t e r r o r i z e  them, how you bug t h e  t e l ephone ,  

how you even ge t  i n t o  ou r  m a i l ,  how you i n t e r f e r e  
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w i t h  eve ry th ing ,  how ou r  p r i v a t e  l i f e  h a s  s topped  

e x i s t i n g  f o r  eve ry th ing .  " 

Did you say  t h o s e  t h i n g s  t o  M r .  Wack on t h e  

t e l ephone?  

THE WITNESS: Y e s ,  your Honor. 

THE COURT: You i n d i c a t e  h e r e  t h a t  you t r u s t e d  

him, and my q u e s t i o n  t o  you is: 

When d i d  ydu s t o p  t r u s t i n g  Agent Wack? Was 

it b e f o r e  o r  a f t e r  September 26, 1982, when you say  you 

w e r e  drugged by t h e  FBI? 

THE WITNESS: I r e f e r  t o  t r u s t i n g  him, I r e f e r  

t o  t h e  way i n  which they  have a c t e d ,  what t hey  mean, t h a t  

I never  thought  t h a t  they  w e r e  c apab le  of  doing such a 

t h i n g .  

THE COURT: Did t h e r e  come a t i m e  when you 

s topped  t r u s t i n g  him, o r  do you t r u s t  him today? 

THE WITNESS: I do n o t  t r u s t  him, b u t  I do 

t r u s t  i n  t h e  rest of North American j u s t i c e ,  which i s  

what 1 am t r y i n g  t o  p o i n t  o u t  here .  

THE COURT: You t o l d  g s  t h a t .  I n  any pvent ,  

you i n d i c a t e  t h e r e  d i d  come a t i m e ,  some t i m e  b e f o r e  

t oday ,  when you s topped t r u s t i n g  M r .  Wack; i s  t h a t  

c o r r e c t ?  

THE WITNESS: Y e s ,  your Honor. 

THE COURT: Before  you s topped  t r u s t i n g  M r .  
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Wack,. d i d  y o u . g i v e  him any in format ion  which you thought  

would h e l p  i n  your f i g h t  a g a i n s t  C a s t r o  and Communism?. 

Yes o r  no? 

THE WITNESS: No, jir. 

THE COURT: I n  o t h e r  words, you never  gave 

him any in fo rma t ion  concerning Omega 7 f i g h t i n g  a g a i n s t  

C a s t r o  and Communism; i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

THE WITNESS : No, sir .  What he  s a i d  t o  m e ,  ._ L C - U I I - W I - * , C  -*. i>t- .r  - . 

t h a t  he had an o r d e r  from h i s  Government f o r  u s  t o  h e l p  - .  

him f i g h t  a g a i n s t  t e r r o r i s m  t h e  United S t a t e s ,  

Communist t e r r o r i s m ,  t h e  i n f i l t r a t i o n ,  t h e  Communist 
.--.--* - - , 

"0  9 

i n f i l t r a t i o n ,  C a s t r o  Communist i n f i l t r a t i o n .  
% 7 

THE COURT: W e l l ,  d i d  you h e l p  him i n  t h i s  

f i g h t  aga insq  C a s t r o  and Communism? Y e s  o r  no? 

THE WITNESS: No, sir.  I simply l i s t e n e d  t o  

him. 

THE COURT: And you never gave him any informa- 

t i o n  t o  h e l p  him i n  t h e  f i g h t  i n  which he was engaged; i s  

t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

THE WITNESS: Y e s ,  your  Honor. The only t h i n g  
-I- .Ad"- 'k . 

I thought 

t h a t  they  were our  a l l i e s  and then  I saw eve ry th ing  was a 

l i e  and what t h e y  wanted t o  do was d e s t r o y  US, and t h a t  

i s  t h e  reason  I say t h a t  I w i l l  never  aga in  t r u s t  him, 

no r  w i l l  I e v e r  t r u s t  anyone aga in .  
... . . 
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THE COURT: You j u s t  s a i d  t h a t  you t h o u g h t  

t h e y  were your  a l l i e s ;  is  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

THE WITNESS: The same t h a t  I t hough t  . they  

were a l l i e s  of  a l l  of  us .  

THE COURT: When you thought  t h e y  were a l l i e s  

and you t r u s t  them, d i d  you h e l p  them? Yes o r  no? 

THE WITNESS: No, your  Honor. Not i n  t h e  way 

t h a t  t h e y  exp re s sed .  I d i d  n o t  h e l p  them. 

THE COURT: Did you h e l p  them i n  some o t h e r  way? 

THE WITNESS: No. I s imply  l i s t e n e d  t o  what 

he  was s a y i n g .  I l i s t e n e d  t o  him a l l  t h e  t i m e .  

THE COURT: You a lways  l i s t e n e d  and you never  

s a i d  a n y t h i n g ?  

THE WITNESS: I p u t  b e f o r e  them t h e  p o l i t i c a l  

s t a t e m e n t s  which I f e e l  a s  a  Cuban. They asked  m e  what  

I f e l t  f o r  my coun t ry .  They asked m e  abou t  t h e  t r i p s  

t h a t  I had made t o  Cuba. They asked  m e  a  l o t  o f  t h i n g s  

b u t  n o t h i n g  t h a t  would i n d i c a t e  t h a t  I shou ld  g i v e  them 

i n f o r m a t i o n  abou t  anybody. 

THE COURT: What abou t  a l l  t h e  t a p e s  w e  hea rd  

t h a t  w e r e  p l ayed  h e r e  i n  c o u r t ?  Wasn' t  t h a t  you speak ing  

w i t h  M r .  Wack? 

THE WITNESS: Your Honor, t h e r e  were normal 

c o n v e r s a t i o n s ,  normal i n t e r r o g a t i o n s  t h a t  I make. 

THE COURT: The conve r sa t i ons :  Were t h e y  t h e  
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c o n v e r s a t i o n s  t h a t  w e  heard  h e r e  i n  t h i s  courtroom d u r i n g  

t h e  t r i a l ?  Yes o r  no? 

THE WITNESS: I t  i s  p o s s i b l e  some. They 

e x t r a c t  t h i n g s  from t h e  t a p e s .  I n  t h e  way they  f u n c t i o n  

t h e y  e x t r a c t  t h e  words. They make a q u e s t i o n n a i r e  upr  

and t h e n  t h e y  g e t  t h e  answers.  They p u t  them a l l  

t o g e t h e r ,  and it looks  l i k e  a normal c 'onversat ion.  Tha t  

I can do. Anyone can do t h a t  w i t h  a bunch of d i f f e r e n t  

t a p e s .  They know they  can do t h a t .  They know what 

I am t a l k i n g  about .  

THE COURT: I n  o t h e r  words, i t  i s  your  

t es t imony t h a t  t h i s  i s  your  vo i ce  b u t  t h a t  t h e s e  con- 

v e r s a t i o n s  were changed around? Is t h a t  your  tes t imony? 

THE WITNESS: On some occas ions  I recognize  my 

vo ice .  A t  o t h e r  t i m e s  I d o n ' t .  

THE COURT: When you recognized your vo i ce ,  

w e r e l t h o s e  t h e  words t h a t  you spoke a t  t h e  t ime? 

THE WITNESS: Not i n  t h e  c o o r d i n a t i o n  i n  which 

it i s  se t  down t h e r e .  

THE COURT: So it i s  your v o i c e  b u t  t h e  words 

were changed around? Is t h a t  your  tes t imony? 

THE WITNESS: Not i n  a l l  t h e  t a p e s ,  your  Honor. 

THE COURT: I n  some of them; i s  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

THE WITNESS: Y e s ,  your Honor. They have 

a l t e r e d  t h e  t a p e s .  

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTER$. U.S. COURTHOUSE 
FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



mPs Arocena - c r o s s  2 4 4 2  

THE COURT: I t  i s  your t es t imony  t h a t  it i s  . . 
your  v o i c e  on many of t h e  t a p e s  b u t  t h a t  t h e  t a p e s  were 

a l t e r e d  by t h e  Government? Yes o r  no? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, your  Honor. T h a t ' s  

c o r r e c t .  

THE COURT: I f  counse l  wishes  t o  make any 

f u r t h e r  i n q u i r y  on cross-examinat ion i n  view of  t h e  ques-  

t i o n s  asked  by t h e  Cour t ,  he  may proceed.  I f  n o t ,  w e  

w i l l  proceed t o  t h e  r e d i r e c t  examination.  

MR. TABAK: I have no th ing  f u r t h e r  on c r o s s -  

examina t ion ,your  Honor. 

MR. FERNANDEZ: May I have a minute ,  your  

Honor? 

THE COURT : C e r t a i n l y .  

(Pause .  ) 

THE COURT: I n c i d e n t a l l y ,  l a d i e s  and gentlemen,  

I would l i k e  t o  i n s t r u c t  you t h a t  t h e  q u e s t i o n s  asked by 

t h e  Cour t  a r e  asked  f o r  c l a r i f i c a t i o n .  They do n o t  mean 

and t h e y  should  n o t  mean t o  you t h a t  I t a k e . a  p o s i t i o n  one 

way o r  ano the r .  

You may proceed,  Counsel.  

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. FERNANDEZ : 

Q M r .  Arocena, you i n d i c a t e d  i n  one of t he . answer s  

on cross-examinat ion asked  by M r .  Tabak -- 
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THE COURT: I thought  he s a i d  it r i g h t .  

L e t ' s  hear  t h e  ques t ion .  

(Ques t ion  read . )  

THE COURT: You meant q u e s t i o n s  asked by M r .  

Tabak o r  M r .  Tabak's  cross-examinat ion,  b u t  i n  any event  

why d o n ' t  we s t a r t  again .  

Q You i n d i c a t e d  your d e s t i n y  when you were i n  

Spa in  was t o  come t o  t h e  U.S. Why d i d  you want t o  come 

t o  t h e  U.S.? 

A Because i n  t h e  f i r s t  p l a c e  t h e  United S t a t e s  

c a l l e d  t o  u s  Cubans. They o f f e r e d  United S t a t e s  t e r r i t o r y  

t o  u s  t o  t r a i n  us  s o  t h a t  w e  could  go back t o  Cuba and t o  

overthrow t h e  Communist regime i n  Cuba. 

Q S i r ,  you i n d i c a t e d  t h a t  i n  your apartment you 

had 

t a b  

s e v e r a l  books. 

MR. FERNANDEZ: May I j u s t  approach counse l  

l e ?  

A That  i s  t h e  so -ca l l ed  Anarchis t  Cook Book, 

which i s  i n  evidence.  The t a g  merely reads  f o r  iden- 

t i f i c a t i o n ,  b u t  I r e c a l l  w e  r ece ived  a  l a r g e  number of 

e x h i b i t s  a t  t h a t  t ime ,  and they  were n o t  a c t u a l l y  marked 

i n  evidence.  

MR. FERNANDEZ: 1030-B and 1030-C. 

THE COURT : d o n ' t  t h i n k  t h e  t a g s  are  

d a t e .  

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS. US .  COURTHOUSE 

FOLEY SQUARE. NEW YORK. N.Y. - 791-1020 



mPs Arocena - r e d i r e c t  2 4 4 4  

MR. TABAK: Indeed ,  w e  would r e q u e s t ,  w i thou t  

w a s t i n g  t h e  j u r y ' s  time, t h a t  a l l  t h o s e  e x h i b i t s  r e ce ived  

be  a p p r o p r i a t e l y  marked. 

THE COURT: Very w e l l .  

Q The two books,  t h e  Big  Bro the r  G a m e  and t h e  

A n a r c h i s t ' s  Cook Book: How d i d  you g e t  t h e s e  books? 

A A t  a p l a c e  where t hey  se l l  magazines. I t  i s  

a p u b l i c  p l a c e  where thpy s e l l  them. 

Q A r e g u l a r  books tore?  

A Y e s .  I t  is  a p l a c e  where they  se l l  newspapers 

and magazines. I t  i s  n e a r  my house. 

Q You read  t h e  books? 

A Y e s ,  i n  p a r t .  

Q And you had t h e  books a t  your  house? 

A Y e s .  I had a g r e a t  amount of books. I had 

d i c t i o n a r i e s .  

Q Now, when you stowed away from Cuba, I b e l i e v e  

i n  1965, and you l e f t  your  f ami ly  i n  Cuba, who was t a k i n g  

c a r e  of your  f ami ly?  

A My mother and my f a t h e r ,  b a s i c a l l y  t h e y ,  becaust 

I had e n t r u s t e d  them w i t h  t h a t .  

Q These are o t h e r  familymembers?  

A Y e s .  The rest of t h e  fami ly .  

Q You d i d n ' t  l e a v e - y o u r  w i f e  and k i d s  a l o n e ?  

A No. And b e s i d e s  t h a t ,  s h e  was l i v i n g  w i t h  
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h e r  p a r e n t s .  The on ly  t h i n g  t h a t  I asked my p a r e n t s  

was t h e  p a r t  t h a t  was up t o  m e ,  t h a t  t hey  h e l p  them, 

and whenever I cou ld  I would pay them back f o r  t h a t -  

Q Now, you i n d i c a t e d  t h a t  your a t t o r n e y  i n  M i a m i  

i n  1982 was J o s e  V i l l a  Lobos. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you have a  b u s i n e s s  c a r  from M r .  V i l l a  Lobos? 

A 1 d o n ' t  remember a t  t h i s  t ime.  

Q Did you have h i s  home number, s i r ?  

A No, j u s t  h i s  o f f i c e .  

Q T h i s  was i n  Miami; r i g h t ?  

A Y e s ,  i n  Miami. 

Q Around t h e  23rd o r  t h e  24th ,  when you came i n  

from N e w  York, it was l a t e  when you a r r i v e d ?  

A Y e s ,  sir. 

Q You have i n d i c a t e d  t h a t  you would do any th ing  

t o  h e l p  t h e  Cuban cause  a g a i n s t  Communism. Is t h e r e  a n  

American cause  a g a i n s t  Communism? 

A I d o n ' t  unders tand t h e  q u e s t i o n .  

Q Is  t h e  Cuban s t r u g g l e  a g a i n s t  Communism 

a n t a g o n i s t i c  t o  t h e  American cause  f o r  democracy? 

A I s t i l l  d o n ' t  unders tand  t h e  q u e s t i o n ,  

Q Do you r e s p e c t  t h e  laws of t h i s  coun t ry ,  s i r ?  

A Y e s ,  a l l  t h e  time. 

Q Bo you b e l i e v e  what t h i s  count ry  s t a n d s  f o r ,  
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Yes, sir .  

What does  t h i s  coun t ry  s t a n d  f o r ?  

Democracy. 

MR. FERNANDEZ: Thank you. I have no f u r t h e r  

q u e s t i o n s .  

RECROSS EXAMINATION 

BY MR. TABAK: 

Q You j u s t  t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  t h e  r e a s o n  why you 

came t o  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  i n  v i o l a t i o n  of t h e  Immigrat ion 

laws -- 

MR. AGUILAR: I am go ing  t o  o b j e c t .  M r .  Tabak 

i s  t e l l i n g  t h e  j u r y  t h a t  t h i s  w i t n e s s  v i o l a t e d  t h e  

Immigrat ion laws.  T h i s  man may have  l e g a l  s t a q u s  i n  

t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s .  W e  d o n ' t  know t h a t .  I t  has  never  

been shown t o  t h e  jury .  

THE COURT: I t h i n k  you have t o  go back one 

s t e p ,  M r .  Tabak. 

MR. TABAK: I w i l l  p h r a s e  t h e  q u e s t i o n  d i f f e r -  

e n t l y .  

Q You t e s t i f i e d  when you came t o  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  

t h e  r ea son  was because  you wanted t o  t r a i n  and go back t o  

t r a i n  and f i g h t  i n  Cuba. 

A Y e s ,  s i r .  

Q And I b e l i e v e  on d i r e c t  examinat ion you a l s o  
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t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  you were i n t e r e s t e d  i n  g e q t i n g  your w i f e  

and c h i l d r e n  h e r e  t o  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s .  

A I t  was t h e  normal p r a c t i c e ,  because  it was 

human. 

Q And t h a t  i s  why immedia te ly  upon your  a r r i v a l  

you v o l u n t e e r e d  t o  go t o  Vietnam? 

A A s  p a r t  of  obeying t h e  Nor th  American laws I 

h a d t o  d o  i t ,  y e s ,  s i r ,  because  whenever t h e  North American 

Government needed m e  I had t o  a c c e p t  tha t , -because  t h a t  i s  

t h e  way I f e l t  abou t  i t ,  and I s t i l l  f e e l  t h a t  way abou t  

it. I d o n ' t  c a r e  what t h e y  do. 

(Continued on t h e  n e x t  page.)  
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Q But you were n o t  a c i t i z e n ,  you j u s t  v o l u n t e e r e d :  

A Y e s  ,s ir ,  b e c a u s e  I b e l i e v e d  i n  t h i s  c o u n t r y ,  

and I s t i l l  b e l i e v e  i n  t h i s  c o u n t r y ,  and I have  been  

f i g h t i n g  a g a i n s t  t h e  Communists and wherever  Communism 

e x i s t s ,  i f  t h e y  a s k  f o r  my h e l p ,  e s p e c i a l l y  t h i s  c o u n t r y ,  

t h e y  w i l l  a lways  have  m e  r i g h t  t h e r e .  

Q You have  a l s o  j u s t  t e s t i f i e d  t h a t  you a lways  

have  obeyed t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s  law. 

A I have  been  showing it f o r  1 8  y e a r s  and I 

have  n e v e r  had  any problems w i t h  t h e  Uni ted  S t a t e s ,  e x c e p t  

t h e  s i t u a t i o n  which I have  r i g h t  now. 

Q I s n ' t  it a f a c t ,  however,  t h a t  a s  is  

r e f l e c t e d  by Government 's  E x h i b i t  202-T and by t h e  

t a p e ,  E x h i b i t  202, t h a t  i n  a c o n v e r s a t i o n  t h a t  you 

p l a c e d  t o  L a r r y  Wack on December 1 9 ,  1982,  you s a i d ,  

"I know i t ' s  d i f f i c u l t  b e c a u s e  I know I b r o k e  t h e  law 

i n  many p l a c e s  and ,  you know, I c a n ' t  do n o t h i n g  a b o u t  

i t ,  s o  I have  t o  k e e p  going.  I f  I -- I t o l d  you b e f o r e  

I d o n ' t  s o r r y ,  I d i d n ' t  s o r r y  a b o u t  t h a t ,  I d o n ' t  

18 
r e g r e t  -- 

Those w e r e  y o u r  words t o  Agent Wack? 

A T h a t  i s  what  you a r r a n g e d  on  t h e  t a p e s .  I deny 

e v e r y t h i n g  t h a t  you p u t  on t h o s e  t a p e s .  I d e n i e d  it 

b e f o r e ,  and  I am s t i l l  deny ing  i t  r i g h t  now, b e c a u s e  

you p r e p a r e d  them and you f i x e d  them u p  and you knaw v e r y  
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w e l l ,  and I don1 t c a r e  what  you b r i n g  h e r e .  You know t h a t  

you a r e  l y i n g  and t h a t  I am b e t t e r  t h a n  you a r e  because  

I a m  c l e a n e r  t h a n - y o u  a r e .  

MR. TABAX: I have no o t h e r  q u e s t i o n s  f o r  

t h i s  gentleman . 
THE COURT: M r .  Fernandez? 

MR. FERNANDEZ: No r e d i r e c t ,  your Honor. 

THE COURT: You may s t e p  down, M r .  Arocena. 

THE WITNESS: Thank you, your  Honor. 

C Witness excused)  

MR. FERNANDEZ: May w e  have j u s t  one second,  

your  Honor? 

THE COURT: Y e s .  

(Pause)  

MR. AGUILAR: On b e h a l f  o f  M r .  Arocena, w e  

rest.  

THE COURT: The defendant  r e s t s ?  

MR. AGUILAR: Y e s ,  your  Honor. 

MR. TABAK : Your Honor, t h e ,  government, on 

r e b u t t a l ,  d o e s n ' t  c a l l  any w i t n e s s e s  b u t  w e  a t  t h i s  t ime  

o f f e r  i n  ev idence  Government's E x h i b i t  325, which w a s  

v e r i f i e d  o r  i d e n t i f i e d  a t  page 1674 o f  t h e  t r a n s c r i p t  

by M r .  Necuze. T h i s  i s  t h e  coope ra t i on  agreement r e l a t i n g  

t o  M r .  Necuze, which w e  b e l i e v e  i s  admis s ib l e  because  h i s  

c r e d i b i l i t y  i s  a tbacked ,  and w e  c i te  among o t h e r  c a s e s  
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U n i t e d  S t a t e s  v.  Edwards, 6 3 1  F.2d, 1049,  a  1980 

Second C i r c u i t  c a s e .  

MR. AGUILAR: N o  o b j e c t i o n .  

THE COURT : Received.  

( Government 's  E x h i b i t  325 was 

r e c e i v e d  i n  e v i d e n c e .  ) 

MR. TABAK : I would l i k e  t o  r e a d  t h e  l a s t  

t w o  p a r a g r a p h s  o f  page 2 t o  t h e  j u r y ,  y o u r  Honor. 

MR.AGUILAR: W e  object t b  t h a t ,  y o u r  Honor. 

THE COURT: H e  can  r e a d  t h e  e n t i r e  document,  

i f  you i n s i s t ,  or t h e  t w o  p a r a g r a p h s  which h e  w i s h e s  t o  

r e a d ,  i f  you have  n o  o b j e c t i o n t o  t h a t .  

MR. AGUILAR: I t  would be t a k e n  c o m p l e t e l y  o u t  

of c o n t e x t ,  and I t h i n k  t h e  whole document s h o u l d  be 

r e a d .  

THE COURT: A l l  r i g h t ,  i f  you w i s h  t o  r e a d  t h e  

document,  which is  E x h i b i t  325 i n  evddence ,  ycumay do so.  

MR. TABAK: I w i l l  r e a d  the e n t i r e  document.  

. ( . . M r .  Tabak r e a d  t o  t h e  j u r y  from 

Government 's  E x h i b i t  325 i n  e v i d e n c e .  ) 

MR. TABAK: The government h a s  n o t h i n g  

f u r t h e r ,  y o u r  Honor. 

THE COURT: D o  b o t h  s i d e s  rest? 

MR. TABAK : Y e s ,  y o u r  Honor. 

MR. AGUILAR: Yes, y o u r  Honor. 
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